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Chairman’s Report  

My term of office as Chairman of Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust (FT) started on 1 April 2010 and this 
first year has been an exciting one to say the least. The Trust has seen a change in name, a growth in 
services and healthcare provision and dramatic changes for the NHS nationally. 
              
The first thing I should like to say is thank you to all of our staff and colleagues for their hard work 
throughout the past year. As well as delivering quality services to our patients, many staff were involved in 
the work to integrate with Community Health Oxfordshire (CHO). I am pleased to say that this hard work 
has been successful and from 1 April 2011, Oxford Health NHS FT became the provider of NHS community 
services across Oxfordshire. This integration and the preparation for it have already provided us with 
opportunities to review our ways of working and increase further our patient focus.  
 
Of course, we will continue to provide specialist mental health services across the five localities and we 
anticipate that the experience we will gain from working towards better integrated care for patients will 
provide learning we can share across all areas of the Trust. Mental healthcare is a crucial part of what we 
do and the fact that we successfully won the tender for Community Services is testament to how well we 
provide multi-disciplinary care across our mental health services. 
 
In the challenging economic climate, the integration will enable us to make economies of scale and look to 
make improvements across a number of areas to ensure that we provide high quality care to our patients in 
the most cost effective way. Over the last year we have already started to review the estate from which we 
provide our services to see how we can make better use of it, not only financially, but to support more 
joined up care for our patients. We have also been working across frontline and corporate services to 
review ways of working, thus releasing time to care and to reduce the amount of activities staff carry out 
which do not always add direct value to our patients. I am looking forward to this innovative approach 
continuing across all service areas over the coming year. 
 
Following a period of consultation with our stakeholders, we changed our name in February 2011. As a 
Foundation Trust we have the opportunity to tender for services outside our local region and we wanted a 
name that provided longevity no matter what our service portfolio is. The new name has given us the 
opportunity to encourage services to focus on their own local identities which we know are important to our 
patients and staff.  
 
As you will all be aware, the environment in which we work is constantly changing. The financial challenge 
facing the NHS is a difficult one and it is only with the support of our staff, partners and stakeholders that 
we will be able to meet this challenge. I am grateful for the support of our Members’ Council over the last 
year, who have offered constructive challenges to our Board, provided insight and feedback on behalf of 
our Members and worked with the Trust to set our future direction. I am pleased to take this opportunity to 
welcome new Board members to the Trust and I know that the Members’ Council will look forward to 
working with them.  
 
Finally I should like to thank everyone at Oxford Health NHS FT for making me feel so welcome over the 
last 12 months. I am looking forward to working with you all over the next year. 

           
Martin Howell 

Chairman 
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Chief Executive’s Report 
 
Welcome to the Oxford Health NHS FT Annual Report 2010-11. 
 
The Trust has had another busy year, not only providing mental health services to our patients across five 
localities, but also preparing for the integration of Community Health Oxfordshire. Staff across both 
organisations have worked extremely hard to ensure that we were ready to integrate on 1 April 2011. I would 
like personally to thank everyone for their commitment, hard work and enthusiasm throughout the year to 
make this happen with the minimum of disruption. 
 
In order to support the integration, the Trust has been engaging with staff, patients, service users, carers and 
partners via a number of stakeholder events as well as providing online mechanisms for people to give their 
views and feedback. It is important to us that we listen to your views and we have ensured that comments 
and concerns have been fed into planning for the integration. Areas that were highlighted through the 
engagement included the need for quick and easy access to services when a patient is in a crisis and care 
provided as close to home as possible. These are areas that we will focus on as we start to look at 
improvements we can make to both mental and physical health services over the coming year. We are also 
committed to engaging with all of our stakeholders to review and improve services across the Trust. 
 
2010-11 started on a positive note with the Trust receiving unconditional registration from the Care Quality 
Commission. This means that the standard of care and quality of services provided by Oxford Health NHS 
FT is high. 
 
During the summer, we held our Annual General Meeting and our Annual Review events. These provided an 
opportunity for us to update our patients, service users, carers and staff on the work we do and on our major 
capital development projects. Attendees at the Oxfordshire Annual Review event heard from young service 
users about progress with the Highfield redevelopment and how they had been involved in the planning for 
the work to rebuild the inpatient unit for young people. Over in Buckinghamshire, attendees at the event 
were able to find out more and ask questions about the Manor House redevelopment in Aylesbury and the 
plans to provide a modern, fit for purpose inpatient unit for adults and older adults with mental health needs. 
 
Throughout the year, one of the areas of focus for staff across the Trust and for our Board of Directors has 
been the achievement of Care Programme Approach (CPA) targets. CPA is an important means and an 
indicator to ensure that our service users are receiving the quality of care they should be; the four key 
elements of CPA are care planning, a named care coordinator, risk assessments and a regular care review. 
We met three of the four targets and the Trust is seeing continued improvements against all four areas of 
CPA. 
 
Finally I would like to take this opportunity to look forward to the challenges of the coming year. As you know 
the financial challenge facing the NHS is the most difficult it has ever been and the NHS climate is changing 
radically with proposed changes to commissioning and many other aspects of how we work. I am keen to 
ensure that as a Trust we work hard with our staff to ensure we are well equipped to face all of these 
challenges in a positive and proactive way through increased engagement with staff in the development of 
our strategy and plans for the future, working in new and innovative ways and supporting organisational 
development across the Trust. We must also ensure we focus on the needs and views of the people to 
whom we provide care, and of their GPs as we go about our everyday work and as we develop our plans. 
We recognise that good communication and good relationships are crucial in our work. 
 
I hope this report gives you an overview of our activity and performance through 2010-11. We will also be 
producing a shorter Annual Review which will be available on our website and at events. As always, we 
welcome your views and feedback, so please do get in touch if you would like to let us know your comments. 

 
Julie Waldron 
Chief Executive 
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Background Information 
 
This report provides summaries of the Trust’s activity and achievements for the year 2010-11. Oxford Health 
NHS FT was previously Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust (OBMH). 
The Trust formally changed its name in February 2010 following a period of consultation and formal approval 
from Monitor. 
 
On 23 February 2011, the Trust Constitution changed. This followed consultation with the Members’ Council 
and a recommendation from the Board. Monitor formally approved the change along with the name change 
for the Trust. More information about this can be found in the Members’ Council section of this report. 
 
OBMH was formed on 1 April 2006 after the two predecessor Trusts, Oxfordshire Mental Healthcare NHS 
Trust, and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Trust, merged under the name Oxfordshire & 
Buckinghamshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust. Oxfordshire Mental Healthcare NHS Trust had 
come into being in April 1994, and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Trust was established in April 2001.   
 
The Trust became Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust on 1 April 2008 
when we gained Foundation Trust status. 
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Directors’ Report 2010-11 
 
The Board of Directors during the year covered by this Annual Report consisted of: 
 
Executive Directors 

Julie Waldron, Chief Executive  
Graeme Armitage, Director of Human Resources  
Caroline Birch, Acting Director of Nursing and Clinical Governance – until 23 March 2011 
Ros Alstead, Director of Nursing and Clinical Standards – from 23 March 2011 
David Bradley, Chief Operating Officer  
Dr Mike Hobbs, Medical Director - until 31 March 2011 
Duncan Smith, Director of Finance – until 31 July 2010 
Gareth Kenworthy, Acting Director of Finance – from 1 August 2010 
Stephen Cass, Director of Strategy and Commercial Development – from 30 March 2011 
 
Non-Executive Directors 

Martin Howell, Chairman  
Mike Bellamy 
Professor Tom Burns 
Dr Anne Grocock 
Roger Reed 
Cedric Scroggs, Vice-Chair  
Elaine Whittaker – until 31 December 2010 
Lyn Williams  
 
Changes in the Board of Directors during the period:- 

Duncan Smith took up a secondment opportunity with Milton Keynes Hospital NHS Foundation Trust from 31 
July 2010 and having subsequently been offered a substantive post he formally resigned from the Trust on 
31 January 2011.  Gareth Kenworthy was appointed as the Acting Director of Finance from 1 August 2010 
and continues in that role whilst the post is being recruited to on a substantive basis. 
 
Elaine Whittaker resigned as a Non-Executive Director on 31 December 2010.  Alyson Coates, a new Non-
executive Director took up the post from 1 April 2011. 
 
Caroline Birch continued as the Acting Director of Nursing and Clinical Standards until 23 March 2011 whilst 
the post was being recruited to on a substantive basis.  Ros Alstead took up the substantive post of Director 
of Nursing and Clinical Standards from 23 March 2011. 
 
As part of the Trust’s Constitutional amendments, an additional Executive Director post was established.  
From 30 March 2011, Stephen Cass was appointed as the Director of Strategy and Commercial 
Development.  The appointment is until 31 December 2011. 
 
Dr Mike Hobbs retired as Medical Director on 31 March 2011.  A new Medical Director, Dr Clive Meux took 
up the substantive post from 1 April 2011. 
 
As Directors of the Trust, the Directors confirm that, as far as they are aware, there is no relevant information 
of which the auditors are unaware. Each Director has taken all of the steps that they ought to have taken as 
a Director in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant information and to establish that the 
auditors are aware of that information.  
 
The way the Trust is governed falls under the responsibility of the Trust Secretary, Justinian Habner.  
Importantly, the Trust Secretary provides advice and support to both the Members’ Council and the Board of 
Directors. 
 
The updated Register of Directors’ Interests is available from the Trust Secretary on request. 
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The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance 
The Board takes account of the Code with the main and supporting principles being reflected in the Trust’s 
relevant policies and procedures.  In particular, the Trust’s Constitution and Standing Orders are reviewed 
on an annual basis with the review taking account of the Code’s provisions.  The Trust Secretary advises the 
Board and Members’ Council on the main and supporting provisions of the Code. 
 
The Board considers that the Trust is fully compliant with the provisions of the Code in all but the 
appointment of a Senior Independent Director.  It was agreed with the Members’ Council that this was not 
appropriate for the Trust at this stage but the decision is kept under review. 
 
Board of Directors 
 
The role of the Board of Directors is to consider the strategic, managerial and performance issues facing the 
Trust.  Directors are accountable for meeting national standards, performance targets, and governance and 
financial targets. The Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day running of the organisation and 
implementing decisions taken at a strategic level by the Board of Directors. The Board reviews key risks 
regularly at the Audit Committee and the Integrated Governance Committee and monitors the actions being 
taken to mitigate risks. 
 
The Board of Directors meets monthly and meetings are held in private. At each meeting of the Members’ 
Council, a formal report on the Board of Directors’ activities is presented. 
 
The membership of the Board of Directors is balanced, complete and appropriate as demonstrated by the 
biographical details of Board members. The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee for Executive 
Directors, and Nominations and Remuneration Committee of the Members’ Council review the membership 
of the Board to ensure it remains well balanced and covers the full range of expertise required. 
 
The Trust considers all the Non-executive Directors to be independent in character and judgement, but it is 
noted that one of the Non-executive Directors, Professor Tom Burns, is an appointed representative of the 
University of Oxford’s Department of Psychiatry. 
 
The Board of Directors has assured itself of the robustness of its governance arrangements through its 
internal auditors and through work undertaken as part of the integration with CHO programme (part of the 
national Transforming Community Services programme), including consideration of due diligence reports. 
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Attendance at Board of Directors’ Meetings April 2010 - March 2011  
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Graeme 

Armitage 
X ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 

Ros Alstead N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A ���� 
Mike 

Bellamy 
X ���� ���� ���� X ���� X X ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� X 

Caroline 

Birch 
X ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� X X ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� N/A 

David 

Bradley 
���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 

Professor 

Tom Burns 
���� ���� X X ���� ���� X X ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 

Stephen 

Cass 
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A ���� 

Dr Anne 

Grocock 
X ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� X ���� ���� ���� ���� 

Dr Mike 

Hobbs 
���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� X ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 

Martin 

Howell 
���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� X ���� ���� ���� ���� 

Gareth 

Kenworthy 
N/A N/A N/A N/A ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 

Roger Reed ���� ���� X ���� ���� X ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� X ���� 
Cedric 

Scroggs 
���� ���� ���� X ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� X ���� 

Duncan 

Smith 
���� ���� ���� ���� N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Julie 

Waldron 
���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 

Elaine 

Whittaker 
���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� X ���� ���� ���� N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Lyn 

Williams 
X ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 

 

Key: Ext – Extraordinary meeting of the Board of Directors 
 N/A – not in post 
 
Term of Office and Termination 

The Chair and Non-executive Directors are appointed for a period of office as decided by the Members’ 
Council at a general meeting, following provisions set out in the Trust’s Constitution. 
 
Terms of office may be ended by resolution of the Members’ Council following the provisions and procedures 
laid down in the Trust’s Constitution. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 



10 
 

Period of Office 
 
Name Period of Office End Date 

Martin Howell 31/03/13 
Mike Bellamy 01/02/12 
Professor Tom Burns 31/10/11 
Dr Anne Grocock 31/01/12 
Roger Reed 30/04/13 
Cedric Scroggs 31/03/14* 
Lyn Williams 31/03/14* 
Elaine Whittaker 31/03/11* ~ 

 
* 

= re-appointed during 2010-11 by Members’ Council  
~ 

= resigned on 31/12/10 
Committees 
Information on committees, including attendance, can be found at Appendix 1. 
 
Biographies: Non-executive Directors 
 
Martin Howell (Chair) 

Martin has enjoyed a long career in the UK Steel Industry after completing a BSc in Chemistry at the 
University of Bristol. He retired in 2006 as director of Corus’s construction business. Martin was then 
installed as Master Cutler of the Company of Cutlers in 2008. 
 
Martin was appointed Chairman of Oxford Health NHS FT in 2010. Prior to this he was a Non-executive 
Director of NHS South Central Strategic Health Authority. As well as his work for the Trust, Martin is 
currently a Governor of Oxford Brookes University and a Board Member of Thames Valley Crime Stoppers. 
 
Mike Bellamy (Non-executive Director) 

Mike was appointed by the Members’ Council in February 2009. He worked in the NHS for 32 years 
including 18 years as a CEO. Since leaving the NHS Mike has carried out a variety of projects for 
organisations including the WHO, National Patient Safety Agency and the Healthcare Commission as well as 
working part time for the Cancer Action Team for the last five years. He has also previously served as a 
Non-executive Director of the Blood Services Authority and the Buckinghamshire Hospitals NHS Trust. He 
was on the Board of Bucks New University for ten years including three as deputy Chairman and joined the 
Board of Thames Valley University in late 2008. 
 
Professor Tom Burns CBE (Non-executive Director)  

Tom’s qualifications are from Cambridge University and Guy’s Hospital in London. His experience in 
psychiatry includes the pioneering of community based services in Scotland and England. He has published 
three books and his research interests are predominantly in community psychiatry. He is currently 
conducting a randomised trial of the new Community Treatment Order introduced just over a year ago. He 
was awarded the CBE in 2006 for services to mental health care. 
 
Tom was appointed Non-executive Director in 2007 and is the University of Oxford’s nomination. 
 
Dr Anne Grocock (Non-executive Director) 

Anne was appointed Non-executive Director in February 2008. She has an MA (BA) in Zoology, and a DPhil 
from Department of Agriculture, both University of Oxford. She is a Fellow of the Royal Society of Arts 
(FRSA). 
Anne retired as Assistant Registrar in the University of Oxford in February 2010. She is chair of the Nuffield 
Oxford Hospitals Fund. She is a member of the Standards Committee of the General Optical Council. She 
has held Non-executive posts on the Defence Storage Distribution Agency (MOD) Audit Committee and the 
Defence Estates (MOD) Audit Committee. Anne was previously Executive Director of the Royal Society of 
Medicine. 
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Councillor Roger Reed (Non-executive Director) 

Roger is a former Non-executive Director of Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Trust and was appointed 
to the Board of OBMH in 2006. He is an elected member of South Buckinghamshire District Council since 
1995 and is Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet. Roger was elected to the Buckinghamshire County 
Council in 2009. 
 
Cedric Scroggs (Non-executive Director) 

Cedric was a visiting Fellow of Nuffield College, Oxford and a marketing director in various industries. Cedric 
was formerly Chief Executive of Fisons plc, and a former Chairman of Montpellier Group PLC. He was 
former Acting Chair of Oxfordshire Mental Healthcare NHS Trust and former Chair of South East Oxfordshire 
Primary Care Trust. Cedric was appointed as Non-executive Director in 2006 and Vice-Chair of the Trust in 
2008. 
 
Elaine Whittaker (Non-executive Director) 

Elaine was appointed in October 2006. In her career she has held senior management roles in sales and 
marketing within several healthcare and business services organisations, including many years with Smiths 
Group plc. MBA qualified (Henley) and a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Marketing, Elaine brought broad 
commercial experience to the Board. 
 
Lyn Williams (Non-executive Director) 

Lyn was appointed in 2006. He has five years’ audit experience with constituent firms of Ernst & Young and 
PwC. He held various senior management positions in Finance, IT and Supply Chain for Unilever PLC. Lyn 
has a BA (Hons) in German and French from the University of Oxford and is a Chartered Accountant.  
 
Biographies: Executive Directors 
 
Julie Waldron (Chief Executive) 

Julie joined Oxfordshire Mental Healthcare NHS Trust as Chief Executive in 1999. This Trust then joined 
Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Trust in 2006 to form OBMH. Julie was Chief Executive of BMHT from 
2004.  
 
Julie has a BA (Hons) French from University of London and she completed the Senior Executive 
Programme at London Business School. She is former Director of Commissioning for Brent and Harrow 
Health Authority and was Director of Operations at the Whittington Hospital and the Reconfiguration Director 
for Mental Health Services in North West London, East London and City and North East London. 
 
Graeme Armitage (Director of Human Resources & Organisational Development) 

Graeme is a Chartered Member of CIPD and has a BTEC National Diploma in Business Studies. He has 
previously been Deputy Director of Human Resources for East Surrey Primary Care Trust and Deputy 
Director of HR/Training and Development for Surrey Heartlands NHS Trust.  
 
Graeme joined Oxfordshire Mental Healthcare Trust in November 2005. 
 

Caroline Birch (Acting Director of Nursing & Clinical Governance) 

Caroline has worked in the Trust and its predecessor organisations since 1978, starting her career as a 
Nursing Assistant on an Older Adult ward. The majority of her nursing career has been spent as Community 
Psychiatric Nurse before working in senior management positions. Caroline held the position as Acting 
Director from November 2008 until March 2011.  
 
Caroline is a Registered Mental Health Nurse with an MSc in Professional Practice. She has gained the 
Community Practice Teachers’ Certificate (Part 1&2). 
 
David Bradley (Chief Operating Officer) 

David was the former Director of Operations in Oxfordshire Mental Healthcare NHS Trust and also held 
senior executive management positions in Trusts across London and Surrey. David has 20 years of 
experience in leading transformational change in the NHS and Social Care.  
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He has an MBA from Henley Management College (2000), a BA (Hons) in Public  
Administration (1988) and Diploma in Health Service Management (1991). He has recently completed a High 
Potential Leaders development programme run by South Central Strategic Health Authority and is a 
participant on the national Top Leaders’ programme. 
 

Dr Mike Hobbs (Medical Director) 

Mike joined the former Mental Health Trust in Oxfordshire in 1985. Mike’s qualifications are MA, MB, BChir 
(University of Cambridge), MSc in Psychotherapy (University of London), MA, Diploma in Cognitive Therapy 
(University of Oxford) and FRC Psych (Royal College of Psychiatrists). 
 
His experience includes; Consultant Psychiatrist in Psychotherapy, Clinical Director for Specialist Services 
and Honorary Senior Clinical Lecturer at the University of Oxford. Mike was the former Medical Director for 
both Oxfordshire Mental Healthcare NHS Trust and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Trust. 
 
Duncan Smith (Director of Finance) 
Duncan joined Oxfordshire Mental Healthcare NHS Trust in February 2001. He is a Fellow of the Association 
of Certified Accountants and his experience includes turn-round, business case development, Health Act 
flexibilities, investment appraisal, major service change delivery, project management, and risk 
management. He had executive lead for Information Management and Technology (IM&T), health records 
and procurement. 
 
Duncan has been a professional accountant and financial adviser to the Board of Trusts in Bath & West, 
West Dorset, and Walsall. 
 
Ros Alstead (Director of Nursing and Clinical Standards) 
Ros has worked in the NHS for 33 years after graduating from London University and St George’s Hospital 
with a degree in nursing. She has experience as a nurse in both inpatient and community settings before 
becoming a general manager. Ros has a number of years’ experience at Director level including Director of 
Mental Health at Tower Hamlets and Aylesbury Vale, Director of Nursing/ Quality/ Operations at Birmingham 
& Solihull Mental Health NHS FT and most recently as Director of Quality Performance, Nursing and Social 
Care at 2gether FT.  
 
Ros is currently the Chair of the National Mental Health Nurse Directors and Leads Forum. She has been 
involved in work with the Richardson Committee reforming the Mental Health Act and was also the NHS 
Panel Member on the Kerr Haslam inquiry. Ros has also co-authored the West Midlands Mental Health 
Darzi Report. 
 
Gareth Kenworthy (Acting Director of Finance) 
Gareth has been Acting Director of Finance since the end of July 2010 having been the substantive Deputy 
Director of Finance for the Trust since July 2007. Gareth graduated from the NHS National Finance 
Management Graduate Training Scheme in 2000 as a CIPFA qualified accountant having gained experience 
in acute, mental health and commissioning sectors. On graduation from the scheme he joined the Trust’s 
predecessor, Oxfordshire Mental Healthcare NHS Trust and had key roles during the merger by acquisition 
of  Buckinghamshire Mental Healthcare NHS Trust, financial turnaround, implementation of s75 agreements 
and the progression to FT status.  Prior to taking on the Deputy Director of Finance role, Gareth was the 
Head of Performance and Contracts providing wide experience of organisational performance and major 
contract negotiation. 
 
Stephen Cass (Director of Strategy and Commercial Development) 
Stephen has 12 years experience at Board level including as Chief Executive Officer of Worthing & 
Southlands Hospitals NHS Trust. His director experience covers Director of Finance and Performance at the 
same Trust as well as Chief Operating Officer for South London Healthcare NHS Trust. 
 
Stephen is a Chartered Accountant and he graduated for the University of Kent with a BA (Hons) in 
Management Science.  
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Members’ Council 
 
The Trust’s Members’ Council plays a central role in the governance of the Trust. The main duties of the 
Members’ Council are to: 

• appoint/remove the Chair of the Trust and Non-executive Directors; 
• decide on the remuneration and Terms & Conditions of the Chair and Non-executive Directors; 
• approve the appointment of the Chief Executive; 
• appoint/remove the auditor; 
• be consulted in the setting of the Trust’s forward business plans and any significant changes to 

services provided; and 
• receive and approve the Annual Report, Annual Accounts and any Auditor’s report on them. 

 
The Trust’s Members’ Council is made up of Governors elected by our Foundation Trust members and 
appointed by partner organisations. 
 
This table shows which Governors sat on the Members’ Council for the fiscal year 2010-11, by constituency 
and tenure. 
 
First Name Surname Governor Constituency Tenure 
Mike Alexander Public: Oxfordshire 3 years from 01 Feb 2008 
Jane Amies Carer: Oxfordshire 3 years from 01 Feb 2008 
Carol Bannister Staff: Corporate Services 1.5 years from 5 Oct 2009 
Meg Barbour Public: Oxfordshire 3 years from 1 Apr 2009 
Stephen Bell Staff: Adult Services 3 years from 1 Feb 2008 
Julia Besooijen Service Users: Oxfordshire 3 years from 1 Apr 2009 
Patricia Birchley Appointed: Bucks County Council 3 years from 1 Feb 2008 
Martin Phillips Appointed: Bucks County Council 3 years from 1 Nov 2010 
Jacqueline Bourton Service Users: Oxfordshire 2 years from 1 Feb 2009 
Chris Brearley Carer: Buckinghamshire 3 years from 1 Feb 2008 
Paul Cann Appointed: Age UK Oxfordshire 3 years from 21 May 2010 
Jayne Champion Service Users: Oxfordshire 3 years from 1 Apr 2010 
Maureen Cundell Staff: Older Adult Services 3 years 1 Apr 2009 
Pauline Fair Service Users: Buckinghamshire 3 years from 1 Apr 2009 
Arash Fatemian Appointed: Oxon County Council 3 years from 10 Jun 2010 
Jim Couchman Appointed: Oxon County Council 3 years from 1 Feb 2008 
Andrew Friend Service Users: Oxfordshire 3 years from 1 Apr 2009 
David Geaney Staff: Adult Services 3 years from 1 Apr 2009 
Stewart George Appointed: Bucks PCT 3 years from 1 Feb 2008 
Mark Hancock Staff: Forensic Services 3 years from 1 Feb 2008 
Jeanette Hocking Service Users: Buckinghamshire 3 years from 1 Feb 2008 
Ian Jones Carers: Buckinghamshire 1.7 years from 1 Oct 2009 
Fiona Lomas Service Users: Buckinghamshire 3 years from 1 May 2010 
Heather Mintern Public: Buckinghamshire 3 years from 1 May 2010 
Anthony Monaco Appointed: University of Oxford 3 years from 1 Feb 2008 
Dana Scott Public: Buckinghamshire 3 years from 1 May 2009 
Pauline Scully Staff: CAMHS and Specialist Services 3 years from 1 Apr 2010 
Jackie Thomas Staff: Older Adult Services 3 years from 1 Apr 2010 
Liz Turvey Carers: Oxfordshire 3 years from 1 May 2010 
Alan Webb Appointed: Oxon PCT 3 years from 1 Feb 2008 
Graham Whitwell Staff: Adult Services 3 years from 1 Apr 2010 
 
The Members’ Council meets quarterly in locations across both Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire, which 
are also open to the public.   
 
Attendance at the Members’ Council meetings, was as follows: 
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Governors 

First Name Surname Apr 2010 Jul 2010 Sep 2010 Nov 2010 Feb 2011 
Mike Alexander X X ���� ���� X 
Jane Amies ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 
Carol Bannister X ���� ���� ���� ���� 
Meg Barbour ���� ���� X ���� X 
Stephen Bell X X ���� ���� ���� 
Julia Besooijen ���� X ���� ���� ���� 
Patricia Birchley X ���� X   
Jacqueline Bourton ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 
Chris Brearley ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 
Paul Cann  X ���� ���� X 
Jayne Champion X ���� X X X 
Jim Couchman X     
Maureen Cundell ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 
Pauline Fair ���� ���� ���� X ���� 
Arash Fatemian  X ���� X X 
Andrew Friend X X X X X 
David Geaney X X ���� ���� ���� 
Stewart George ���� ���� X ���� ���� 
Mark Hancock ���� ���� ���� X ���� 
Jeanette Hocking X X X X X 
Ian Jones ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 
Fiona Lomas X ���� X ���� X 
Heather Mintern X X ���� X ���� 
Antony Monaco X X X X X 
Martin Phillips    ���� ���� 
Dana Scott ���� ���� X X X 
Pauline Scully X ���� X ���� X 
Jackie Thomas X ���� ���� ���� X 
Liz Turvey X ���� ���� X ���� 
Alan Webb ���� ���� X X ���� 
Graham Whitwell ���� ���� X X X 

 

Directors (Executive & Non-executive) 

First Name Surname Apr 2010 Jul 2010 Sep 2010 Nov 2010 Feb 2011 
Graeme Armitage X ���� ���� ���� ���� 
Mike Bellamy ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 
Caroline Birch ���� ���� X X X 
David Bradley X ���� X ���� ���� 
Tom Burns ���� X X X X 
Anne Grocock X ���� ���� ���� ���� 
Mike Hobbs ���� ���� ���� X ���� 
Martin Howell ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 
Gareth Kenworthy   ���� ���� ���� 
Roger Reed ���� ���� X X X 
Cedric Scroggs X ���� ���� ���� ���� 
Duncan Smith ���� ����    
Julie Waldron ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� 
Elaine Whittaker ���� ���� X X  
Lyn Williams ���� ���� X ���� ���� 
 
In February 2011, the Independent Regulator formally approved amendments to the Trust Constitution.  
Changes were made to the Membership Constituencies and corresponding Governor representation, which 
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included the creation of new membership categories as part of the CHO integration programme.  The 
changes came into effect on 23 February 2011 and the overall number of Governors increased from 31 to 
35. 

 

 

MEMBERSHIP CONSTITUENCIES AND GOVERNOR REPRESENTATION – from 23 February 2011 

Elected governors 

Constituency Class  No of governors 

Public  Buckinghamshire 4 

Oxfordshire 7 

 Rest of England & Wales 1 

Patient Service Users (Mental Health)  3 

Patients (Community Services) 1 

Carers 3 

Staff Specialist Secondary Mental 
Health (all disciplines) 

3 

Integrated Community Services 
(all disciplines) 

3 

Children, Young People & Families 
(all disciplines) 

1 

Specialist & Forensic Services (all 
disciplines) 

1 

Corporate Services (all disciplines) 1 

Sub total elected  28 

Appointed governors 

Oxfordshire PCT 1 

Buckinghamshire PCT 1 

Oxfordshire County Council 1 

Buckinghamshire County Council 1 

University of Oxford  1 

Voluntary / Community Organisations 

- Mind (The National Association for Mental 
Health) 

- Age UK Oxfordshire 

 

1 

1 

Sub total appointed 7 

  

Total number of governors 35 

 
As a consequence of the new changes to Membership Constituencies and Governor representation, the 
election process for new Governors commenced in March 2011.  The reformed Members’ Council will meet 
for the first time in early 2011-12. 
The working relationship between the Members’ Council and the Board of Directors continues to grow and 
develop.  Both Executive and Non-executive Directors regularly attend meetings of the Members’ Council 
to represent items on request and answer questions.  At each meeting of the Members’ Council a Non-
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executive Director has provided a report on the Board’s activities and decisions taken.  A similar report on 
Council business is presented to the Board of Directors following each Members’ Council meeting. 
In 2009-10, the Members’ Council appointed Chris Brearley as Lead Governor and he continued in this role 
during 2010-11.  In addition to the Lead Governor role set out in the Code, Chris Brearley worked with the 
Chair to plan meetings and the business of the Members’ Council.  
 
Details of elections held during the year along with information on the Trust membership can be found at 
Appendix 2. 
 
The updated Register of Governors’ Interests is available from the Trust Secretary, Justinian Habner, on 
request. 
 
 
How the services are provided and managed falls under the responsibility of the Chief Operating Officer, 
David Bradley. 
 

New Services 
Think child, think parent, think family. 
Oxford Health appointed a Think Family Champion who commenced in post on 1st April 2011. The ‘Think 
Family’ initiative has been developed in partnership with Oxfordshire County Council and NHS Oxfordshire in 
order to develop new solutions to improve outcomes for parents with mental health problems and their 
families. The Think Family champion will lead through a multiagency approach, with senior level 
commitment, the development and implementation of a ‘think family' strategy which reflects the needs of 
families in Oxfordshire. Training and development will also be developed  to include a ‘think family’ 
perspective with joint training for staff in adult mental health and children's services to support staff to work 
with family issues and family needs in relation to service users with mental ill health. 
 
Self Directed Support 
Self Directed Support (SDS) assists and empowers service users with social care needs to create 
personalised and potentially very flexible packages of care that fit with their own personal preferences and 
needs. It ensures that people are aware of the funding available for their support and gives the individual 
more choice and control over the ways in which care is delivered. The initiative is part of the overall 
personalisation agenda which is transforming adult social care services.   
 
During 2010-11 both counties have ensured that any new service user with eligible social care needs is 
offered an individual budget to enable them to meet their needs, and the process of implementing this for 
people with an existing package of care has begun for both adults of working age and older adults.  In 
excess of 300 people with mental health problems have now been offered a personal budget with numbers 
increasing by the day. 
 
Further work is taking place to improve the support given to people when they decide on their plans for their 
care. The mechanisms and support needed to enable people to manage their money will be the focus of 
future work. 
 
Swindon, Wiltshire, BaNES CAMHS 
In 2009 the Trust bid for a contract to deliver Swindon, Wiltshire and Bath and North East Somerset 
(BaNES) Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), which includes young people requiring 
community or inpatient services and those with a learning disability. The bid was successful and in 
partnership with the Ridgeway Partnership (Oxfordshire Learning Disability NHS Trust), Oxford Health NHS 
FT was awarded the contract from April 2010.  
 
In April, over 165 staff were successfully transferred into the Trust and in the following months senior 
clinical staff were appointed into lead posts. The Trust embarked on wide consultation with partner 
agencies across Swindon, Wiltshire and BaNES to agree the new service model and partnership 
arrangements. In October a staff away day was attended by 170 staff, young people and ‘Off the Record’, a 
voluntary organisation contracted by the Trust to support young people’s participation on behalf of the 
service. This was followed by a series of well attended stakeholder launch events in the localities. In 
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January 2011 the full out of hours service became operational with a range of staff available for the first 
time in this area.  
 
The Trust is continuing to promote and embed the new service model with children, young people, families 
and a wide range of partners to ensure young people are able to access all elements of the service as and 
when they need to.     
 
Forensic CAMHS 
In March 2004 a regional Forensic CAMHS Service was established in Oxfordshire  to work with young 
people under 18 years of age who are in contact with the criminal justice system, or presenting a serious 
risk of harm to others within Oxfordshire, Buckinghamshire, Milton Keynes and Berkshire. These young 
people have high rates of mental health problems and have traditionally not accessed core child and 
adolescent mental health services. 
 
The Forensic CAMHS team provides specialist child and adolescent mental health expertise to a number of 
institutions and professional networks working with young people who are involved in the criminal justice 
system. Building on the success of the Forensic CAMHS Service in this area it was agreed with the 
Department of Health (DH) Offender Health team to develop a similar two year pilot service to cover the 
rest of the South Central regions. Oxford Health NHS FT was approached to host the service in order to 
provide consistency of provision across both areas. The service started in April 2010 in partnership with 
local providers and a well received regional stakeholder event took place in November 2010 with excellent 
attendance and nationally recognised keynote speakers.  
 
Child and Adolescent Harmful Behaviour Service (CAHBS) 
Within Oxfordshire, the Child and Adolescent Harmful Behaviour Service has been developed to work with 
children and young people with sexually harmful behaviour. The team functions as a part of a whole system 
approach to working with this group of children and young people. CAHBS coordinates services to ensure 
that the young person’s needs are assessed and met appropriately. The service offers specialist 
assessment, intervention, quality assurance of assessments undertaken in other agencies and supervision/ 
consultation for other services. The innovative model has attracted DH funding for evaluation which is 
currently being undertaken.   
 
Healthy Minds Buckinghamshire 
Healthy Minds, the Buckinghamshire Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) service, joined 
the Trust in April 2010. At that time there was a large predicted overspend and around 500 patients on the 
Step 3 waiting list.   
 
Through a reduction of administrative bases from three to one, and restructuring the management team 
and non clinical expenditure, the service was delivered within budget and performance has been improved. 
The Step 3 waiting list is now less than 200 with the average length of time for those waiting being two 
months. There is a thriving user involvement group which has been involved in service planning. The 
website was reviewed as part of the Communication Strategy Group’s work and there was a very 
successful service user workshop. Service users also offer an ongoing support group to promote recovery. 
Members of staff from Healthy Minds have been involved in Continual Professional Development (CPD) 
sessions reaching large numbers of GPs and GP trainees. The service is involved in piloting treatment for 
insomnia and this has proved successful with older people, many of whom have long term conditions.  
 
The priorities for 2011-12 are to increase take up of the service by older people, those with long term 
conditions and those from Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) cultures. We will also be expanding the 
therapies delivered to include Interpersonal Psychotherapy (IPT) and continue to reduce waiting lists. 
 
Innovations and Initiatives 
Video Conferencing 
The introduction of video conferencing equipment has meant that meetings can take place between internal 
departments within and across the Trust without the necessity for people to  meet physically together.  
Meetings can be arranged quickly and conveniently.  This has already started to reduce the time and 
expense associated with avoidable travel. 
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Productive Mental Health Wards 
The Productive Mental Health Ward empowers staff to challenge the processes that they use in their daily 
practice to bring about change to release more time for direct patient care. It does this by offering teams a 
systematic way of thinking about their work and planning new processes to deliver safe, high quality care. 
During 2010-11 the programme continued to roll out across the Trust with all five inpatient wards in 
Buckinghamshire commencing the programme in January 2011.  Further details on the Productive Ward 
initiative are included within the Quality Account.   
 
Productive Community 
Three showcase Buckinghamshire community teams started the Productive Community Programme in 
November 2010. Two have almost completed the Well Organised Working Environment module (WOWE) 
and improvements to date include reduced time spent looking for resources.  Another ward has 
commenced the Knowing How We are Doing Module (KHWD).  
 
The Productive Community Programme was launched to the eight Oxfordshire teams at their away days in 
June 2010. Teams have chosen whether they wish to start with the WOWE or KHWD module. 

Six team leaders have completed the SHA funded training and one additional team leader has registered 
for a National Vocational Qualification (NVQ) in Business Improvement Techniques. 

In 2011-12 it is planned to roll the programme out in the remaining six Buckinghamshire teams. 

HoNOS PbR (Health of the Nation Outcomes Score - Payment by Result) 

HoNOS PbR is a system of clinical outcome measures. Its use continued across Oxfordshire and 
Buckinghamshire adults and older adult teams during 2010-11. A training programme was rolled out for all 
qualified staff during the year to enable them to allocate their service users to one of the 21 Payment by 
Results (PbR) clusters, using the Mental Health Clustering Tool (MHCT).   
 
Bighand Digital Dictation 
In 2010-11 a digital dictation system was rolled out in the Buckinghamshire community teams.  This allows 
for dictations to be made and submitted for transcription via digitally compressed sound files.  Work can 
easily be tracked and moved between administrative staff if necessary to even out workloads and this 
supports all teams with their administration support by allowing flexibility and cover. A project commenced 
in April 2011 to look at digital solutions for the Oxfordshire teams. 
 
Early Intervention Service (EIS) Carers Website 
The team continued its extensive and pro-active promotional work throughout the year, including the 
development of a carers’ website, ‘Are-They-OK’. The website focuses on giving information on early 
recognition of symptoms.  Visit www.are-they-ok.co.uk to find out more. This website development follows 
on from the success of www.am-i-ok.co.uk which is aimed at providing and support to young people. 
 
Review of Transport Bookings 
The current non-emergency patient transport service is not diverse or flexible enough to meet the needs of 
the Trust and the population which the Trust serves, so a new model of transport is now required. A 
centralised booking system of non-emergency patient transport within the Mental Health Division which has 
been successful in Buckinghamshire is now out to tender for patient transport services within Oxfordshire. It 
is hoped that this process will address the current issues of being too reliant on taxis and the current patient 
transport services not being utilised to their full potential. Whilst the tender process is being established the 
division are also exploring the feasibility of bringing this service in house to give added value and greater 
flexibility.   
 
External Awards and Recognition 
The Trust received the RoSPA Gold Award for occupational health for the fifth year running. The Royal 
Society for the Prevention of Accidents recognises good health and safety practice and management 
systems through this award. 
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Sandford Ward at the Fulbrook Centre was successfully selected as one of 17 wards across South Central 
to participate in the Closing the Gap Fallsafe Project. The national project, driven by the Royal College of 
Physicians, aims to reduce the number of preventable falls in wards. 

Steve Bell, Team Manager of the Early Interventions Service in Buckinghamshire, won the Tony Adams 
Award for outstanding work in the community, supporting people with mental health issues through football. 
Steve helps to run Aylesbury Academicals, a football team for past and present mental health service 
users. 

Professor John Geddes and Professor Keith Hawton were both shortlisted for the Psychiatric Academic of 
the Year Award from the Royal College of Psychiatrists.  

The New Oxford Textbook of Psychiatry, which Professor John Geddes co-authored, won the Psychiatry 
category of the British Medical Journals 2010 Medical Book Awards. The Award was announced on 14 
September 2010 at BMA House. 

Buckinghamshire’s Early Intervention Service was shortlisted in the Mental Health and Wellbeing Category 
of the Health and Social Care Awards. 

North West Oxfordshire Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service was shortlisted for the Child Health 
Category of the 2010 Nursing Times Awards for their anger management group which helped young people 
use Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) to address their anger problems. 

Coasters received a donation of £1750 from the Churchill Memorial Concerts Trust towards the work that 
they do with mental health service users and physical activities. 

A partnership project between the Trust, NHS Oxfordshire and Oxfordshire County Council won the NHS 
South Central Health and Social Care Support for Independence Award. The Integrated Commissioning 
Team had developed a clear pathway from acute inpatient mental health care to full independence. 

Simon Burns, Minister of State for Health, gave high praise to the True Colours Project in his speech at a 
conference on 1 February 2011. True Colours provides an easy way for people with bipolar disorder to 
complete weekly mood monitoring via text message or email. The results are promptly made available to 
themselves and their clinicians. 

Estates Developments 
The patient environment plays an important role in aiding recovery and creating wellbeing and therefore it is 
essential that the Trust maintains its current buildings to the highest possible standard, as well as investing 
in new patient facilities, areas and hospitals. 
 
During 2010-11 the Trust spent over £3m on improving its current buildings and facilities across 
Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire.  Two new planned capital build projects; the Highfield Adolescent Unit in 
Oxford and the Manor House redevelopment in Aylesbury represent more than £50m worth of investment 
over the next three years. 
 
The new Highfield Adolescent Unit will be located near to the current facilities on the Warneford Hospital 
site.  Once constructed, the existing Highfield Unit will be demolished and the area landscaped as part of 
the approved Planning Consent.  Building work for the new Unit will start during the summer of 2011, after 
being given final permission to proceed early in the new financial year. The £11m investment will provide 
an 18-bed inpatient ward along with educational and recreational space for the young people of Oxfordshire 
and beyond.  
 
The old Manor House Hospital main buildings in Aylesbury have already been demolished to make way for 
new facilities.  Over the past 12 months further amendments have been made to the final design, including 
increased floor space to incorporate more community based services, an Acute Day Hospital and 
outpatient suite as well as the 80-bed inpatient unit.  The total budget increased to £43m to reflect these 
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changes.  Key staff and stakeholders have been integral to the overall design by contributing their views. 
Building work is anticipated to start in early 2012.  
 
Carrying out building work in any hospital environment poses challenges, none more so than within a 
working mental health unit.  Working in an occupied patient area needs careful consideration and particular 
project management skills, not only to minimise patient and staff risk but to also have the specialist 
knowledge required for selecting materials, fixtures and fittings that would be appropriate for a demanding 
mental health environment.   
 
The Trust works with various partners in the building industry and as of April last year, set up the 
Construction Services Integrated Framework.  This Framework involves the Trust and its preferred partners 
in construction, architecture, quantity surveyors, building surveyors and construction design management 
coordinators.  The bespoke framework was procured over a 12 month period via the European OJEU 
process.  The new Framework offers ongoing value to the Trust, not only in terms of cost and delivery but 
by also ensuring the right level of expertise is available when carrying out important refurbishments and 
new builds in clinical areas.  
 
Sustainability 
Energy and Sustainability 

Continuing the partnership established in 2009 Oxford Health NHS FT has been working with the Carbon 
Trust to reduce its carbon emissions.  Early in 2010 the Carbon Trust approved the Trust’s five year carbon 
reduction plan, as a contribution to the NHS Carbon Reduction Programme.  The NHS programme follows 
national drivers introduced by government as part of a strategy to achieve a sustainable environment and 
meet climate change targets agreed under the Kyoto Protocol.  
  
Staff engagement and awareness have been the focus of the first year supported by the creation of a 
dedicated web portal which gives access to promotional material and information and provides a forum to 
share ideas and promote good practice.  
 
The monitoring of energy usage has been improved by the introduction of a specialist software system 
designed to record and report energy consumption.  This enables carbon emissions to be benchmarked and 
has improved the way Oxford Health NHS FT is able to monitor progress against the baseline agreed in the 
2008 calendar year.  
 

Summary of performance 

 

Area  Non-

financial 

data 

Non-

financial 

data 

Non-

financial 

data 

 Financial 

data (£) 

cost 

Financial 

data (£) 

cost 

Financial 

data (£) 

cost 

  2008/09 2009/10 2010/11  2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 

Waste 
minimisation 
and 
management 

Absolute 
values for 
total 
amount of 
waste 
produced 
by the trust 

594 tonnes 
landfill 
 
103 tonnes 
clinical 
waste 

646 tonnes 
landfill 
 
89 tonnes 
clinical 
waste 

629 tonnes 
landfill 
 
89 tonnes 
clinical 
waste 

Expenditure 
on waste 
disposal 
(excluding 
recycling). 

162,207 104,503 113,222 

Finite 
resources 

Water 
 
Electricity 
 
Gas 

57,425 m3 

 

5,464,579K
Wh 
 
 
13,537,544 
KWh 

57226 m3 
 
4,377,613 
KWh 
 
 
10,302,409 
KWh 

34052m3 

 
4,547,340 
KWh 
 
14,266,200 
KWh 
 

Water 
 
Electricity 
 
Gas 
 

118,033 
 
544,195 
 
481,682 

198,081 
 
587,474 
 
570,931 

143,687 
 
579,639 
 
476,304 
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Energy 
Improved monitoring capability will enable close scrutiny of energy usage and performance against reduction 
targets.  Future ‘spend to save’ investment proposals will be guided by targeting poor performance following 
a three phase strategy to: 
   

• Reduce energy wastage 
• Introduce high efficiency technologies as part of estate redevelopment 
• Improve the control of energy usage related to heat, light and power consumption. 

 
Electrical consumptions have been lowered at the Trust’s two main campus sites in Oxford following the 
installation of voltage optimisation equipment.  At the Littlemore site consumption has reduced by 11% and 
at Warneford by 7%. The effect of these installations reduces carbon emissions by 113 tonnes. 
 
Estates 

The major capital investment projects to redevelop the Manor House Hospital and replace the Highfield Unit 
at the Warneford site are both set for completion during the plan’s time frame.  The designs for these 
projects utilise the latest technologies for lowering carbon emissions by reduced energy usage.  
 
Travel 

Oxford Health NHS FT has prepared a travel options plan and will implement this in line with an emerging 
Estate Strategy and proposed developments of its major sites.  Investment is planned to control the use of 
vehicles at major sites. This will reduce car usage and promote the use of alternative means of transport. 
 

 
The quality of care the Trust delivers to patients depends on the hard work and commitment of its staff. How 
staff are managed, recognised, trained and developed is the responsibility of the Director of Human 
Resources, Graeme Armitage.  
 
Staff Survey 
Oxford Health NHS FT uses the staff survey to determine areas to focus on using year on year results to 
monitor improvements and identify areas where staff are less satisfied.  In light of feedback received from 
last year’s survey the Trust is improving the Personal Development Review (PDR) system, making it easier 
to use and less onerous for managers and staff.  Extra resource has been identified to focus on team 
working. A number of teams have taken the opportunity to hold away days to focus on how their team can 
work more effectively together.  Initial feedback has been extremely positive. Communication is an area 
which staff highlighted as needing improvement. Over the last year the Trust has implemented a monthly 
manager cascade to share key messages with managers across all areas of the Trust. Managers are then 
asked to share this information in a number of formats (electronic, hard copy and face to face) with their 
teams. The format of the weekly staff update has also been changed based on feedback from staff to 
ensure it is more user friendly and informative. The Communications and Involvement team carried out 
training sessions with ward and community team managers to support improved communications. 
 
In addition there are Staff Partnership Negotiation Consultation Committee (SPNCC) formal and informal 
meetings, and the Trust engages with staff on significant changes. 
 
The sample response rate to the annual staff survey from the Trust was 56%, which is a reduction of 8% 
from last year. 
 
 2009/2010 2010/2011 Trust 

Improvement/Deterioration 

Response 
Rate 

Trust National 
Average 

Trust National 
Average 

 

 64% 53% 56% 54% 8% deterioration 
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 2009/2010  2010/2011 

Top 4 ranking 
scores 

Trust National 
Average 

Top 4 ranking 
scores 

Trust National 
Average 

% of staff having 
equality & diversity 
training in last 12 
months 

67% 42% % of staff witnessing 
potentially harmful 
errors, near misses 
or incidents 

25% 28% 

% of staff receiving 
health & safety 
training in last 12 
months 

85% 75% Effective team 
working 

3.82 3.80 

% of staff believing 
trust provides equal 
opportunities for 
career progression 
or promotion 

91% 90% % of staff 
experiencing physical 
violence from 
patients relatives or 
public in last 12 
months 

13% 14% 

% of staff suffering 
work related stress 
in last 12 months 

27% 30% % of staff suffering 
work related injury in 
last 12 months 

7% 8% 

 
 2009/2010  2010/2011 

Bottom 4 ranking 
scores 

Trust National 
Average 

Bottom 4 ranking 
scores 

Trust National 
Average 

% of staff working in 
a well structured 
team environment 

35% 41% % of staff suffering 
from work related 
stress in last 12 
months 

37% 31% 

% of staff saying 
hand washing 
materials are always 
available 

50% 59% % of staff saying 
hand washing 
materials are always 
available 

42% 58% 

% of staff reporting 
good communication 
between senior 
management and 
staff 

24% 29% % of staff 
experiencing 
harassment, bullying 
or abuse from 
patients, relatives or 
the public in last 12 
months 

22% 18% 

% of staff having 
well structured 
appraisals in last 12 
months 

29% 37% Support from 
immediate managers 

3.70 3.80 

 
 
Areas of improvement and deterioration 
 
Key findings where the Trust has improved since 2009: 

 
• Percentage of staff witnessing potentially harmful errors, near misses or incidents in the last month 
• Percentage of staff appraised in the last 12 months  
• Fairness and effectiveness of incident reporting procedures 

 
Key findings where the Trust has deteriorated since 2009: 
 

• Percentage of staff suffering work-related stress in the last 12 months 
• Percentage of staff able to contribute towards improvements at work 
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• Percentage of staff having equality and diversity training in the last 12 months 
• Impact of health and well being on ability to perform work or daily activities 

 
Future Strategy 
From initial analysis of the survey it is clear that staff engagement requires considerable focus. Three out of 
the four lowest ranking results for the Trust clearly indicate that a leadership strategy is required to support 
the reduction of stress in the workplace.  Individual Divisions will be analysing their results in this area and 
future staff survey working groups will focus on actions required.     
 
The highest ranking scores indicate that staff and patient safety is an area of strength.  It is also gratifying 
to see that effective team working was one of the top ranking scores as this was a key feature of the action 
plans developed after the results of the 2009 survey. 
 
When publicising the findings of the staff survey the key messages this year will focus on what we can do 
to improve and how staff can contribute their views in light of the results.  The results will be shared with 
staff in the following ways: 
 

• Staff announcement in newsletter format on the intranet 
• Executive Team visits will also be an opportunity to discuss staff survey results and engage staff on 

improvements 
• Team manager monthly cascade 

 
In order to understand further the reasons behind the results of this survey and to support progress 
throughout the year to improve the results of the next survey the following actions are proposed: 
 

• Set up a short, online staff survey via the intranet to get views on key aspects where we have not 
performed well and ideas for improvement 

• Set up a number of focus group sessions with staff, to be managed by HR and Communications. 
This will support feedback, engagement and empower staff to put forward their views on how we 
can make improvements 

• Review resources available in areas requiring improvement to ensure support and information is 
easy to access 

• Staff survey results and actions to form part of Divisional Performance Reviews to increase local 
ownership and enable monitoring of plans/ improvements 

• Staff engagement sessions to continue across the Trust so that we can continuously monitor 
progress and be aware of any issues which need addressing. 

 
Equality and Diversity 
Oxford Health NHS FT aims to deliver equality in its provision of services to communities. The Trust 
challenges discrimination, promotes cohesion and working together and addresses areas of inequality. To 
support this work the Trust has produced a Single Equality Scheme which is published on our website with 
a three year action plan. The Trust has improved mandatory training by introducing a classroom based 
interactive session, delivered at Corporate Induction for all staff. Guidance for completing Equality Impact 
Assessments has been completed and is available to all staff. Senior management has had access to 
training sessions on how to complete an Equality Impact Assessment. 
 
Summary of performance – workforce statistics  

Oxford Health NHS FT collects information on employees by age, ethnicity, gender, disability, religion or 
belief and sexual orientation at the point of employment. The data collected is analysed annually and as far 
as possible against local population information. Staff members are mandatorily required to disclose their 
age, gender and any disability that could affect their work, but have the option not to disclose other personal 
information, should they not wish to. 
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 Staff  
2009-10  

%  Staff 
2010-11  

% 

Age  

0-18 
19-35  
36-64 
65 + 
Unknown 
Total 

  
4 
956 
1926 
42 
  
2928 

  
0.14 
32.65 
65.78 
1.43 

 
1 
1004 
2106 
49 
 
3160 

 
0.03 
31.77 
66.65 
1.55 

Ethnicity  

White  
Mixed  
Asian or Asian 
British  
Black or Black 
British  
Other  
Unknown 

  
2241  
55 
148 
 
333 
 
56 
95 

  
76.5 
1.9 
5.1 
 
11.4 
 
1.9 
3.2 

 
2467 
60 
153 
 
336 
 
56 
88 

 
78.1 
1.9 
4.8 
 
10.6 
 
1.8 
2.8 

 Staff  
2009-10  

%  Staff  
2010-11 

% 

Gender  

Male  
Female  
Trans- gender  
Unknown  

  
784  
2144  
0  

  
26.8 
73.2 

 
829 
2331 
0 

 
26.2 
73.8 

Disability 

No 
Not Declared 
Undefined 
Yes 

 
1928 
28 
1125 
50 

 
61.58 
0.89 
35.93 
1.60 

 
1900 
26 
1179 
55 

 
60.13 
0.82 
37.31 
1.74 

 
Summary of FT Membership statistics: 

 
 Membership  

2009-10  
% Membership 

2010-11  
% 

Age  

0-16 
17-21 
22 + 
Unknown 
 

  
5 
20 
1581 
529 
  

 
0 
1 
74 
25 

 
4 
30 
2001 
582 
 

 
0.1 
1 
76 
22 
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Ethnicity  

White  
Mixed  
Asian or Asian British  
Black or Black British  
Other  
Unknown 
 

  
1705 
16 
45 
23 
5 
341 
  

 
80 
1 
2 
1 
0 
16 
 

 
1982 
27 
52 
34 
12 
510 

 
76 
1 
2 
1 
0.4 
19 

Gender  

Male  
Female  
Trans- gender  
Unknown  

  
873 
1237 
 
25 

 
41 
58 
 
1 

 
1047 
1570 
0 
0 

 
40 
60 
0 
0 

 
Priorities and targets going forward  

Oxford Health NHS FT will aim to improve outcomes for Equality and Diversity over the next financial year. 
The Trust will look at: 

• Implementing an outcome based Equality System. 
• Increasing the length of training time in Equality and Diversity, and improving the numbers of those 

who have received mandatory training. 
• Providing more opportunities for stakeholders and members of the public to be involved with the 

Equality and Diversity agenda. 
 

Communications and Involvement 
The Trust has a responsibility to communicate and engage with patients, carers, staff and the public. Oxford 
Health NHS FT has a statutory duty to involve these groups in the work of the Trust. The Communications 
and Involvement portfolio is led by the Associate Director of Communications and Involvement.  
 
The Trust’s communication and involvement activity in 2010-11 included the following: 
 
In preparation for the integration with Community Health Oxfordshire, the Trust held a number of 
involvement meetings to inform stakeholders and find out their views. These meetings were to focus on 
different stakeholder groups and included staff, patients and the public, and voluntary sector partners. 
Frequently asked questions were published on the website for patients, public and partners and staff related 
questions and answers were available on the staff intranet. The Trust newsletter Observer was also used to 
share information about the integration. 
 
The Trust’s social networking presence has grown over the last year and a YouTube channel was launched 
to support the Trust’s Facebook and Twitter pages. These different methods of communication are used to 
gather feedback, raise awareness of the Trust and to promote events, and offer a zero cost approach to 
improving involvement. 
 
The Trust has run a number of community wellbeing days throughout the year across the different localities 
covered by the Trust. These events are hosted by Oxford Health NHS FT and key partners across the NHS, 
County Councils, voluntary sector and other areas are invited to attend. These events enable local 
communities to drop in and find out more about health and social care services in the area, and promote 
positive partnership working. 
 
 
The Medical Directorate is responsible for medical staff in the Trust, oversees pharmacy services and the 
Trust’s Research and Development (R&D) programme, and shares responsibility for clinical governance 
and clinical strategy. The Medical Director for the period of this Annual Report was Dr Mike Hobbs. 



26 
 

 
Key strategic developments across the Trust: 
The medical directorate contributed to a number of key strategic developments in 2010-11, including: 

1. The programme for integration with Community Health Oxfordshire, including the Clinical Due 
Diligence and development of service models; 

2. The case for integration of mental, physical and social care for the benefit of patients with serious 
mental illness, dementia, long term medical conditions (LTCs, e.g. diabetes, chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease [COPD]), and so-called ‘medically unexplained symptoms’ (MUS, i.e. conditions 
presenting with physical symptoms but without discernible underlying physical pathology); 

3. The case for strategic development of psychological medicine services in acute hospitals, and 
eventually in the community, to meet the needs of people with co-morbid mental and physical 
illness, as in LTCs and MUS; 

4. Engagement of GPs, the emerging GP Commissioning Consortia, acute NHS Trusts and voluntary 
sector organisations to further the development of community health services and to address the 
national imperative to deliver more health care ‘closer to home’. 

Medical Engagement 
In 2010, the Trust participated in a study by the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges and NHS Institute for 
Innovation & Improvement of medical engagement in the leadership of planning, design and delivery of 
NHS services. Medical engagement is defined as “the active and positive contribution of doctors within their 
normal working roles to maintaining and enhancing the performance of the organisation which itself 
recognises this commitment in supporting and encouraging high quality care” (Spurgeon, Barwell & 
Mazelan 2008). It has been demonstrated that medical engagement is a key determinant of organisational 
success in the NHS.  
 
Of 30 Trusts studied, Oxford Health NHS FT emerged as one of seven high scorers.  In-depth interviews of 
these seven Trusts identified that high levels of medical engagement require (among other qualities) 
leadership, a future-focused and outward-looking organisational culture, selection and appointment of the 
right doctors to leadership and management roles, effective communication, clarity and empowerment of 
roles and responsibilities, setting expectations and enforcing professional behaviour, and promotion of 
understanding, trust and respect between doctors and managers. The report can be accessed at 
www.institute.nhs.uk/medicalleadership. 
 
Research and Development 
The Trust’s R&D programme has been highly successful, reflecting the commitment to research of a 
significant number of clinicians and the strength of the relationship between the Trust and universities, 
especially The University of Oxford. Under the new national system for NHS R&D, funding depends on 
research performance; and the Trust has secured higher levels of funding than under the former ‘block’ 
allocation.  Research programmes in dementia, psychosis and psychological therapies are particularly 
strong. 
 
Pharmacy / Medicines Management 
The Trust’s pharmacy / medicines management service is effective and innovative, and recognised as a 
key element in high quality clinical care. Dan White, one of the Trust pharmacists, won the Chief 
Executive’s Innovation Award in 2010 for his team’s development of a medicines management service for 
patients themselves. This provides information and advice to patients and carers, and draws on cognitive 
therapy skills to enhance the patient’s motivation and collaboration in treatment. 
 
Thames Valley Health Innovation & Education Cluster (TVHIEC) 
Following the successful partnership bid in late 2009, TVHIEC was established in April 2010. Hosted by 
Oxford Health NHS FT TVHIEC has its own governance structure, and its Chair, Director, Programme 
Manager and Coordinator were appointed in summer 2010. 
A number of short term projects have been progressed while longer term programmes of work are 
developed. These reflect four broad programme areas (integrated service provision, patient safety, care 
closer to home, and workforce development) and include the following projects / programmes: 
 

1. Integrated service provision to enhance the quality of health care in care homes for the elderly;  
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2. Dementia awareness training for GPs; 

3. Psychological interventions for patients with co-morbid long term medical conditions (initially COPD) 
and anxiety / depression; 

4. Patient involvement in decision-making;  

5. Development of online statutory and mandatory training (e-MOT); 

6. Co-hosting of the South Central Patient Safety Federation. 

Further information can be found at www.tvhiec.org.uk 
 
Medical Revalidation 
The General Medical Council has delayed introduction of revalidation for doctors to autumn 2012, allowing 
more preparation time for this comprehensive framework which will be built around a “strengthened” system 
of appraisal / performance review. Dr Clive Meux was appointed as the Trust’s Revalidation Officer from 
January 2011, and Dr Jane Pearce is Lead Consultant for Revalidation. Dr Pearce chairs the working group 
which oversees the Trust’s preparation for revalidation. 
 
Medical Director Appointment 
Dr Clive Meux (Consultant Forensic Psychiatrist, Clinical Director for Forensic Mental Health Services, and 
Deputy Medical Director) was appointed as Medical Director to succeed Dr Mike Hobbs in April 2011. 
 
Following integration with Community Health Oxfordshire, the Medical Directorate will be jointly responsible 
with the Directorate of Nursing & Clinical Standards for clinical governance and clinical standards in the 
Trust. Dr Meux will co-chair, with Ros Alstead (Director of Nursing & Clinical Standards), the Trust’s new 
Clinical Advisory Board. The Medical Director will assume formal responsibility for Clinical Effectiveness, 
and will have an enhanced strategic role in the Trust. 
 
 
The Board of Directors has needed a range of information to provide assurances against the healthcare 
standards the Trust has to meet. Co-ordinating this information falls under the responsibility of the Director of 
Nursing and Clinical Governance. For the period covered by this report, the post was held by Caroline Birch 
on an acting basis. Ros Alstead took up the post of Director of Nursing and Clinical Standards on 23 March 
2011. 
 
Reports provided during the year to the Board of Directors included: 

� Access and diversity (annually) 
� Safety (quarterly) 
� Section 75 Arrangements (CPA)(annually) 
� Partnership Working (CPA)(bi-annually) 
� Public Health and Wellbeing (annually) 
� Clinical effectiveness (bi-annually) 
� Privacy and dignity (bi-annually) 
� Patient satisfaction – including complaints and PALS (bi-annually) 
� Human Resources and workforce (bi-annually) 
� Service user and carer information and involvement (annually) 
� Food and Nutrition (bi-annually) 
� Estates and Facilities (annually) 
� Quality Report (monthly) 
� Governance (annually) 
� CQC Review of Arrangements in NHS Safeguarding Children 

 
Complaints 
We take complaints very seriously and strive to resolve them quickly.  During 2010-11, we received 154 
complaints.  This was an increase of 25 (16%) complaints from 2009-10.  Of these  
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• 148 (96%) complaints were acknowledged within the agreed timescale, which is an improvement from 
2009-10 at 88%. 

• 139 (90%) complaints were responded to within an agreed timescale with the complainant.  One (1%) 
complaint was out of time and the complainant would not agree to an extension.  Fourteen (9%) 
complaints are still open and within an agreed timescale or extension.   

 
The number of complaints, which were received during 2010-11, can be seen in the graph below.  
 

Complaints Received by Month 2010'11
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During 2010-11, Oxford Health NHS FT began a review of the whole complaints process.  This is likely to 
result in much tighter standards for timescales for responding to complaints.  It will also encourage staff to 
deal with concerns at a local level before they become formal complaints. 
 
Examples of actions taken as a result of complaints are: 
 

• A review has been undertaken on Ashurst Ward around the documenting of patients’ clothing and 
possessions upon arrival and discharge from the ward.   

• The Oxford Clinic has reviewed and made improvements to the Friday Community Meeting held on 
the ward.  The Complaints & PALS Department has received positive feedback from patients on the 
ward.   

• All members of staff at the Oxford Clinic have been reminded of the Trust’s “Search of patients and 
their belongings” policy.   

• Within Oxfordshire Adult and Older Adult Services, a review has been undertaken and 
guidance/training for staff on carrying out intimate searches. 

• A review has been undertaken on Phoenix Ward around the Trust’s Health Records Policy and the 
method of scanning and uploading patient documents to avoid incidents on errors of patients’ 
records being uploads to the incorrect patient’s file. 

 
Data Loss 
Records indicate that during 2010-11, there were 14 reports where data was lost; in each case an 
investigation was completed. These incidents were as follows: 
 

1. Blackberry lost in transit, no Person Identifiable Data (PID) (green) 
2. Laptop stolen, no PID (green) 
3. Email with referral information incorrectly forwarded to GPs (green) 
4. Misdirected email with minimal PID (green) 
5. Misdirected fax (green) 
6. Misdirected letter (green) 
7. Misdirected email with minimal PID (green) 
8. Misdirected fax (green) 
9. Misdirected letter (green) 
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10. Misdirected letter (green) 
11. Misdirected email with minimal PID (green) 
12. Misdirected fax (green) 
13. Misdirected letter (green) 
14. Misdirected fax (green) 

 
Green signifies no harm following risk assessment post incident. 
 
Quality Account 2010-11 

Introduction 

Quality Accounts are annual reports to the public from providers of NHS healthcare services about the 
quality of the services provided. Our account is intended for anyone who wants to know more about the 
quality of our services and how we aim to maintain and improve this. The audience may include staff, 
people who use our services and their carers, commissioners, regulators and any partners in care.  

In February 2011 Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust (OBMH) 
changed its name to Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust. Throughout the report the Trust is referred to as 
Oxford Health NHS FT, including where information relates to prior to the name change.  
  
The Account is in four parts: 
Part One includes an introduction from Julie Waldron, the Chief Executive of Oxford Health NHS FT. 
 
Part Two is in two separate sections.  The first describes our priorities for the coming year 2011-2012.  We 
have presented these using the three components of quality: patient safety, clinical effectiveness and 
patient experience  that Lord Darzi identified in his policy “High Quality Care for All; Next Stage Review” 
(2008) and also the five Domains indicated in the Department of Health’s publication “NHS Outcomes 
Framework” (2010), namely:  

� Preventing people from dying prematurely 
� Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable 

harm 
� Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions 
� Helping people to recover from episodes of ill-health or following injury 
� Ensuring people have a positive experience of care 

The second section in part two is a set of statements that we are required by the Regulations to complete. 
These are required to enable you to compare us with other NHS Trusts. 
 
Part Three describes what we did last year and how we performed against our priorities set in the 2010 -
2011 Quality Account. It also includes some additional activities and achievements that had not been 
identified as priorities when we formulated last year’s plan.  
 
Part Four is where we include as Annexes to the report: 

• statements from key partners as required by the Regulations: Local Involvement Network (LINks), 
the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees, our Governors and the Commissioning PCTs. 
Oxfordshire PCT have responded for both themselves and Buckinghamshire PCT (Annex 1)  

• a signed statement that the Quality Account represents an honest appraisal of our services and 
meets the required standards (Annex 2)  

• Local Audit actions (Annex 3) 
• Glossary of Terms (Annex 4) 
• details on how to contact us (Annex 5) 
• Auditor’s Statement of Assurance (Annex 6) 
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5 Part 1. Statement on Quality from the Chief Executive  

 
This is the third year we have been required as an NHS foundation trust by Monitor the Regulator of NHS 
foundation trusts to produce and publish our Quality Account. This report enables us to account for the 
quality of our services for the year that has just ended April 2010-March 2011, and consult upon our 
proposed quality initiatives for the forthcoming year following involvement and comment from our 
stakeholders. We also have a responsibility to ensure the account is audited by our external auditors and 
published locally and nationally. 
 
During 2010-2011 Oxford Heath NHS Foundation Trust provided a wide range of local and specialist 
mental health services including:  

• children and young people’s mental health services 
• mental health services for  adults and older adults  
• specialist forensic, eating disorders, specialist psychological therapies and specialist addiction services.  

The Trust’s primary population are the residents of Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire (1.2 million). Our 
children’s services also extend into Wiltshire, Swindon, and Bath and North East Somerset, and we admit 
young people to our inpatient adolescent units from Gloucestershire, Milton Keynes, Luton and 
Bedfordshire. Our Forensic Services serve the Thames Valley/South Central area. 
 
In April 2010 the Trust was successful in bidding to provide general community health services for 
Oxfordshire and after much preparation the Trust acquired these services on the 1 April 2011. The 
community health services will move into the integrated children and families’ service division and a new 
Oxfordshire community health division for adults. 
 
From 1 April 2011 we have become an organisation of nearly 6000 staff providing a range of specialist 
mental health care in five different localities as well as general community healthcare to patients in 
Oxfordshire. This integration will allow us to bring these services together and enable us to manage better 
the interdependence of physical and mental health when providing care to patients, as indicated by the 
NHS and Social Care Bill (2011) and the new Mental Heath Strategy (DoH February 2011). Such 
integration allows us to deliver better care closer to home and provide a real alternative to acute hospital 
admission for many people.  We have a vision to provide an integrated service of “one person/ family one 
plan” to replace the range of different services individual patients or families currently receive. 
 
In this last year we outlined ambitious plans to improve safety and quality over a two to four year period. 
This year we have made a range of improvements providing the foundations for our safety and quality 
programme as well as developing our baselines for measuring safety. We anticipate this will gather 
momentum over the next two years. We have made good progress across all of our divisions in developing 
ways of gathering and responding to feedback from patients and carers. Our mental health teams now 
routinely measure outcomes which help the patient and member of staff understand the progress the 
individual is making. 
 
During 2010-11 our Board of Directors continued to prioritise Quality, ensuring that local and national 
performance is reviewed at every Trust Board meeting, and through its committee and governance 
structure from Board to team level. 
 
In Oxford Health NHS FT, quality in our services is embodied through the care delivered by our staff who in 
turn aim to exemplify our values to be “caring, safe and excellent”. 
High quality means we consistently deliver excellent standards of care to service users and carers and for 
us quality means three key things; 
1) Safety – Including reducing towards zero avoidable suicides 
2) Effectiveness – Including increasing the routine use of outcome measures 
3) Experience –Including using a range of methods to gather and respond to service user and carer 

experiences of our services. 
 
Our consultation with our stakeholders including commissioners, patients via LINk, public via HOSC and 
our Governors has enabled the Board of Directors to develop these and other quality initiatives for which 
we outlined specific indicators and measures to monitor our progress. These indicators are available 
through the publication of this Quality Account and in our public Board papers throughout the year, in year 
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these indicators have been largely met. During 2010-11 we have joined the national Information 
Technology Programme and implemented a new electronic care record called RiO. Whilst our 
implementation has been successful, during the roll out phase the measurement of some of our local 
information indicators has required a reconfiguration of RiO which has been time consuming. During this 
phase we have focussed our efforts on national performance indicators as we were unable to report detail 
of local indicators.  
 
Our focus throughout 2010-11 has been on ensuring we are getting the basics of care right in day to day 
clinical practice. This has included a focus from the Board of Directors on compliance with the care 
programme approach, observations of care, supervision arrangements and infection control.  
 
We have used innovation and best practice from other industries to innovate and increase efficiency.  We 
have set in place a team of staff who are dedicated to improving the systems and processes in the Trust in 
order to ensure they are effective.  This has enabled us to eliminate wasteful activities which enable us 
either to ensure our clinical staff are spending the maximum possible time in direct patient care or helping 
us to save money whilst maintaining the number of frontline staff. We have trained this team and a number 
of other staff in Lean methodologies to enable them to carry out this work. This team co-ordinates the 
Productive Ward and Productive Community programmes and later in this report we give examples  of how 
much staff time has been released from tasks which add little or no value to patient care in order to spend 
more time with patients.  
 
The NHS, like all public services, has difficult financial times ahead. The coming years will be challenging 
for us all so this work enables us to ensure the foundations are in place to work effectively, efficiently and 
within our resources, but most importantly that we develop a culture of continuing improvement. 
 
Quality of services is also determined by our external regulators Monitor and the Care Quality Commission. 
Last year I am delighted to report, we fully met all our Monitor governance and financial targets. In addition 
we also met our CQC national targets. These targets were presented as national benchmarks for the first 
time this year; this enabled a direct comparison between Trusts’ performance. This table indicated that 
Oxford Health NHS FT could improve its relative performance in CPA 7 day follow up and two aspects of 
data quality in particular. These are two of the most important measures in the national toolkit 
demonstrating comparable experience of services are determined through our national community patient 
survey and our staff survey. Disappointingly neither of these surveys demonstrated measurable 
improvement within our mental health services this year and will have a renewed focus in the forthcoming 
year. 
  
 
The identified quality priorities for the forthcoming year 2011-12 fall under the following three dimensions of 
 

� Patient Safety 
Preventing people from dying prematurely 
Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm 

 
� Effectiveness 

Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions 
Helping people to recover from episodes of ill-health or following injury 

 
� Patient Experience 

Ensuring people have a positive experience of their care 
 
By April 2012 it is likely NHS mental health services will move to a new contracting scheme called Payment 
by Results. This will involve mental health services delivering packages of care against 21 pre-determined 
groups to which service users will be allocated based on their individual needs.  Work is underway within 
the Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire Adults and Older Adults Division to define the care clusters (groups 
of patients with similar needs) and care packages which form their core activity. This information will be 
used to form the basis of the way the organisation receives its income, whilst providing an opportunity to 
develop services with the aim of continually improving the quality of the care provided. These 
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improvements will be achieved through working in partnership with service users, carers and other 
agencies to improve our outcomes.  
 
A priority over the next year is to improve the support given to staff in carrying out their work, making 
expectations of their roles clear, having good team working and providing good management supervision. 
From this basis we shall be able to deliver on improved patient experiences, engagement with carers and 
improvements in the execution of personalised care planning processes in both community health and 
throughout mental health services. 
 
 
To the best of my knowledge the information contained in the Quality Account is accurate. 
 

 
 
Julie Waldron 
Chief Executive 
 
29th June 2011 
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Part 2a. Looking Forward: Priorities for Improvement 2011-2012 
We have identified five priority areas for 2011-2012 for the integrated Trust which includes both mental and 
physical health priorities.  In selecting our priorities and what we hope to achieve within these priorities we 
have been mindful of both the national and local picture, as well as feedback from service users, staff, 
external bodies (such as Monitor, Care Quality Commission, commissioners and LINks).  
 
This year the Quality Account for the new organisation Oxford Health NHS FT adopts the national format. 
This sets out our Quality Account priorities within the three broad dimensions for Quality, whilst also taking 
account of the recently published white paper emphasising the importance of focusing quality initiatives on 
outcomes rather than systems and processes. This publication Transparency in Outcomes (Dec 2010) has 
led us to develop sub categories for the three quality dimensions.  
 
Importantly in Oxford Health NHS FT, we provide a range of general community services for the population 
of Oxfordshire including health promotion services, children and young people’s services, community 
hospitals and district nursing, and a wide range of community therapy services including dentistry, podiatry, 
physiotherapy and specialist nursing. 
 
The identified priorities fall under the following three dimensions of 
 

� Patient Safety 
Preventing people from dying prematurely 
Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm 

 
� Effectiveness 

Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions 
Helping people to recover from episodes of ill-health or following injury 

 
� Patient Experience 

Ensuring people have a positive experience of care 
 

The priorities identified for this year are as follows. The progress against the priorities will be monitored and 
reported to the Board of Directors quarterly: - 

 

5.1.1 Patient Safety: Preventing people from dying prematurely 

 
We have identified the following key patient safety priorities which are based upon our ongoing Leading 
Improvements in Patient Safety (LIPS) programme, serious incident trends and the outcome of stakeholder 
consultation, particularly our commissioners. Last year we made a long term commitment to participate in 
the LIPS programme and a continued focus on reducing avoidable suicide whilst increasing low or 
minimum harm incident reporting. This is in order to maximise learning without incurring harm and to 
promote an open culture of reporting. Consequently this remains a priority for this year.  

5.1.1.1 Aims 

1. To reduce towards zero the number of inpatient deaths from suicide by 2012 
2. To reduce towards zero preventable community suicides by 2014 
3. Increase reporting of no or minimal harm incidents by 50% by March 2012 

 

5.1.1.2 Current position   

• There was one inpatient death of suspected suicide (awaiting Coroner’s verdict) in Oxford Health 
NHS FT in 2010 -2011  

• There were 32 community deaths last year, of which 17 are still to receive a verdict.   
• 96.4% of incidents resulted in no or minimal harm, compared to  the NPSA average for all Mental 

Health Trusts of 94.3% 
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• Details of suicide prevalence in Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire total populations can be found at 
http://www.rightcare.nhs.uk/atlas/  

5.1.1.3 Action we intend to take 

• Increase the number of staff who have completed the Trust’s clinical risk assessment training from 
79% to a minimum of 85% by August 2011 

• Senior Managers and clinicians to receive training in the LIPS programme 
• Implement the use of SBARD (Situation, Background, Assessment, Recommendation, and 

Decision) in clinical teams. SBARD is a communication tool to assist staff in succinct and focused 
relaying of information 

• Implement guidelines to prevent absconding from inpatient mental health wards 
• Implement new initiatives in every Community Mental Health Team to prevent suicide 
• Audit against NICE guidelines and learn from the care of patients who present to A&E after self 

harming  
• Integrate the work on developing care clusters with the LIPS programme 
• Implement a schedule of Executive Safety Walkabouts 
• Improve the quality of engagement with Carers 

5.1.2 Patient Safety: Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them 
from avoidable harm 

This priority is closely linked to the above, where we expect the number of incidents reported to rise but the 
severity of harm to drop. In future we would then expect the numbers of similar incidents to decrease as we 
improved care as a result of learning. These aims are consistent with the NHS Outcomes Framework 2011-
2012 (DoH, Dec 2010) 

5.1.2.1 Aims 

• Preventing avoidable skin breakdown which can lead to pressure ulcers.  85% of patients will be 
assessed for pressure ulcer risk on first visit or within 6 hours of admission, and will have actions 
identified on the key risk factors and preventative measures implemented within 2 days 
(commissioning priority) 

• Preventing avoidable serious drug errors in Community Health by 15% from baseline 32 in 2010-11, 
target 27 (commissioning priority) 

• Reduce the number of falls in community hospitals and older people’s mental health wards by 10% 
by March 2013 (national priority) 

• To achieve falls prevention that is better than the national comparison for falls – 8.6 falls per 1000 
bed days by 2014 

• At least 85% of all patients over 75 years of age are assessed for falls and nutrition risks in 
Community Hospitals and Older Adult Mental Health wards (commissioning priority) 

• At least 85% of patients over 75 years old in Community Hospitals have been assessed for 
dementia and depression (commissioning priority) 

• PEAT (patient environment action team) scores to remain at good or excellent (national priority) 
• Ensure 100% of patients admitted to psychiatric wards have a physical health examination within 24 

hours of admission (LINks priority) 
• All patients subject to CPA living in the community are monitored to ensure their physical healthcare 

needs are being met by primary care, and when this is not the case action is taken to address the 
need (LINks priority) 

• Reduce to 30 from 34 (the previous target) the number of cases of Clostridium Difficile by March 
2012  

• Maintain no cases of MRSA across the Trust (national priority) 

5.1.2.2 Current position 

• 76% of patients in Older Adult wards had nutrition risk assessment in place in January 2011  
• Falls assessment baseline for each ward has been established across our community hospitals. 

The average for our Community hospitals is 5.2 falls per 1000 bed days (range 2.59 – 9.42) these 
can be compared to the national falls comparison of 8.6 falls per 1000 bed days 
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• NPSA benchmarks for “accidents” reports Community Health Oxford (now acquired by Oxford 
Health NHS FT) reporting 47.9% compared to a national average (community services) 43.9%  

• NSPA reports Community Health Oxford (now acquired by Oxford Health NHS FT) medication 
incidents at 15.3% compared to National Average (Community Providers) of 11%. 

• The position with regards to the more significant grade 3 or 4 pressure ulcers is as follows 
o There were 3 patients in Mental Health in 2010-11  
o There were 13 patients in community hospitals and 100 reported in the Community general 

healthcare 
• Mental Health services had no cases of C. Difficile or MRSA last year. Community Services 

(formerly Community Health Oxford) had 16 cases of C. Difficile and no cases of MRSA 
• 75% of patients had a physical examination within 24 hours of admission and 44% of community 

patients had their physical healthcare need assessed at assessment or CPA review 
• Though not resulting in patient harm there were 32 significant and avoidable drug errors in 

Community Health reported in 2010-11 

5.1.2.3 What action we intend to take 

• Introduce ward based falls training programmes 
• All patients are referred to the Falls Prevention service following two falls, continue monitoring 

timeliness of referral of patients at risk from falls to the falls prevention service across the 
community hospitals 

• Introduce an early warning observation tool (“track and trigger”) to ensure effective monitoring of 
physical health in all inpatient areas 

• Audit the use of MUST (nutrition assessment) and Falls assessments through the Essence of Care 
benchmarking standards (six monthly) and the Productive programme and then actively mange 
shortfalls 

• To ensure that each mental health ward has a minimum of two nurses trained in the detection and 
management of common physical health problems 

• To ensure additional training for at least one nurse per ward in each of the 8 community hospitals in 
the detection of dementia and depression 

• Staff competency assessments will be developed and introduced for nursing staff in Community 
Division prescribing and/or administering medicines to further enhance current training programmes. 
This approach will also be implemented for other potential high risk clinical nursing interventions 

• Implement recommendations resulting from investigation of all identified grade 3 and 4 pressure 
sores 

5.1.3 Effectiveness: Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions 

Feedback from users and carers indicate that we need to re-double our efforts in the area of care planning 
and ensuring that care plans are developed in partnership with patients and carers, are reviewed regularly 
and that these plans are always copied to patients.  

5.1.3.1 Aims 

• To increase by 10% the number of mental health patients who have Advanced Statements in place 
(Trust Priority) 

• 100% of mental health patients on CPA have a current care plan, had care reviewed in the last 6 
months; a care coordinator and a risk assessment which has been reviewed in the last 12 months 
(national and local priority) 

• 100% of mental health patients have a copy of their care plan and were engaged in its development 
(service user priority) 

• Implement the use of Patient Reported Outcome Measures as part of the stroke care pathway 
(commissioning priority) 

• Further reduce the incidence of emergency readmission in mental health within 28 days of 
discharge (2.9% March 2011) by careful discharge planning and assertive follow up (commissioning 
priority) 

• Reduce emergency admissions to acute hospitals by 800 per year (commissioning priority) 
• To work with Commissioners to develop a multi agency mental health recovery strategy 
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5.1.3.2 Current position 

• 39% of service users had an advanced statement on file at the end of quarter 4 2010- 2011. 
• 70% of patients had all four elements of CPA (care coordinator, up to date care plan, up to date risk 

assessment, care reviewed in last six months) in place at the end of quarter 4 (January - March 
2011 

• The use of patient reported outcome measures has not yet been implemented across community 
services 

• Emergency admissions baseline from 2010-11 activity 2.9%. 

5.1.3.2.1.1 What Actions we intend to take 

• All patients will be given information on advance statements as part of their care 
• That all care coordinators and key-workers are fully informed of the importance of advance 

statements in care delivery 
• For CPA actions see below (helping people to recover from episodes of ill-health or following injury) 
• Establish suitable baselines for determining future targets and trajectories within the diabetes 

service 
• Systems will be developed to support the implementation of patient reported outcome measures 

(PROMS), commencing with the patients on the ‘stroke care pathway’ 
• Create a seamless pathway for adults with Diabetes living in Oxfordshire with more patients 

managed through primary and community services 
• Implement full use of Personalised Care Planning  
• Provide local education programmes for people with Type 2 Diabetes. To include an advanced 

insulin skills group course for people with Type 2 Diabetes treated with insulin 
• To work with health advocates to develop and deliver education programmes for BME groups with 

diabetes 
• To support patients through case management by developing the role of the case managers to 

ensure access to all sources of care and support. This will improve quality of life for people with long 
term conditions and reduce disruption through hospital admission and also reduce demand for 
secondary care services by avoiding admissions and facilitating early discharge 

• Reduce admissions to acute hospital by development of Out of Hours; Minor Injury Units; Hospital at 
Home; Integrated Teams; Community Hospitals; Case Management and Assessment and 
Enablement Services (AES) 

5.1.4 Effectiveness: Helping people to recover from episodes of ill-health or following injury 

5.1.4.1 Aims 

• Increase by 5% the number of patients who report in the National Mental Health Community 
patients survey wanting and receiving help to return to work (service user priority) 

• 75% of Adults receiving care under the CPA are in settled accommodation (service user priority) 
• To increase to 72% by year end the number of patients who have been receiving care for 9 months 

or more, that have a baseline and follow-up HoNOS rating (commissioning priority) 
• Deliver Hospital at Home services for the population of Oxfordshire (Trust priority)  

5.1.4.2 Current position 

• At the end of quarter 4 (January - March 2011) 70% of patients subject to CPA had all four key 
elements of CPA in place (care co-ordinator, care plan, up to date risk assessment, care reviewed 
in last 6 months). This compares with 34% in quarter 1 (April – June 2010), 63% in quarter 2 (July 
September 2011 and 67% in quarter 3 (October – December 2010), showing an increase during 
each quarter.  

• HoNOS paired scores 48% at end of March 2011 
• Hospital at Home piloted in Abingdon area 
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5.1.4.3 What action we intend to take 

• Additional training and emphasis on this target through the preparatory work with developing care 
clusters and care packages for care clusters under the Payment by Results work. Continue the 
ongoing monitoring and management of use of HoNOS 

• Ensure that the development of the care packages includes an assessment of occupational needs 
and interventions to support meeting those needs and carers assessments 

• Tender for all Hospital at Home opportunities 

5.1.5 Patient Experience: Ensuring people have a positive experience of care 

Patient experience is an important indicator of the quality of services and can often pick up issues that 
would not be picked up by audit, national or local targets or general monitoring of services. Gathering 
patient experiences picks up some of the interpersonal and personal aspects of care. 

5.1.5.1 Aims 

• Improve the % of mental health patients who positively respond to the question “Overall how do you 
rate the care you are receiving from Mental Health Services?” by reporting it is good or excellent 
(service user priority). Within two years achieve a score which is equal to or above the average of 
other Trusts, and within five years to be within the top 20% of mental health trusts. 

• The Trust aims to score better than the average of  other organisations in the National Survey 
(Community) in the following areas (Trust priority);  

� Service users knowing who their care coordinator was  
� Service users being offered a copy of the care plan  
� Service users had had a care plan review meeting in the past 12 months 
� Physical health of service users checked   
� Having a contact number out of hours 

• Community Services aim to improve the percentage of patients who rate their care good, very good 
or excellent.  To achieve results comparable to the national top 20% of acute trusts satisfaction 
rating for both out-patients and in-patients as there is no comparable national survey for community 
services (Trust priority) 

• Each service who did not achieve a 90% overall satisfaction of care rating has committed to an 
improvement target based upon the results achieved in 2010-11  

5.1.5.2 Current Position 

• 77% of patients positively rate the care they are receiving when responding to the Trust survey 
regarding their current care in Mental Health Services 

• Service users knowing who their care coordinator was; 75% (worse than other Trusts) 
• Service users being offered a copy of the care plan; 60% (about the same at other Trusts) 
• Service users had had a care plan review meeting in the past 12 months; 69% (about the same as 

other Trusts) 
• Physical health of service users checked; 43% (About the same as other Trusts) 
• Having a contact number out of hours; 44% (about the same as other Trusts) 
• 88% of patients in the Community Division responding to the service specific patient experience 

surveys rated their care as satisfactory in 2010-11 (top 20% acute trust comparison – In patient 
81%; out-patient 85%) 

• The areas that patients identified that we needed to do better were 
� Provision of information 
� Improved communication 
� Increase involvement of patients in their care planning and understanding of their condition 
� Timely provision of community equipment 
� Improved arrangements for their transfer to another service or discharge 
� Urgent care waiting areas – being kept up to date of expected waiting times 

5.1.5.3 What action we intend to take 

• Participate in the required National survey (Community Mental Health) and internally repeat the 
Inpatient National survey 
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• Publish bi-annual updates in clinical areas of what patients told us and what changes we made as a 
result of this feedback 

• Enhance management of caseload supervision and ensure monthly monitoring takes place 
• Implement previous actions relating to CPA and physical health care 
• Increase uptake in patient activity programmes in inpatient environments 
• Expand the patient experience survey programme to include all community general health services 

not included in the national survey 
• Focus improvement on those services not achieving 90% satisfaction through implementation of 

robust action plans identified from 2010-11 survey results 
• Review available patient information and access to information about their specific condition for 

those with long term conditions via the case managers 
• Deliver patient education programmes for patients with Diabetes 
• Review the arrangements for the provision of community equipment to ensure it is provided in a 

timely manner to meet changing patient needs or to facilitate timely discharge from Community 
Hospitals 

• Review discharge planning arrangements with partner agencies in the Oxfordshire Community 
Division 

• Promote staff attendance at ‘customer care’ training, focussing on those services where staff 
attitude has been identified as not meeting patient expectation 

• Continue to demonstrate learning as a result of feedback from complaints and compliments 

5.1.6 Staff 

The Trust recognises that there is a clear relationship between job satisfaction and good experience and 
quality of patient care.  The detailed analysis of the staff annual survey for 2010 is reported in full in the 
annual report and the CQC web site. 

5.1.6.1 Aim 

• Within two years to achieve a score in the annual staff survey that is at least the average of other 
Trusts, and within five years to achieve a score within the top 20% of Trusts, with particular 
emphasis on the lowest 3 elements (Trust  and Governors priority) 
� staff suffering work-related stress in last 12 months 
� 22% of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from patients, relatives or the public in 

last 12 months 
� support from immediate managers 

5.1.6.2 Current Position 

The Trust achieved the top four ranking scores in the following areas when compared with other mental 
health/learning disability trusts in England (National Staff Survey 2010): 
 

• Percentage of staff witnessing potentially harmful errors, near misses or incidents in the last month 
• Effective team working 
• Percentage of staff experiencing physical violence from patients, relatives or the public in the last 12 

months 
• Percentage of staff suffering work-related injury in the last 12 months 

 
The Trust compared least favourably with other MH/LD Trusts in the bottom four ranking scores 

 
• Percentage of staff saying hand washing materials are always available  
• Percentage of staff suffering work related stress in the last 12 months 
• Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from patients, relatives or the public 

in the last 12 months 

5.1.6.3 What action we intend to take 

• Set up a short, online staff survey via the intranet to get views on key aspects where we have not 
performed well and ideas for improvement 
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• Set up a number of focus group sessions with staff, to be managed by HR and Communications. 
This will support feedback, engagement and empower staff to put forward their views on how we 
can make improvements 

• Review resources available to support staff in areas requiring improvement to ensure support and 
information is easy to access 

• Staff survey results and actions to form part of Divisional Performance Reviews to increase local 
ownership and enable monitoring of plans/improvements 

• Staff engagement sessions to continue across the Trust so that we can continuously monitor 
progress and be aware of any issues which may need addressing 

• Improve PDR appraisal and compliance with mandatory training targets in Community Division 
• Improve development opportunities; in particular leadership and managerial development 

 
Part 2b. Statements of Assurance from the Board of Directors 
During 2010-11 Oxford Health NHS FT provided and/or sub-contracted four NHS services. Oxford Health 
NHS FT has reviewed all the data available to them on the quality of care in all four of these NHS services. 
These services are based on the Directorates within the Trust during 2010-11 which were: 
 

1. Oxfordshire Adult and Older Adult Services 
2. Buckinghamshire Adult and Older Adult Services 
3. Child and Adolescent Mental Health and Specialist Services 
4. Forensic Services 

 
Each of these directorates reviews service provision through quarterly performance meetings, monthly 
clinical governance meetings, quarterly performance and quality reports and patient feedback.  
 
The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2010-11 represents 79 per cent of the total income 
generated from the provision of NHS services by the Oxford Health NHS FT for 2010-11. 
 

5.2 Participation in Clinical Audits 

During 2010-2011, seven national clinical audits and one national confidential inquiry covered NHS 
services that Oxford Health NHS FT provides (table 1). 
 
During that period Oxford Health NHS FT participated in 100% of the national clinical audits and 100% of 
the national confidential inquiries, of the national clinical audits and national confidential inquiries which it 
was eligible to participate in (table 1). 
 
The national clinical audits and national confidential inquiries that Oxford Health NHS FT was eligible to 
participate in during 2010-11 are as follows shown in table 1. 
 
The national clinical audits and national confidential inquiries that Oxford Health NHS FT participated in and 
for which data collection was completed during 2010-2011, are listed below alongside the number of cases 
submitted to each audit or inquiry as a percent of the number of registered cases required by the terms of 
that audit or inquiry. 
 
Table 1 
 
Audit or Inquiry Participation 

(Yes or No) 
Number of Cases 
Required by Terms 

Number of Cases 
Submitted 

Audit of Organisation 
of Services for Falls 
and Bone Health Care 
(national audit, MH 
only involved in service 
organisational audit) 

Yes 1 service level 
questionnaire 

1 service level 
questionnaire 

POMH-UK Topic 10a - 
Use of antipsychotic 

Yes All patients being 
prescribed 

46 cases 
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Audit or Inquiry Participation 
(Yes or No) 

Number of Cases 
Required by Terms 

Number of Cases 
Submitted 

medicine in CAMHS antipsychotic 
POMH-UK Topic 7b - 
Monitoring of patients 
prescribed lithium 

Yes No recommended  
minimum sample 

157 cases 

POMH-UK Topic 8b - 
Medicines 
reconciliation 

Yes No recommended  
minimum sample 

48 cases 

POMH-UK  Topic 11 – 
Prescribing 
antipsychotic 
medication for people 
with Dementia 

Yes No recommended  
minimum sample 

203 cases 

National Audit of 
Psychological 
Therapies for Anxiety 
and Depression 2010 
(primary and 
secondary services) 

Yes No recommended  
minimum sample 

Four parts of audit: 
a) 149 staff completed 
therapist questionnaire 
b) service user 
questionnaire – response 
rate unknown 
c) service context 
questionnaire – 3 
questionnaires 
completed (1 for each 
service area) 
d) retrospective case 
note audit for all patients 
who ended therapy 
between 1st Sept-30th 
Nov 2010 

Depression screening 
and management of 
NHS staff on LT 
sickness by 
Occupational Health 
Services (national 
audit) 

Yes All eligible cases 3 eligible cases 

National Confidential 
Inquiry into Suicide 
and Homicide by 
People with Mental 
Illness (NCI/ CISH) 

Yes All suicides reported to 
NPSA 

All suicides reported 

 
The reports of six national clinical audits (one void due to insufficient sample) were reviewed by the 
provider in 2010-11 and Oxford Health NHS FT intends to take the following actions to improve the quality 
of healthcare provided (in table 2).  
 
Table 2 

Title of National Audit  Agreed actions to improve the quality of 
healthcare 

Audit of Organisation of Services for 
Falls and Bone Health Care (national 
audit, MH only involved in organisational 
audit) 

Awaiting National Report May 2011. 

POMH-UK Topic 10a - Use of 
antipsychotic medicine in CAMHS 

- Rating scales (GASS or LUNSERS) to be 
used 6-monthly to monitor and care plan for 
side effects of patients on antipsychotics. Rating 
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Title of National Audit  Agreed actions to improve the quality of 
healthcare 
scales have been incorporated into the care 
plan documentation. 

POMH-UK Topic 7b - monitoring of 
patients prescribed lithium 

- Clinicians to ensure accessing results via on-
line pathology website and upload results onto 
RIO. This is to be reviewed regularly and 
followed up at CPA reviews. 
- All patients to be given an NPSA lithium pack, 
to be re-audited in Oct 2011. 
- Shared care guidelines for lithium prescribing 
and monitoring by GPs have been approved by 
Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire PCTs by 31st 
March 2011. 

POMH-UK Topic 8b - Medicines 
reconciliation 

- Further work to fully integrate medicines 
reconciliation into the admission process with 
medical, nursing and pharmacy involvement. 

POMH-UK  Topic 11 - Prescribing 
antipsychotic medication for people with 
Dementia 

Awaiting National Report 

National Audit of Psychological 
Therapies for Anxiety and Depression 
2010 (primary and secondary services.) 

Awaiting National Report 

 
The Trust also participated in a number of National Quality Improvement projects which have been 
managed by the Royal College of Psychiatrists’ Centre for Quality Improvement. Details of the programmes 
and networks which the Trust has participated in, together with details of national participation are outlined 
in table 3 below. 
 
Table 3 

CCQI Programme Participation by Oxford 
Health NHS FT 

National 
participation 

Service accreditation 
programmes 

2 ECT clinics 113 ECT clinics 

Psychiatric liaison teams 1 team 33 teams 
Service Quality improvement 
networks 

2 units 100 units 

Child and adolescent community 
MH teams 

2 teams 72 teams 

Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Inpatient Units (QUNIC) 

2 wards  

Therapeutic communities 3 communities 95 communities 
Forensic Mental Health services 2 services 67 services 
 
The reports of 26 local Trust wide clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2010-11 and Oxford 
Health NHS FT intends to take actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided as identified in Annex 
3. 

5.3 Research 

The number of patients receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by various commercial 
companies and the University of Oxford in 2010-2011 that were recruited during that period to participate in 
research approved by a research ethics committee was 1496. 

5.4 Commissioning for Quality Improvement and Innovation Goals (CQUIN) 
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A proportion of Oxford Health NHS FT’s income in 2010-11 was conditional on achieving quality 
improvement and innovation goals (CQUIN) agreed between Oxford Health NHS FT and any person or 
body they entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of NHS services, 
through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework. 
 
In total there were six separate CQUIN schemes agreed with our commissioners for 2010-11. Details of 
these CQUIN goals together with our attainment levels are as follows: 
 

1. Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Adult and Older Adult Services 
There were 5 CQUIN goals in this contract. These goals related to patient feedback (to collect, 
analyse and action patient feedback), to undertake an audit against compliance with NICE dementia 
guidelines (older adults), completion of carers survey, increase in the use of paired HoNOS scores 
to a target of 40% and self assessment against the You’re Welcome criteria in children’s services. 
 
We fully met four of the five goals and received 100% funding for these four goals. The goal not fully 
met was the audit of compliance with NICE dementia guidelines, we received 100% funding in 
Buckinghamshire (for full audit completion and a compliance level of 90% on each standard 
assessed) and 90% funding in Oxfordshire with the audit completed and a compliance level of 
between 80-89% on the standards assessed).  
 

2. CAMHS Buckinghamshire only 
There were 4 CQUIN targets in this contract, all of which were fully met and received 100% funding. 
These targets related to CAMHS Depression Audit against NICE Guidelines, completion of CAMHS 
You’re Welcome self assessment (as above), Improvement on number of admissions gate kept by 
Crisis/ Outreach (to a target of 80%) and Outcome measurement CGAS (practitioner) and SDQ 
(service user). 
 

3. Eating Disorder Service (East of England Specialist Commissioning Group) 
There were 4 CQUIN targets in this contract, all of which were fully met and received 100% funding. 
These targets related to completion of Medicine Management Audits, engagement in the Productive 
Ward initiative, Empowerment and Involvement of service users and use of Patient Experience 
feedback (as above).  

 

4. Swindon CAMHS and Wiltshire and BaNES CAMHS (two separate schemes) 
There were 8 CQUIN targets in this contract, all of which were fully met and received 100% funding. 
These targets related to inpatient physical health assessment, audit against consent, audit on 
copying letters to patients, parents and GPs, quality and timeliness of inpatient discharge 
summaries, timeliness of community letters sent to patients and parents, access to learning 
disability services for people, protocols of partnership working regarding dual diagnosis and audit 
against DNA policy. 

5. Forensic (Specialist Commissioning Group) 
There were 6 CQUIN targets in this contract, all of which were fully met and received 100% funding. 
These targets related to: 

• use of HONOS secure and HCR 20 or other structured risk assessment 
• use of the Climate Evaluation Schema (CES) to introduce the use of the tool 
•  to demonstrate a robust system/process that promotes the empowerment and Involvement 

of service users 
• to implement one new service user defined service improvement e.g. Productive Ward 
• to further develop the quality standard A81 of the Best Practice guidance for Medium Secure 

Units – Department of Health Offender Partnerships 2007 by developing a benchmarking 
tool linking 25 hours of patient activity to personalisation and recovery. 
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Further details of the agreed goals for 2010-11 and for 2011-2012 and for the following 12 month period are 
available electronically at http://www.oxfordhealth.nhs.uk/about-us/overview/declarations/ 
 
Updates on progress against each goal are reported in the Quality Report presented to the Board of 
Directors quarterly and available on the Trust Website. 
 
Table 4 Income from CQUINs 2010-2011 

Commissioner Amount % of Contract 
Value 

Oxfordshire PCT £699,348 1.5% 
Buckinghamshire PCT  £150,273 0.5% 
East of England SCG £6,450 1.5% 
Wiltshire & BaNES PCT  £98,565 1.5% 
Swindon PCT £37,628 1.5% 
South Central SCG 
(Forensic) 

£359,145 1.5% 

 

5.5 Care Quality Commission  

Oxford Health NHS FT is required to register and comply with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and its 
current registration status is registered without conditions. 
 
The CQC has not taken enforcement action against Oxford Health NHS FT during 2010-2011. 
 
Oxford Health NHS FT participated in a responsive review following our initial registration in January 2010 
(to start from 1st April 2010) when we advised the CQC of areas of non compliance from our self 
assessment with the CQC outcomes. A similar review was conducted in Community Health Oxford during 
July 2010.  Following these reviews, the CQC were satisfied that both Trusts were meeting the essential 
standards of quality and safety. 
 
In January 2011 the CQC made enquiries in relation to progress of an action plan following a serious 
incident on a ward in Oxfordshire in December 2008. This incident resulted in the CQC undertaking some 
preliminary enquiries throughout 2009-10 which were concluded in April 2010.  The review concluded that 
they (CQC) found sufficient evidence that the Trust has fully complied with six of the nine recommendations 
they previously made. The remaining three recommendations were almost met and the CQC found that the 
right actions had been identified to ensure these would be fully met. We are continuing to focus on these 
areas until they have been fully achieved, these areas are: 
 
1. The Trust needs to ensure ward managers and team leaders have the necessary management and 

leadership qualities needed to ensure policies are adhered to and that issues of non compliance are 
picked up early on through regular local audits and staff supervision. 

 
2. The Trust needs to be more assertive in responding if a patent fails to attend and/or when gaps occur 

in the periods being seen. 
 
3. The Trust should review its risk assessment policy, procedures and training for all clinical staff and 

ensure greater prominence is given to suicide and self harm risk factors such as: psychotic features, 
alcohol consumption, impulsivity, 48 hour period after discharge, support/communication/management 
of service user leave. 

5.6 Quality Risk Profile 

The CQC produces a Quality Risk Profile (QRP) for all organisations who are registered with the CQC. It is 
seen as an essential tool for gathering key information about organisations, and assists the CQC to monitor 
how we are complying with the essential standards by identifying any risks. The CQC’s risk rating scale 
detailed below goes from reducing risk of non-compliance (green) to increasing risk of non-compliance 
(red).  
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5.7 Quality Risk Profile 

The CQC produces a Quality Risk Profile (QRP) for all organisations who are registered with the CQC. It is 
seen as an essential tool for gathering key information about organisations, and assists the CQC to monitor 
how we are complying with the essential standards by identifying any risks. The CQC’s risk rating scale 
detailed below goes from reducing risk of non-compliance (green) to increasing risk of non-compliance 
(red).  
 

 
The QRP also assists us as an organisation to identify where our performance may be lower than average. 
This enables us to focus on these issues and to take relevant actions in these key areas.  
 
The most recent QRP (March 2011), summary below, highlighted that we were performing better or much 
better than other organisations in 28 areas. The QRP also highlighted a number of areas where our level of 
performance requires improvement. The priorities in the Quality Account and Annual Report reflect these 
areas and include CPA, team working and infection control.   
 

5.8 Registration of Oxford Health NHS FT on acquisition of  

5.9 Registration of Oxford Health NHS FT on acquisition of Community Health Oxfordshire 

 
In April 2011 Community Health Oxfordshire (CHO) was acquired by Oxford Health NHS FT.  Oxford 
Health NHS FT is now registered for 10 new locations (each of the eight community hospital sites and two 
prisons) and new community services attributed to the existing the Trust Headquarters (THQ) location.  
 
In total the Trust now has 21 registered locations. 
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In addition five new regulated activities were registered with the CQC. The Trust is now registered to 
provide seven regulated activities, which are;  
 

� Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained under the Mental Health Act 
� Treatment of disease, disorder or injury 
� Nursing Care 
� Diagnostic and screening procedures 
� Transport services, triage and medical advice provided 
� Family Planning 
� Surgical Procedures 

 
CHO was required to register with the Care Quality Commission and its current registration status was 
registered as of 31 March 2010; there are no conditions on registration. 
 
The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against CHO in 2010-2011. 
 
CHO advised the CQC that improvement was required with regard to records management and that a plan 
was in place to give assurance on achieving compliance with the CHO Policy and that this would be 
completed by September 2010. An internal audit review in Dec 2010 gave a rating of assurance with 
regards to records management. 
 
There has been no planned CQC review in 2010-2011, however a responsive review was undertaken and 
the findings reported in January 2011. They reviewed considered outcomes relating to:  
 

� Safeguarding people who use services from abuse  
� Cleanliness and infection control  
� Staffing  
� Supporting workers  
� Assessing and monitoring the quality of service provision  

 
The CQC concluded after review that CHO met all five outcomes assessed. A copy of the full report is 
located on the CQC website. 

5.10 Data quality 

Oxford Health NHS FT will be taking the following actions to improve data quality: 
 

� Oxford Health NHS FT has deployed a national electronic records system called RiO between 
November 2010 and April 2011.  

� We have an internal data quality improvement plan which is being actively managed, and which 
also forms part of our main contracts with our commissioners. This contract will be developed in 
2011-12.  

 
Data quality measures are reported and monitored by the Board of Directors through the Quality Report to 
ensure continued improvement.  
 

5.11 NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code Validity  

Oxford Health NHS FT submitted records during 2010-11 to the Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the 
Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the latest published data. The percentage of records in the 
published data: 

• Which included the patients valid NHS Number was: 98% 
• Which included the patients valid GP Registration Code was: 98% 

5.12 Information Governance Toolkit attainment levels 

Oxford Health NHS FT’s Information Governance Assessment Report score overall score for 2010-11 was 
79% and was rated compliant / green. Oxfordshire PCT, who were responsible for Community Health 
Oxford, were rated as non compliant/ red at 63%.  
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5.13 Clinical coding error rate 

Oxford Health NHS FT was not subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit during 2010-11 by 
the Audit Commission. 

 

5.14 Mental Health Act 

During 2010, the CQC MHA Commissioners visited the Trust on 23 occasions, visiting 22 wards, 
interviewing 63 patients detained under the Mental Health Act and scrutinising 66 sets of records. 
 
The MHA Commissioners found that patients were satisfied with the care they received from the Trust. All 
documentation regarding the original authority of detention was lawful. The majority of detained patients 
stated having had received information about their rights under the Mental Health Act in a timely fashion; 
patients leave from hospital was authorised by their Responsible Clinicians (consultants); patients capacity 
and consent to treatment had been recorded and authorised by their Responsible Clinician or a Second 
Opinion Appointed Doctor (where capacity and/or consent were not found). 
 
The Trust responded to any deficits, which had been highlighted during ward visits, as they arose 
throughout the year. In addition the CQC MHA Commission Annual Statement made eight 
recommendations, which the Trust has incorporated in an action plan to address the identified deficits in 
service, environment, and Code of Practice compliance. The Annual Statement is a public document, 
available on the CQC website, and the Trust website with our response.  

6 Part 3. Looking Back – Priorities for Improvement 2010-11 

Last year 2010-2011 our Quality Account for Oxford Health NHS FT set out ambitious targets in the areas 
of safety, patient experience and outcomes, some of which were to be achieved over the following two to 
four years. Details of these priorities and the progress we have made within the first year are outlined 
below: - 

1. Safety 
 
Oxford Health NHS FT is one of eight Mental Health Trusts participating in the Patient Safety Programme 
called Leading Improvements in Patient Safety (LIPS) co-ordinated by the NHS Institute for Innovation and 
Improvement. There were three aims agreed for this project: 
1) Reduce toward zero the number of in-patient deaths from suicide by 2012  
2) Reduce towards zero Community Deaths, of patients in our services, by 2014 
3) Increase the reporting of incidents where there is no or minimal harm by 50% by March 2012 

6.1.1 1.1 Reduce towards zero the number of in-patient deaths from suicide by 2012 

6.1.1.1 What action we took this year 

• Monthly safety audits have been carried out by ward managers to ensure the standards for care 
planning; nursing observations of patients and risk assessment are met. Since February 2011 this 
audit has been further enhanced to incorporate the National Patient Safety Agency (NPSA) suicide 
prevention toolkit standards. This helps ward staff be more aware of potential risk factors when 
undertaking patient risk assessments and helps to ensure risk plans are comprehensive. 

• Revisions made to the content of training provided to staff on assessing and managing risk. 
• We ran four Learning from Incident learning events, shared key issues of learning from incidents 

across the organisation and National themes. These included family and carer involvement, risk 
assessment, grading sexual safety incidents, care planning. Discussion specifically around 
medication incidents and information governance incidents were also explored and practice 
reflected on. 

• Newsletter published quarterly for staff identifying key points learnt from investigation of incidents. 
• New system of reviewing investigation of incidents put in place that now involves review by a Non 

Executive Director, Medical Director, Director of Nursing and Clinical Standards and the 
investigating team. This ensures a greater understanding of service strengths, weaknesses and 
potential areas for development. 
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• Integration of the aims of LIPS with the Productive Ward programme, particularly with the following 
modules: 

� Well organised ward 
� Safe and supportive observations 
� Patient Status at a glance 
� Staff handover module 
� Therapeutic Interventions 

6.1.1.2 What progress we made 

Last year the Trust had 1702 admissions to hospital, a small increase of 79 on the previous year when 
there were 1623. There was one death of a patient by suicide during a period of hospital admission. This 
incident did not take place on the ward. The patient was informal (not detained under the Mental Health 
Act) and therefore free to leave the ward.  Informal patients advising the team or requesting to leave would 
generally be subject to a review of their mental health and a review of current risks. The individual left the 
ward without agreement or informing the Clinical Team. Whilst every death is a personal tragedy the 
National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide (2009) reports that 70% of in-patient suicides occur 
off the ward and are generally informal patients (71%). Our review showed that staff followed all the correct 
procedures but the investigation highlighted the key area for improvement was in communicating with the 
family; in particular promptly informing them of changes and fully utilising their expertise and knowledge as 
part of the assessment process. This has been incorporated into the LIPS programme for the coming year.  
 
Regrettably, as reported above, we had one inpatient death, where the Coroner’s verdict is still outstanding. 
We have at least sustained the improvement made from 2008-2009 to 2009-2010 (see graph 1). 
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6.1.2 1.2 Reduce towards zero Community Suicides, of patients in our services, by 2014  

6.1.2.1 What action we took this year 

• The Community productive teams programme commenced in January 2011 which includes the 
aims from the LIPS. 

• Enhanced Risk assessment training carried out in one area (Buckinghamshire CMHTs) of the 
Trust. 

• Providing Community Teams with collated incident data relevant to their services regularly, 
essential for self monitoring.  

• Re-audit of quality of clinical risk assessments completed by teams in Quarter 4 (January - 
March 2011), the Quarter 1 2010-11 audit showed 70% of patients on CPA had a risk 
assessment less than 12 months old within the patient’s notes (sample size 187) and in 2011 
this improved to 89% (sample size 259). 

• Increased the monitoring from team level to Trust Board level of the four key elements of CPA 
(care plan in place, named care co-ordinator; risk assessment in place and review in the last six 
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months). This resulted in an improvement of all four elements being in place from 34% in 
Quarter 1 (April – June 2010) to 70% in Quarter 4 (January - March 2011). 
  

6.1.2.2 What progress we made 

In 2010-11 with a geographical population of 1.2 million in Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire there were 32 
unexpected deaths of patients in the care of our community mental health services across three 
directorates or who had received care in the previous 12 months. This is an increase on the previous year 
when there had been 26 unexpected deaths in community services.  The cause of an unexpected death is 
determined by the Coroner and there can be lengthy delays until the hearing is held and a verdict is 
reached. Graph 2 below shows the Coroners verdicts on these deaths. The verdicts indicate that in 2009-
10 we had 15 confirmed suicides.  There are still a number of outstanding Coroners hearings for deaths 
that occurred in 2010-11 so we are unable to compare years. The South Central SHA has provided 
comparative information on suicide rates for the whole population by county and that shows that the rates 
in our counties are similar to others and in line with the national average. 
 
Graph 2 
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The LIPs programme commenced in October 2010 and is still in its early stages. Initiatives building on 
measures already in place have started and will continue to progress throughout the coming year. Themes 
from investigations and priority areas for action have been identified.  

6.1.3 1.3 Increase the reporting of incidents where there is no or minimal harm by 50% by 
March 2012 

6.1.3.1 What action we took this year  

• Awareness campaign on incident reporting 
• Detailed information given to individual teams on trend analysis of incidents and incident data to 

enable them to self monitor. 

6.1.3.2 What progress we made 

The number of incidents reported has risen every year for three years. In 2008-2009 there were 3648 
incidents reported; 4086 in 2009-2010 and 4381 in 2010-2011. High reporting Trusts are considered by the 
NPSA to be more risk aware, hence our encouragement of staff to report all incidents irrespective of 
adverse impact.  68.9% of incidents our staff report have not resulted in harm, this compares to an average 
of 62.6% for all mental health Trusts on the NPSA database. For minimal harm incidents Oxford Health 
NHS FT rated 27.5% of incidents as resulting in minimal harm compared to the average of all mental health 
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trusts of 31.7%. Graphs 3 and 4 below show an incremental rise of reporting of no harm incidents over 
three years and minimal (low) harm incidents have remained static. 
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       Source: NPSA  

The National Staff Survey asks questions in relation to incidents. The percentage of staff stating they had 
witnessed potentially harmful errors, near misses or incidents in last month dropped 7% from the previous 
year, from 32% (2009) to 25% (2010). The average for all mental health trusts was 28% but the best 
performing Trust achieved a response of only 7%. The change we made in year was statistically significant. 
In contrast there was a small, but not significant, decline in staff reporting errors, near misses or incidents 
witnessed in the last month, from 97% in 2009 to 95% in 2010. The average of similar Trusts was 97%. The 
final incident question relates to the culture of error and incident reporting in their trust; whether staff are 
aware of the procedures for reporting errors and the extent to which staff feel that the trust encourages 
reporting and ensure that such incidents do not happen again. The response to this question showed a 
statistically significant improvement from 3.41 in 2009 to 3.45 in 2010 (scale 1 (ineffective/unfair 
procedures) – 5 (effective/fair procedure)), matching the average of similar Trusts. 
 
We have concluded that the actions we have taken have had an impact in terms of raising awareness of 
the importance of incident reporting, though this has not translated in a significant (8%) increase in actual 
reporting. Our ambitious aim of increasing no or minimal harm incidents by 50% may need to be extended 
beyond 2012. 
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2. Patient Experience 
We aimed to ensure that all services collected feedback from patients, considered what patients said and 
made appropriate changes. 
 
Understanding how patients feel about the services they receive and being able to share positive feedback 
across our services or make changes to improve patients experience is a common theme in our 
stakeholder meetings, in national policy and the Trust’s own values;  Caring, Safe and Excellent.  
 
Substantial improvements in our National Patient Survey results remain a challenge for the Trust, though 
we have seen a difference between the national feedback and the local feedback we receive from our 
patients at the time or shortly after their period of care, the latter being more favourable. In our last National 
Community survey we were rated “much the same as other Trusts” and in the CQC Quality and Risk Profile 
for the Trust we have a number of “better than expected” ratings, particularly in connection with dealing with 
medications and the patients’ perspective of us involving their families. 
 
The National Community Survey report indicates that the Trust is in the 20% best performing trusts in 
relation to:  

o Showing respect and dignity 
o Describing the purpose and possible side effects of medications 
o Care goal planning 
o Support for service user care responsibilities 
o Response to out of hours phone calls 
o Involvement of family members 

 
However, the Trust is in the 20% worst performing Trust in relation to: 

o Asking service user response to medication 
o Talking therapies 
o Knowing the care coordinator or how to contact them 
o Being offered a care plan 
o Physical health needs 
o Crisis phone number 

 
Improvement plans focus on strengthening our adherence to CPA procedures, including demonstrating 
engagement with patients in collaborative care planning and engagement of carers. 
 
This year we voluntarily repeated the inpatient survey required by the CQC in 2009. There was a small 
improvement from the previous year’s results, which overall meant we compared equally to the average of 
other Mental Heath Trusts but there remains a great deal to achieve to get into the top 20% of Trusts.  

6.1.3.3 What action we took this year 

In addition to the national surveys we continued to use a range of methods for gathering patient feedback, 
including: 
 

• Local patient satisfaction questionnaires  
• Patient surveys as part of the Productive Ward programme 
• Governors’ feedback 
• National Patient Surveys (Community and Inpatient) 
• Real time feedback using electronic handsets and kiosks 
• Patients and carer forums for example Patient Councils, Acute Care Forums and Article 12 Young 

People’s Panel 
• Active participation user involvement by young people in Wiltshire and Banes, including participation 

in consultant psychiatrist recruitment, decor on the inpatient and outpatient units and consultation 
on catering 

• Complaints and PALS 
 
The Trust was commended in the CQC review of Safeguarding Children in Oxfordshire for the work of Child 
and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) with the Article 12 Council, as an example of 
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collaborative working and user involvement. The full document is yet to be published. The Article 12 
Council is a group of mostly under 18s who have had experience of mental ill health. The Council works 
with Oxford Health NHS FT to help to develop services and work with CAMHS to get feedback about 
services from young people. The Council motto is “serious about being heard”. 
 
Our services in 2010 -2011 were divided into four Directorates: Adults and Older Adults in Oxfordshire; 
Adults and Older Adults in Buckinghamshire; Child and Adolescent Mental Health and Specialist Services; 
and Forensic Services. Each of these Directorates has used one or more of the above methods to collect 
and use feedback to improve the patient experience. 
 
As well as seeking patient feedback we undertook a Carers survey in collaboration with our Carer 
Governors. This survey was completed in December 2010 and a plan of change is detailed below.  
 
During 2010-11 we received 154 complaints.  National regulations require that complaints are 
acknowledged within three working days of receipt and we completed this in 96% of cases.  90% of 
complaints were responded to within the original timescale agreed but in 9% of cases we needed to agree 
an extension to the response time with the complainant.  

6.1.3.4 What progress we made 

All our services used real-time feedback devices across some of their community and inpatient settings. 
This covers the geographic areas of Oxfordshire, Buckinghamshire, Swindon, Wiltshire and BaNES. There 
are four top level Trust questions used on every device, the remaining questions being service specific (two 
questions have been modified for children’s response). The results for these are charted below (graph 5) 
for the period 7 July 2010, when the new devices were put in place, to 31 March 2011. These results are 
reported to the Board of Directors monthly.  
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6.1.3.5 Some examples of the changes we have made following patient feedback 

 
CAMHS: 
• We replaced toys and books in the waiting area in Childrens Services and purchased toys and 

books relevant to all ages.  
• Provided young people with the email address of their workers so they can maintain contact. 
Adult Services: 
• Made menu simpler, and indicated which dishes are healthy with some inclusion of calorie count.  
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• Developed a resource area for patients within one of the community team bases, with information 
on major illnesses and self help guides to treatment. 

• Development of new care plan folders for services users in community teams. 
• Improvement programme to increase compliance with CPA 
Older Adult Services: 
• An underutilised room on an older adult ward has been turned into a sensory room. This will give 

patients the opportunity to access a variety of sensory items/equipment, or a quiet place to sit.  
• Replaced signage in words and picture format on doors on ward to distinguish between dining 

room, toilet and female/male corridors.  
• Environmental improvements in older adult wards. 
Specialist Services: 
• Community Team will now offer flexible appointment durations and discuss length of appointments 

before they start (sessions max 1hr, but can be less). 
• Provided patients with more choice about which occupational therapy activities they would like to 

participate in.  
 

All Mental Health Trusts were required to carry out the CQC National Community Survey in 2010 and 
submit their data to the CQC for analysis. Our result remained largely static and we were rated as about the 
same as other Trusts in all categories. We did make improvements on the previous survey where we were 
ranked in the lowest performing Trusts in patients knowing who their care co-ordinator is; speaking with 
Care Co-ordinator prior to CPA review meeting; patients having a written copy of the care plan and knowing 
the number to call in a crisis. 

6.1.3.6 Actions we intend to make following Carer survey feedback 

• Carer Governors to review and develop consistent carer’s information pack for all community and 
inpatient areas to give out to all new identified carers 

• Information leaflet on carer confidentiality to be reviewed 
• Customer service training to be rolled out for ward staff 
• CPA training to be reviewed to include section on importance of engaging with families/ carers 
• Carer Governors to have slot at mandatory staff induction training alongside our carer 

representative 
• Develop a Carers charter 

6.1.3.7 Complaints 

During 2010-11 we received 154 complaints.  National regulations require that complaints are 
acknowledged within three working days of receipt and we completed this in 96% of cases.  90% of 
complaints were responded to within the original timescale agreed but in 9% of cases we needed to agree 
an extension to the response time with the complainant.  
 
The Trust was notified of eight cases that had been referred to the Parliamentary and Health Service 
Ombudsman (PHSO) for consideration.  Two of these cases have been closed with no recommendations 
made. The PHSO advised the Trust to send a further response to one of the complainants to try again to 
resolve their concerns.  The remaining five cases remain open at this time. 
Where there has been higher than expected numbers of complaints in teams we have instigated service 
reviews or investigated further. Further details on complaints can be found in our Annual report.  

6.2 3. Measuring Outcomes 

The Health of the Nations Outcome Scale (HoNOS) consists of 12 categories measuring behaviour, 
impairment, symptoms and social functioning. The use of HoNOS was recommended in the National 
Service Framework for Mental Health and by the working group to the Department of Health on outcome 
indicators for severe mental illnesses. It is also recognised as an integral part of the Mental Health 
Minimum Data Set. 
 
Last year our target was to increase the use of the HoNOS. We started from a baseline of 20% and by year 
end over 80% of patients had a HoNOS rating. This year we aimed to increase the number of patients who 
had two or more ratings; one at the commencement of treatment and one either on completion or at the 
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next review of their care plan. The purpose of having repeated ratings is to determine whether and in what 
areas progress has been made, and whether changes to the treatment plan are required. 

6.2.1.1 What action we took this year  

• Monitoring and management action to ensure quarter on quarter improvement. 

6.2.1.2 What progress we made 

This work was supported by a CQUIN goal that required a 10% improvement from baseline, quarter on 
quarter. The baseline at quarter one was 26.1% this goal was achieved by year ending 31 March 2011 as 
indicated in graph 6 below.  
 
Graph 6 
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6.2.2 Other quality initiatives 

 
Included below are some further examples of initiatives or achievements in 2010-2011. Further details and 
further examples are regularly published in the Trusts newsletter, Insight Magazine available on the Trust 
website. http://www.oxfordhealth.nhs.uk/ 

6.2.2.1 Productive Programme (Releasing time to Care) 

The Productive Mental Health Ward Programme has now engaged 14 of the 26 mental health wards in the 
Trust, with the final four forensic wards rolling out in May 2011. Therefore, the SHA target of 80% roll out by 
April 2012 is on target.  All wards are at various stages of the programme. Where wards have been 
engaged in the programme for more than one year, significant increase in Direct Care Time has been 
achieved ranging from 2-40% for RMNs (Registered Mental Health Nurses) and from 1-21% for HCAs 
(Healthcare Assistants). 
 
There have been significant decreases in the rates that nursing staff are being interrupted from an activity, 
the decreases range from 13% to 88%. Examples of interruptions are phone calls, other clinical staff asking 
questions, dealing with visitors. The distance staff spend walking to complete tasks has decreased in some 
areas. Because our staff can frequently escort patients off the unit this indicator is usually measured 
against specific activities rather than shifts.  
 
Examples of releasing time and enhancing quality includes: 36 hours a month released from the mealtime 
process on Kennet Ward (Littlemore, Oxford); 8 hours a month released from organising leave from the 
ward granted to detained patients (the S17 leave process) on Woodlands Ward (Manor House, Aylesbury); 
15 hours per month from the S17 leave process on Chaffron Ward (Marlborough House, Milton Keynes); 
and a reduction of 20 hours per month in handover between shifts process on Chaffron Ward. Vaughan 
Thomas Ward (Warneford, Oxford) have implemented and continued to refine the therapeutic programme 
of activities for patients. Kennet Ward have introduced Therapy Workers for focused time with patients, 
Woodlands Ward have significantly reduced their interruptions to medication rounds. Cotswold House 
(Marlborough) has implemented a new ward clinical meeting process to reduce Nurses walking time.  
Patients now have agreed appointment times to attend their review with the clinical team, resulting in a 
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reduction in waiting time for patients and a reduction in time nurses spend searching the ward for patients. 
The team are now able to review 12 patients in the time previously identified for 8 patients. 
 
In addition, our focus throughout 2010-11 has been on ensuring we are getting the basics of care right in 
day to day clinical practice. This has included a focus from the Board of Directors on compliance with the 
care programme approach, observations of care, supervision arrangements and infection control.  

6.2.2.2 Dementia Strategy  

We secured funding from the Strategic Health Authority via Bucks PCT, for an initial phase of mapping out 
current service provision against the requirements of the Dementia Strategy and the needs of the local 
population. This will be a whole system approach to delivering services and the project is being driven by 
the Dementia Strategy Implementation Board, which comprises of various agencies providing services to 
people and families of people with dementia. 

6.2.2.3 Implementing “real time feedback” (RTF) 

The organisation that provides the licence and software to the Trust for the “real time feedback” (RTF) 
devices which are used to gather patient experience of services, has asked the Trust to publish a case 
study on the benefits of RTF after the Trust’s extensive use of devices since July 2010.  This was 
requested because the Trust has implemented it across a range of age groups, care settings and 
geographical areas and has achieved large response rates.  

6.2.2.4 Forensic Patients’ Council 

We have facilitated Commissioners receiving direct feedback from patients by the Specialist 
Commissioning Group attending joint Forensic Patient Council bi-annually to discuss the quality of the 
service, including performance against CQUIN goals and the commissioning of services. 

6.2.2.5 True Colours  

Simon Burns (Minister of State for Health) recognised the research which has been piloted through the 
University of Oxford’s Department of Psychiatry, in partnership with Oxford Health NHS FT in his speech at 
‘The Vision for Sustainable Health: A Route Map’ conference in Feb 2011. True Colours provides an easy 
way for people with bipolar disorder to complete weekly mood monitoring via text messages or e-mail. The 
ratings are promptly made available to those completing the questionnaires and their clinicians in a graph 
which allows for a greater understanding of an individual's experience of bipolar disorder over time. 
Clinicians are able to recognise from the messages received if a patient needs more help or assistance, 
and are able to ensure that patients in this situation are proactively contacted. This is a system that is liked 
by patients who feel it gives them more control of their care and lives. 

6.3 Quality Measures 2010-2012 Inclusive 

6.3.1 Department of Health and Monitor Targets 

 
Table 5 below identifies our levels of attainment against the targets set by the Department of Health and 
Monitor: 
Table 5 
 

Indicator Target 2009/10 
position 

2010/11 
position 

RAG 
Statu
s 

Patients receiving follow-up contact within 
seven days of discharge   

95% 
 

96.2% 95.5%  
 

Patients having formal review within 12 
months   

95% 
 

Not 
required 

84.6%  
 

Minimising mental health delayed 
transfers of care   

≤7.5 2.1% 2.5%  
 

Admissions to inpatients services had 
access to crisis resolution home treatment 

90% 96.2% 98.2%  
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teams 
New psychosis cases  seen by early 
intervention teams (13) 

95%  
 

96.0% 111.0%  
 

Data completeness: identifier information 
for patients 

99% Not 
required 

99.1%  
 

Data completeness: outcomes for patients 50%  Not 
required 

67.6%  
 

Access to healthcare for people with a 
learning disability 

6 standards 
Rated 1-4 
Max score 24 

16 19 n/a 

Retention of drug mis-users in effective 
treatment 

n/a 86% 
(208) 

83% 
(Q4) 
(235) 

n/a 

     
    
Best practice in mental health services for 
people with a learning disability 

12 standards 
 
 

5 green 
7 amber 

7 green 
5 amber 

n/a 

Effectiveness of Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 

6 standards 
Rated 1-4 
Max score 24 

23 24 n/a 

Ethnic coding data quality  83.2% 88.6% n/a 
Mental Health Minimum Data Set 
(MHMDS) data completeness 

  99.1% n/a 

Mental Health Minimum Data Set 
(MHMDS) patterns of care 

  94%  n/a 
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7 Annex 1. Statements from our Partners on the Quality Account 

NHS Oxfordshire 
 
NHS Oxfordshire have reviewed the Oxford Health NHS FT Quality Account on behalf of patients in 
Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire.  The three domains of quality used in the assessment are patient 
experience, patient safety and clinical effectiveness. There is evidence that the Trust has relied on both 
internal and external assurance mechanisms and NHS Oxfordshire is satisfied as to the accuracy of the 
data contained in the Account.  
 
From the 1st April 2011, community health services in Oxfordshire have been integrated into Oxford Health 
NHS FT. NHS Oxfordshire will be closely monitoring the quality of services at Oxford Health NHS FT during 
2011/12 to ensure that all aspects of services provided remain and high quality and it is not adversely 
affected by this integration. 
 
It should be noted that this Quality Account retrospectively looks at the mental health services provided by 
the Trust and that the priorities set out by Oxford Health NHS FT focus on both community and mental 
health services. NHS Oxfordshire broadly agrees with the priorities that the Trust has identified for 2011/12 
and with the fact that the priorities covers the services as a whole. 
 
NHS Oxfordshire recognise that the Trust have taken on board the comments made by the PCT last year 
by simplifying the content to enable patients to better understand the Account and by including some 
information on clinical outcomes. However, NHS Oxfordshire would like to see the Trust produce greater 
information on clinical outcomes, recovery and benchmarking against its peers as this will help to provide a 
more open and transparent view to patients and the public. NHS Oxfordshire asks that the Trust to continue 
to have the patient voice at the core of service delivery. 
 
The Trust should consider writing brief details of the quality improvement initiatives that have been 
implemented as a result of CQUIN and not solely focus on the funding received as a result of CQUIN. 
 
The primary purpose of Quality Accounts is to encourage boards and leaders of healthcare organisations to 
assess quality across all of the services they offer. This document achieves this objective and provides a 
good overview of the quality of care within the Trust. NHS Oxfordshire looks forward to continuing to work 
alongside the Trust in meeting the priorities set out in this Quality Account.  
 

Oxfordshire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
The HOSC will not be commenting on the Quality Account. 

Buckinghamshire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
The PHOSC has no comments or feedback to add.  

Buckinghamshire Local Involvement Network 
LINKs are unable to offer detailed comments on the document due to time constraints before the deadline. 
However, the LINk looks forward to working with you in the future. 

Oxfordshire Local Involvement Network 
No comments were received from the Oxfordshire LINk. 
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8 Annex 2. 2010/11 Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Quality Report  

 
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) 
Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. 
 
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual quality 
reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the arrangements that foundation trust 
boards should put in place to support the data quality for the preparation of the quality report. 
 
In preparing the quality report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 
 
• the content of the quality report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 

Reporting Manual 2010-11; 
• the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of information 

including: 
 

� Board minutes and papers for the period April 2010 to June 2011 
� Papers relating to Quality reported to the Board of Directors over the period April 2010 to June 2011 
� Feedback from the commissioners dated 02/06/2011 
� Feedback from governors dated 10/05/2011 
� Feedback from LINks dated 03/06/2011 
� Feedback from HOSC dated 19/05/2011 
� The Trust’s draft complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social 

Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009 was considered at the Integrated Governance 
Committee on 05/05/2011 and is subject to revisions. 

� The 2010 national patient survey  
� The 2010 national staff survey  
� The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment dated 21 April 

2011 
� CQC quality and risk profiles dated October 2010 to March 2011 

 
• the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s performance over the 

period covered; 
• the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate; 
• there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance 

included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are working 
effectively in practice; 

• the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is robust and 
reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to 
appropriate scrutiny and review; and the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with 
Monitor’s annual reporting guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations) (published 
at www.monitornhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to support data quality 
for the preparation of the Quality Report (available at 
www.monitornhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual). 

 
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the Quality Report. 
 
By order of the Board 

29 June 2011 Date              Chairman 
 

29 June 2011 Date           Chief Executive 
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9 Annex 3. Examples of Actions taken following Trust Internal Clinical Audits 2010-2011 

 
 

 Title of Audit Key Actions  
1 Child Protection Reviewed mandatory child protection training to include completion of the 

generic multi-agency referral forms.    
2 CPA Quarterly 

Full Audit 
Revised the CPA policy and streamlined documentation.  
 
The CPA lead who was previously employed for Oxford services now 
cover CPA across the organisation.  
 
Revised the Trust policy on advance statements and the patient 
information leaflet.  

3 Dementia audit 
against NICE 
guidance. 

We will be developing e-training for staff on use of advanced statements/ 
decisions. 
 
We will review our standard carers information packs (to include 
information on carers rights, access to carer’s assessment, contact details 
of Carer Governors and a new Carers Charter being developed).  

4 Essence of Care Hospital Chaplain  now visit all wards on a monthly basis 
 
Additional storage cupboards for patient’s food to be fitted.. 
 
One ward set an action for all current inpatients to receive an oral health 
assessment to identify patients who have oral/dental problems. 
 
We have displayed posters in patient areas to indicate how patients can 
access information and or advice e.g. information for patients about who 
have access to their records, advocacy. 
 
Reminder to staff to wear name badges when seeing patients and carers. 

5 Health records Guidance has been circulated on record keeping standards for electronic 
records. The defaults settings for electronic records reset to meet 
mandatory requirements.  

6 Medicine 
Management 

Replacement programme of drug cupboards in some clinical areas. 

7 The Safe And 
Supportive 
Observation Of 
Patients At Risk 
Policy 

Audit findings were disseminated to Modern Matrons in March 2011, local 
action plans are now in development.  

8 Hand Hygiene Improve access to hand washing equipment including Improved access to 
individual tottles (small bottles containing anti-bacterial gel that are clipped 
to the belt). 
 

9 Catheter Care Introduce training session and guidance on catheter care via e-learning 
package.  

10 Product 
availability 

Improve access to products (e.g. gloves, aprons, soap) through the 
Infection Control Team working closely with estates and housekeeping 
and regularly completing spot checks on wards. 

11 Commodes When standards declined we increased monitoring in 5 clinical areas until 
standards improved and reached the  85%  target  
 

12 Schizophrenia A standard letter was designed and has been in use since Feb 2011 to 
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 Title of Audit Key Actions  
against NICE 
guidance for new 
episodes(Bucks) 

send to GPs requesting results of physical health checks. 
  
Information for patients: - a booklet has been developed for service users 
and carers which includes information about NICE guidance. 

13 Self Harm 
presentations at 
A&E 

To develop a training schedule with assessment and intervention modules 
accessible for all staff doing self harm assessments in the under 18 age 
group. 
 
To set up a supervision group for the crisis team and SHOs. 
 
Copies of all relevant assessment forms and information leaflets relating to 
self harm are now kept in the Barnes Unit duty room and the junior doctors 
room at the Warneford and the Horton to improve staff access to specialist 
assessment forms 

14 CAMHS You’re 
Welcome Self 
Assessment 

To develop a new information leaflet for under 16s with the involvement of 
Children/Young People’s panel. 
 
To develop a poster on Confidentiality and Consent with the Article 12 
group to be displayed in community clinic areas. 
A checklist for reception staff to regularly review display material was 
developed in March 2011. 
 
Audit of CAMHS to adult transition protocols has been completed Feb-
March 2011 to improve the smooth transition of young people. 
Recommendations from audit include each team to set up a system to 
identify young people at 17.5 on caseload and to monitor transition 
planning and liaison with adult service. 

15 Audit against 
Depression NICE 
guidelines in 
CAMHS 

We have revised a CPA form for CAMHS, which now includes a new 
question asking about assessment of parental mental health. 
 

16 Carers Survey 
Adults and Older 
Adults 

Carer Governors plan to review and develop consistent carer’s information 
pack for all community and inpatient areas to give out to all new identified 
carers.  
To review our information leaflet on carer confidentiality. 
 
Develop customer service training for ward staff. 
 
Training programmes for inpatient staff relating to confidentiality, consent 
and engaging with families and carers  
 
 CPA training has been reviewed to include the importance of engaging 
with families/ carers. This part of the training is now delivered by carers 
through our local carer support groups.  
 
We have identified carer leads on each ward to raise awareness and 
promote carer engagement. 
 
Carer Governors to have slot at mandatory staff induction training to 
promote the importance of involvement with carers.  
 
Develop a carer’s charter and our findings are to be incorporated into the 
review of Trust wide Carers Strategy from March 2011. 

17 Inpatient Physical 
Health 
Assessments 

Our quality tool GtBR has been reviewed by Modern Matrons to develop 
monitoring of inpatient physical health checks within 72 hours of 
admission. 
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 Title of Audit Key Actions  
We plan to introduce Early Warning Signs clinical observation system 
across all wards to include introduction of new monitoring form and 
training for staff, led by Physical health Lead Nurse. 

 
 
Statements from partners on the Quality Account 2009/10 
 
OBMH - Quality Accounts – NHS Oxfordshire Statement  
NHS Oxfordshire has reviewed the Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health Trust Quality Account. 
The Quality Account provides information across the three areas of quality as set out by Lord Darzi: patient 
safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness. The PCT is satisfied as to the accuracy of the data 
contained in the Account. There is evidence that the Trust has relied on both internal and external 
assurance mechanisms. The Trust prioritised physical health; patient experience and measuring outcomes 
last year and although there is detailed information on physical health and patient experience there is 
limited information on clinical outcomes. The Trust have participated in a national project led by the Kings 
Fund in partnership with the Burdett Trust for Nursing aimed at understanding better how NHS boards 
assure themselves about the quality of clinical care that patients receive and this may help improve this 
aspect of the account. 
 
The Trust details a number of initiatives relating to patient safety and is to take part in the Leading in Patient 
Safety (LIPS) programme. The aims of the project are to:  
o reduce to zero the number of in-patient deaths from suicide by 2012;  
o reduce to zero Community Deaths, of patients in our services, by 2014;  
o increase reporting of lower rated incidents (less harmful) by 50% March 2012.  

It is expected that the Trust will report progress in future quality accounts. 
 
The Trust should consider simplifying the content to enable patients to better understand the accounts and 
in future include more detailed information to compare their clinical outcomes for high volume conditions 
such as depression and schizophrenia to what would be expected nationally. The primary purpose of 
Quality Accounts is to encourage boards to assess quality across the totality of services they offer and this 
document does not fully allow the board to achieve this goal. NHS Oxfordshire recognises that this is the 
first year of production and would expect to see more detailed information in future years.  
 
Response from Oxfordshire Joint Health and Scrutiny Committee 
Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the OBMH Quality Account. I have discussed this with the 
Chairman of the Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OJHOSC). In view of the fact 
that HOSC’s are now able to share information with CQC about NHS providers at any time during the year, 
the OJHOSC will not be commenting on the Quality Account but will reserve the right to comment on Trust 
services on occasions when such comment is appropriate. 
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10 Annex 4 Auditor’s Statement of Assurance 
 
Independent Assurance report to the Members’ Council (Board of Governors) of Oxford Health NHS 
Foundation Trust on the Annual Quality Report 
 
I have been engaged by the Board of Governors of Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust to perform an 
independent assurance engagement in respect of the content of the Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust’s 
Quality Report for the year ended 31 March 2011 (the ‘Quality Report’). 
 
Scope and subject matter 
I read the Quality Report and considered whether it addresses the content requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, and consider the implications for my report if I become aware 
of any material omissions. 
 
Respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditor 
The Directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report in accordance with 
the criteria set in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2010/11 issued by the Independent 
Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (‘Monitor’). 
 
My responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether anything has 
come to my attention that causes me to believe that the content of the Quality Account is not in accordance 
with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual or is inconsistent with the documents. 
 
I read the other information contained in the Quality Report and considered whether it is materially 
inconsistent with: 

• Board Minutes for the period April 2010 to April 2011; 
• Papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2010 to April 2011; 
• Feedback from Commissioners dated 2 June 2011; 
• Feedback from Governors dated 10 May 2011 
• Feedback from LINks dated 3 June 2011; 
• The Trust’s complaints report due to be published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social 

Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, draft dated 9 May 2011; 
• The 2010 national patient survey; 
• The 2010 national staff survey; 
• The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment dated 12 April 

2011; 
• Care Quality Commission quality and risk profiles dated March 2011 

 
I considered the implications of my report if I became aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the ‘documents’). My responsibilities do not extend to 
any other information. 
 
This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Board of Governors for Oxford 
Health NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Board of Governors in reporting Oxford Health NHS 
Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and activities. I permit the disclosure of this report within 
the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2011, to enable the Board of Governors to demonstrate it 
has discharged its governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent assurance report in 
connection with the Quality report. To the fullest extent permitted by law, I do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Board of Governors as a body and Oxford Health NHS Foundation 
Trust for my work or this report save where terms are expressly agreed and with my prior consent in 
writing. 
 
Assurance work performed 
I conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information’ issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (ISAE 3000). 
My limited assurance procedures included: 
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• Making enquiries of management; 
• Comparing the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual to the 

categories reported in the Quality Report; and 
• Reading the documents as listed above. 

A limited assurance engagement is less in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement. The nature, 
timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative 
to a reasonable assurance engagement. 
 
Limitations 
It is important to read the Quality Report in the context of the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting manual. 
 
Conclusion 
Based on the results of my procedures, nothing has come to my attention that causes me to believe that, 
for the year ended 31 March 2011, the content of the Quality Report is not in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 
 

 
Phil Sharman 
Officer of the Audit Commission 
  
Audit Commission 
Unit 5 ISIS Business Centre 
Horspath Road 
Oxford  
OX4 2RD 
 
29 June 2011 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

63 
 

Regulatory Ratings 

The Board of Directors is required to submit a quarterly report to Monitor. These reports are used by 
Monitor to assign the Trust with financial, governance, and mandatory goods and service risk ratings. The 
ratings are designed to indicate the risk of failure to comply with the Terms of Authorisation. The ratings 
used by Monitor are described below: 
 
Financial risk rating 

1. Highest risk - high probability of significant breach of authorisation in short-term, e.g. less than 12 
months, unless remedial action is taken 

2. Risk of significant breach in medium-term, e.g. 12 to 18 months, in absence of remedial action 
3. Regulatory concerns in one or more components. Significant breach unlikely 
4. No regulatory concerns 
5. Lowest risk - no regulatory concerns 

 
Governance risk rating 

Red - concern that issue(s) significantly breaches authorization 
Amber - concerns about one or more aspects of governance 
Green - governance arrangements comply with authorisation 

 
Mandatory services risk rating 

Red - concern that issue(s) significantly breaches authorisation 
Amber - concerns about one or more aspects of mandatory services 
Green - mandatory services comply with authorisation 

 
During 2010-11, the Trust’s ratings were: 
 

 Annual Plan Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Financial 
Risk Rating 

4 4 4 4 4 

Governance 
Risk rating 

Green Green Green Green Green 

Mandatory 
Service 

Green Green Green Green Green 

 
 
During 2009-10, the Trust’s ratings were: 
 

 Annual Plan Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Financial 
Risk Rating 

3 5 4 4 4 

Governance 
Risk rating 

Green Green Green Green Green 

Mandatory 
Service 

Green Green Green Green Green 

 
Performance 
The Financial Risk Rating throughout the year was in line with plan. 
 
During 2010-11, the Trust maintained a Green Governance rating in line with plan. 
 
Mandatory Services were rated Green throughout the year in line with the Annual Plan. 
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Financial performance for 2010-11 
 
The Trust’s Director of Finance was Duncan Smith up to 31 July 2010. From 1 August 2010 Gareth 
Kenworthy has been Acting Director of Finance. In addition to corporate responsibilities as an Executive 
Director of the Board, the Director of Finance has the responsibilities to provide financial governance and 
assurance to the Board.  
 
The Trust’s financial position and end of year Accounts are detailed in the Summary Financial Statements 
on page 81 of this report. The accounts are prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
The Financial year 2010-11 is referred to as FY11, the financial year 2009-10 as FY10 etc. 
 
Financial highlights 
 

• Total income for the Trust increased by £19.9m, 12.7% of the £175.9m total Income 
 

• Income from activities was up £16.3m, 13.4% at £137.6m 
 

• Operating surplus up £5.9m to £9.5m, £4.1m of this improvement has arisen due to an asset 
impairment and loss on disposals in the previous financial year 

 
• Surplus margin up 11 base percentage points against last year to 2.6% 
 
• Return on assets of 7.0%, up from 5.2%, reflecting a lower average asset base compared to the 

prior year due to asset impairments incurred in 2009-10 
 
 
Key performance indicators (KPIs) 
 

Monitor Financial Risk Metrics for the year ending 31 March 2011 

 
 

Plan Actual  Variance   
Underlying Performance: 
EBITDA % YTD     7.1%     6.9% -0.2%   

Achievement of Plan: 
EBITDA % achieved YTD  100.0%   97.2% -2.8%   

Financial Efficiency: 
Return on Assets YTD    6.3%    7.0%   0.7%   
I&E Surplus Margin % YTD    2.2%    2.6%   0.4%  

Liquidity: 
Liquid Ratio YTD    35.6    42.0    6.4   
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Trust Performance 
The Trust’s full-year results reflect a sound performance. The Trust, and its predecessor Trusts, have 
maintained as a minimum a break-even position for nine consecutive years and in the last four years, a 
surplus before exceptional items. These surpluses are available to invest back into the Trust’s plan to 
improve its services. 
 
 

 
 
 

2010-11 Statement of Comprehensive Income Summary 

 
 
 £000 

Total Income  175,897 

Expenses (166,422) 
Operating Surplus    9,475 

Loss on disposal           0 

Finance income/expense   (1,220) 

Dividends paid to Government   (3,566) 

Surplus before exceptional items    4,689 

Impairment of assets           0 

Retained Surplus   4,689 
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Total income increased by £19.9m (12.7%) to £175.9m, compared to last year. The Trust’s main 
commissioners remained the Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire PCTs, which account for 68.2% of the 
clinical activity income. Income from clinical activities increased by £16.3m (13.4%) to £137.6m largely 
driven by new contracts won by the Trust during the year, notably within CAMHS and specialist services, 
together with increases in existing block contracts. 
 
Income from other activities increased by £3.6m (10.3%) to £38.3m, principally relating to Research and 
Development and the Health Innovation and Education Cluster (HIEC).  
 
Operating expenses increased by £14.0m (9.2%) to £166.4m, mainly attributable to costs incurred 
delivering patient care activity for new and existing contracts.  
 
The majority of operating expenses relate to pay costs, which have increased by £11.8m, 11.5% to 
£114.2m. This reflects the new services delivered in 2010-11 and inflationary uplifts.  
 
Capital expenditure 
Capital spend in 2010-11 was £3.4m, compared with £10.5m in the previous year. The 
Trust’s main capital investment areas were: 
 

• Manor House, Aylesbury (£1.2m) - preparation for a new hospital which is due to be opened mid 
2013. 
 

• Highfield unit, Oxford (£0.5m) – work commenced on a new inpatient unit for young adults, which is 
planned to open in the autumn of 2012. 

 
• IT Infrastructure development (£0.6m). 

 
Cash flow and net debt 
The Trust’s cash position has improved by £5.6m during the year as a result of reduced capital spend and 
an improved operating surplus.  
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The Trust generated £15.3m in operating cash flow, up 16.3% on the prior year, primarily as a result of the 
increase in operating surplus. 
 
The Trust’s gearing ratio, which measures the proportion of debt compared to net equity, reduced to 12.4%, 
with year-end net debt decreasing by £0.6m to £13.8m.  
 
The Trust’s liquidity ratio, which measures the number of days of liquid assets held to meet future operating 
expenses, increased from 33 days to 42 days in 2010-11. 
 
Return on invested capital 
Return on assets was 7.0%, 1.8% higher than the previous year’s 5.2%, reflecting the reduced asset base 
for the full year of 2010-11. 
 
Total assets employed 
Total assets employed increased by £4.6m, 4.3% to £111.5m, reflecting the improved cash position. 
 

 
 
 
Health Act flexibilities 
The Trust operates three provider pooled budgets under Section 75 Health Act Flexibilities, where health 
and local authority funding is brought together to deliver integrated services and seamless pathways of 
care. The value of the pools at 31st March 2011 was as follows: 
 

• Oxfordshire - £28.4m (£28.4m, 2009-10) 
• Buckinghamshire Adult - £9.6m,(£13.8m, 2009-10) 
• Buckinghamshire Older Adult – £3.1m (£5.1m, 2009-10) 
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• The local government contribution to the pooled budgets and spend are excluded from the accounts 
of the Trust. However, the Board of Directors’ performance monitoring of the Section 75 agreements 
includes local authority targets. 

 
Better payment practice code 2010-11 
The Trust’s performance against the Better Payment Practice Code is shown in the table below: 
 

Number £000 
Measure of Compliance: 
 
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year   33,697  53,368   
Total Non NHS trade invoices paid within target*   30,700  51,229 
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within Target  91.1%  96.0% 
 
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year    1,796  14,125 
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target*    1,699  13,730  
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within Target  94.6%  97.2% 
 
 
*Target - The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all undisputed invoices by the 
due date or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later. 91.1% of the total 
number of non-NHS invoices received and processed were paid within the 30 day target, 96.0% by total 
value. The Trust is continually seeking to improve its invoice payment processes and improve performance 
against this Code. No interest was incurred under the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 
1998. 
 
Countering fraud and corruption 
The Board of Directors is absolutely committed to maintaining an honest, open and well intentioned 
atmosphere within the Trust. It is therefore committed to eliminating any fraud within the Trust, and to the 
rigorous investigation of any such cases. Where any acts of fraud or corruption are proven, the Trust will 
ensure that the culprits are appropriately dealt with, and will also take all appropriate steps to recover any 
losses in full. The reporting procedures are detailed in the Trust’s Counter Fraud policy which is available 
on the Trust’s Intranet along with other useful information about countering fraud. It is the Trust’s policy that 
an employee should not suffer detriment as a result of reporting reasonably held suspicions. 
 
Any reasonably held suspicions should normally be reported to the Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) 
or Director of Finance. Serious concerns may also be raised using the Trust’s Public Interest Disclosure 
(Whistle Blowing) Policy. Reports on any counter fraud activity are made to the Audit Committee. 
 
Performance summary for 2010-11 (FY11) 
The Board of Directors receives a Quality Report on a monthly basis covering service user and carer 
experience, workforce, clinical effectiveness and safety. The following section highlights some of the key 
performance indicators. 
 
The Trust uses a Red, Amber, Green (RAG) traffic light system to flag if performance is below, on or above 
target. The Financial year 2010-11 is referred to as FY11, the financial year 2009-10 as FY10 etc. 
 
Performance indicators FY11 

Target / 
Benchmark Actual  Status 

Service user and Carer Experience 
 
Delayed transfers of care    <7.5%  2.5%      � 
 
Number of clients accessing the Crisis Team prior to 
admission to an inpatient service    90.0%  98.2%      � 
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A 'Fit for Purpose' environment   95.0%  95.0%      � 
 
Adults on CPA reviewed in last 12 months  95.0%  84.6%      � 
 
 
The Trust did not meet the target to review adults on CPA within 12 months in FY11. The Trust has set a 
more challenging internal target for FY12 and aims to review 100% of adults on CPA within 6 months. 
 

  
 
 
 

Target / 
Benchmark Actual  Status 

Clinical Outcomes 
 
Emergency readmissions within 28 days of discharge 3.2%   3.8%      � 
 
Percentage of paired HoNOS scores   40.0%  47.3%      � 
 
New psychosis cases seen by  
Early Intervention teams      95.0%            111.0%      � 
 
Data completeness: Outcomes   50.0%  67.6%      � 
 
 
 
Emergency readmissions within 28 days of discharge have increased in FY11 by 0.3% to 3.8%. In FY12 
the Trust aims to reduce the number of readmissions by careful discharge planning and assertive follow up. 
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Source: SEPHO: South East Public Health Observatory 
 
 

Target / 
Benchmark Actual  Status 

Safety 
 
Patients receiving follow up contact 
Within 7 days of inpatient discharge   95.0%  95.5%      � 
 
Data completeness: Identifiers   99.0%  99.1%      � 
 
 
 

Target / 
Benchmark Actual  Status 

Workforce 
 
Staff sickness rate     3.5%  4.1%      � 
 
% of staff with Personal Development Reviews 85.0%  76.0%      � 
 
Mandatory training completed in the last 12 months 85.0%  87.0%      � 
 
Use of bank and agency staff    5.0%  4.1%      � 
 
 
The average sickness absence for the FY year 2010/11 was 4.1%. The year included a period of significant 
organisational change which triggered an increase overall sick absence in the early months. This trend 
stabilised after a few months. Overall, in year long term sickness cases have increased but are subject to 
constant review by managers and HR staff. There have been a number of medical discharges and Ill Health 
retirements in the year. 
 
HR and Occupational Health (OH) staff are increasingly working together to provide more focused and 
consistent advice to managers. OH advisors dedicated to a particular Division, is being trialled. In the last 
quarter of the year most areas actually reduced in sickness overall and it is anticipated that this will remain 
a steady trend. In the next few months, it is planned to focus specifically on persistent short term absence 
to achieve improvement in that area and to combine this where possible, with improved local recording of 
short term absence. 
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The Trust set a target of reducing bank and agency spend to a maximum of 5.0% of the total pay bill in 
FY11. The actual spend was 4.1%, a reduction of 1.4% on FY10 as a result of targeted management action 
and the introduction of ‘sessional’ contracts that have been issued to the Trust’s own staff who work extra 
hours. 
 

 
 
Contracted activity performance FY11 
 
In FY11 the Trust delivered 1.1% more inpatient activity, 6.0% more community activity and 6.8% more Day 
Care activity across all agreed contracts. The majority of the over performance was within block 
agreements, where the activity was provided for an agreed level of funding. This meant that the additional 
activity did not attract any additional income, which is why the ratings below are shown as amber/red. 
 
Contracted activity (Block and C&V)   Target  Actual  Rating 
 
Inpatient services - Occupied bed days    140,131 141,634    � 
 
Outpatient & Community services - Contacts   212,603 225,459    � 
 
Day care services - Attendees     2530  2701      � 
 

Future performance and outlook 
 
NHS Oxfordshire community provider services 
On the 29 March 2010 the Trust was notified it had been successful in its application to NHS Oxfordshire to 
become the preferred partner for the future provision of community health services in Oxfordshire.  These 
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services were previously provided by an arm’s length body, Community Health Oxfordshire, within the 
overall legal entity of NHS Oxfordshire.  The value of these services is c. £93 million per annum. 
 
On 31 March 2011, the Trust and NHS Oxfordshire entered into a legal contract for the Trust to provide 
these services for a period of three years from 1 April 2011.  This transaction has been approved by the 
Trust’s Board of Directors, the Board of NHS Oxfordshire, the Strategic Health Authority, the Department of 
Health Competition and Co-operation Panel and reviewed by Monitor (the independent regulator for 
Foundation Trusts). 
 
The Trust has worked closely with NHS Oxfordshire and the senior team in Community Health Oxfordshire 
during 2010-11 to prepare for the integration of services. 
 
Finance 
The Trust, like the rest of the NHS, is facing an extremely challenging financial environment.  There has 
been a global financial crisis that has had an impact on the NHS and the financial outlook suggests that this 
impact will continue for the coming years.  We already know that the NHS will receive no growth funding, 
smaller increases in inflation funding and be faced with increasing efficiency targets year-on-year. The 
result of this will be a net real term reduction in income year-on-year. 
 
The financial strategy for the Trust for 2011/12 to 2013/14 has been produced in response to this 
challenging economic environment, to find headroom from within existing resources to maintain and 
improve existing levels and quality of patient care. It is built on the firm financial foundations laid by the 
Trust in the previous three years, since becoming a Foundation Trust.  The Trust will continue to be 
proactive in responding to the economic recession and the potential impact on public service funding, 
through: 
 

• Strengthening financial governance 
• Targeting reductions in overhead costs, including support service functions 
• Ensuring real health gain in all investments 
• Driving increased productivity and quality with no net increase in funding 
• Planning for the delivery of national cash releasing efficiency targets at a level that is higher than 

seen before in the NHS 
• Mitigating financial risk through forward planning and contingencies. 

 
The key highlights of the Financial Plan for 2011/12 to 2013/14 are: 
 

• The Trust is targeting a financial risk rating of 3 over the next two years, and a 4 in 2013/14; 
• Planning for normalised surpluses (excluding non-recurrent items) of £4.7m, £4.9m and £6.1m in 

each of the next three years, giving a surplus margin of at least 1.8% per annum; 
• EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest Tax Depreciation and Amortisation) rises from 4.8% in 2011/12 to 

6.1% in 2013/14; 
• The requirement for significant cash releasing efficiency savings of £33.1m over the next three 

years, to deliver the national efficiency target of 4.0% per annum. 
 
The Trust has contracts with its main commissioners NHS Oxfordshire and NHS Buckinghamshire to 
provide mental health services to their respective resident populations, and a three year contract with NHS 
Oxfordshire to provide community health services in Oxfordshire from 1st April 2011. In addition, the Trust 
has in place with Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire County Councils pooled health and social care budgets 
under Health Act Flexibilities for the Trust to deliver integrated community mental health services. The Trust 
also has a contract to deliver child and adolescent mental health services in Swindon, Wiltshire, Bath and 
North East Somerset, and a contract with the South Central Specialist Commissioning Group to provide 
specialist mental health services. 
 
The Trust is preparing for the introduction of Payment by Results in mental health over the next three 
years, which will lead to the trust receiving its income based on a national tariff. 
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The Trust has a significant capital investment programme of £65m over the next three years. The main 
areas of investment include the Manor House development and the Highfield scheme. The capital 
programme will be financed through cash generated from operations and surplus land sales over the next 
three years.  In addition, the Trust has secured £28.1m in loan financing towards our new hospital in 
Aylesbury, Buckinghamshire. 
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Statement of the chief executive's responsibilities as the accounting officer of Oxford Health NHS 
FT 
 
The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the NHS foundation trust. The 
relevant responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and 
regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set 
out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by the Independent Regulator of 
NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”). 
 
Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed Oxford Health NHS FT to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are 
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Oxford Health 
NHS FT and of its income and 
expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements 
of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting 
and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent 
basis; 

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 

Annual Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material 
departures in the financial statements; and 

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
 
The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS foundation trust and to 
enable him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above 
mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
NHS foundation trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out 
in Monitor's NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
 

Signed   

Julie Waldron    03 June 2011 

Chief Executive    
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Oxford Health Foundation NHS Trust 
Annual Governance Statement (Statement on Internal Control) 2010/11 
 
1. Scope of responsibility 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports 
the achievement of Oxford Health NHS FT’s1 policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public 
funds and departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me.  I am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation Trust is 
administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
The Board of Directors (Board), through its Audit Committee, agreed the Trust’s 2010/11 Internal Audit Plan 
with its Internal Auditors. The results of these audits culminated in the Head of Internal Audit’s opinion on 
the system of internal control. This Annual Governance Statement is consistent with findings of the Head of 
Internal Audit’s opinion. 
With effect from 1st April 2008, the Trust was authorised as a Foundation Trust by Monitor. Contracts of at 
least three years were in place from 1st April 2010, with both Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire PCTs, and 
the Specialist Commissioning Group for Forensic Mental Health Services, setting out the contractual 
arrangements for services provided by this Trust, including performance, activity and management of 
Serious Incident Requiring Investigation.  
Section 75 (NHS Act 2006) agreements with Oxfordshire County Council (mental health services for older 
adults and adults of working age) and Buckinghamshire County Council (mental health services for older 
adults and adults of working age) are in place, covering a 5 year period, effective from 1st April 2007.  
These agreements enable the Trust to exercise various local authority functions relating to the 
management and delivery of mental health services and local authority staff have been seconded to the 
Trust. These agreements will be reviewed during 2011/12. 
The Audit Committee is responsible for seeking evidence and obtaining independent assurance, on behalf 
of the Board, that there is an effective framework of internal control and corporate governance in place. 
2. The purpose of the system of internal control 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all 
risk of failure to comply with policies and achieve objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process 
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of the 
Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to 
manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in 
the Trust for the year ending 31 March 2011 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and 
accounts. 
3. Capacity to handle risk 
The Board has in place a comprehensive Integrated Governance Framework which clearly sets out how the 
organisation: 

� safeguards high standards; 
� ensures a structured control environment, where risks are identified, assessed and properly 

managed; 
� enables the Trust to demonstrate continuous improvements in service, 
� creates an environment in which excellence will flourish; and 
� manages and transfers risks, as appropriate, to any organisation providing services on the Trust’s 

behalf. 
Assurance on the adequacy of the Trust’s governance arrangements has been gained through the work of 
Internal Audit. 
The Trust has an effective and embedded process for assuring the Board on matters of risk, which 
enhances the organisation’s overall capacity to handle risk. 
The Assurance Framework forms the key document for the Board in ensuring all principal risks are 
controlled, that the effectiveness of the key controls has been assured, and that there is sufficient evidence 
to support the declaration set out in the Annual Governance Statement.   

                                                 
1 Known as Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust until 23 February 2011 
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The Integrated Governance Committee supports the Board in relation to meeting quality standards and the 
management of corporate risk and in turn is supported by five quality improvement committees: Safety, 
Clinical Effectiveness, Governance and Information Management, Human Resources, and Service and 
Estates. These five committees lead and supervise governance within the Trust. 
Under the Trust’s Standing Orders and Scheme of Delegation, the Director of Nursing and Clinical 
Standards takes executive responsibility for risk management (both clinical and non-clinical) in the 
organisation reporting to the ‘Accounting Officer’.  The Risk Management Strategy clearly sets out the roles 
and responsibilities of executive directors, managers and staff for risk management across the 
organisation.  Staff have been alerted to both the strategy and supporting policy, e.g. Incident Reporting 
and Management policy. The strategy was last reviewed and amendments approved by the Board of 
Directors in October 2009. The Risk Management Strategy will be reviewed during Q1 2011. 
A comprehensive risk management training needs analysis has been completed across the organisation 
and there are programmes in place to deliver the identified training needs to all staff. 
The Trust also has a Counter Fraud Work Plan and Local Counter Fraud Specialist who assists in 
managing risk. 
 
4. The risk and control framework 
The Trust had a clear purpose and agreed aims for 2010/11 as follows: 
 

“We will deliver excellent high quality care, treatment and support which helps improve 
the health and well-being of individuals and communities we serve” 
 
Its aims were: 

• To achieve high levels of satisfaction from our service users; 
• To be at the forefront of innovation, involving staff, service users and carers, 

providing the most appropriate, timely and accessible care possible within 
available resources; and 

• To employ a skilled workforce and provide the environment in which they can 
fulfil their potential and deliver high quality healthcare. 

 
 
The continued delivery of responsive, high quality services requires the Trust to identify, manage and 
reduce the effect of events or activities which could result in a risk to our service users, visitors and all 
healthcare professionals and other employees and contractors deployed in the course of our business.  All 
staff are expected to accept the management of risks as one of their fundamental duties.  Additionally, 
every member of staff is expected to be committed to identifying and reducing risks. 
The Board believes the management of risk is best achieved through an environment of honesty and 
openness, where mistakes and untoward incidents are identified quickly and dealt with in a positive and 
responsive way. 
The Risk Management Strategy covers all aspects of risk management: environmental, clinical and 
business. The objectives of this strategy are stated as follows: 

� To protect patients, carers, staff and others who come into contact with the Trust; 
� To promote positive risk taking in the context of clinical care and in controlled circumstances; 
� To provide a robust basis for strategic and operational planning through structured 

consideration of key risk elements; 
� To enhance partnership working with stakeholders in the delivery of services; 
� To improve compliance with relevant legislation and national best practice standards; and 
� To enhance openness and transparency in decision-making and management. 

The requirement for all NHS Foundation Trust Chief Executive Officers to sign an Annual Governance 
Statement, as part of the statutory accounts and annual report, heightens the need for the Board of 
Directors to be able to demonstrate that they have been properly informed about the totality of their risks, 
both clinical and non clinical. To do this the Trust has to be able to provide evidence to the Board that 
objectives and principal risks of delivery have been systematically identified. The Trust’s assurance 
framework fulfils this purpose and provides the organisation with a comprehensive method for the effective 
and focused management of the principal risks to meeting our objectives.  It is linked to the Trust’s Annual 
Plan and Integrated Governance Framework.  It provides a structure for the evidence to support the Annual 
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Governance Statement.  This simplifies Board reporting and the prioritisation of action plans which, in turn, 
allows for more effective performance management.  The Trust’s approach has been: 

� through the business planning process, to identify the organisation’s principal objectives (clinical, 
financial and generic); 

� identify the principal risks that threaten the achievement of the Trust’s principal objectives including 
achieving satisfactory compliance with national standards and targets; and 

� ensuring that the key controls are in place which are designed to manage the principal risks.  
Controls were documented and their design subject to scrutiny by independent reviewers, which 
include internal audit, in conjunction with clinicians and other specialists where necessary, the Care 
Quality Commission and external audit. The key controls have been mapped to the principal risks. 

The Board has implemented a system to gain assurances about the effectiveness of the operation of the 
controls that are in place to manage the organisation’s principal risks. To ensure effective management and 
provide evidence to support the Annual Governance Statement, it was necessary to map the organisation’s 
assurance needs and identify the potential sources for providing them. For each key control, risk or control 
system, the organisation identified potential sources of assurance.  The most objective assurances are 
derived from independent reviewers which include the Care Quality Commission (Mental Health Act 
Commission), reports by the Internal and External Auditors and these are supplemented by non-
independent sources such as clinical audit, performance management and self assessment reports. 
The Board and its sub-committees, including the Audit Committee and Integrated Governance Committee, 
have reviewed the Assurance Framework during the year.  The Board is informed on a quarterly basis of 
the top risks facing the Trust in achieving its objectives. The sub-committees and the Quality Improvement 
Committees (which report to the Integrated Governance Committee) review, on a regular basis, the 
effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control, covering all of the principal risks and details 
of: 

� positive assurances on principal risks where controls are effective and objectives are being met; 
� where the organisation’s achievement of its principal objectives is at risk through significant gaps in 

control; and 
� adverse assurances on principal risks where controls are not effective and place achievement of 

objectives at risk. 
� The Trust has mapped user and carer involvement across the organisation and updates this 

mapping exercise on a six monthly basis.  With respect to the public stakeholder element of 
risk management, the Trust has aimed to involve the public in minimising risks which impact 
on them. 

The Board has been assured through the Integrated Governance Committee that effective arrangements 
are in place to manage and control risks to information and data. An Information Governance Strategy and 
policy are in place. The Director of Nursing and Clinical Standards is the Senior Information Risk Owner 
with overall responsibility for Information Governance and the responsibilities of Caldicott Guardianship, 
information security and data protection. Significant assurance has been gained through the annual 
Information Governance Toolkit self assessment. No serious incidents requiring investigation involving 
personal data were identified this year that are required to be reported to the Information Commissioner, as 
set out in guidance on serious untoward incidents involving data.  
The Board has in place an Assurance Framework Action Plan to address weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system of internal control. The Trust is fully compliant with the CQC 
essential standards of quality and safety for 2010/11. It attained registration with no conditions from 1st 
April 2010. Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation's obligations under equality, 
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.  The Board is not aware that the Trust has any 
gaps in control or assurance which could significantly undermine the business of the Trust, in terms of both 
patient safety and financial viability.  
During 2010/11 the Trust was working towards the acquisition of Community Health Oxfordshire (CHO), the 
provider arm of the Oxfordshire PCT, from 1st April 2011, as part of the Transforming Community Service 
national initiative. This transaction is deemed a significant transaction by Monitor and inherent in this are a 
range of risks that the Board needs to manage. These have been incorporated in the Assurance 
Framework. 
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The table below identified the significant risks facing the Trust in 2011/12: 
 
Significant risk In-year 

risk 
Future 
risk 

Management of risk Assurance sources 

Affordability of 5-year capital investment 
programme  

√ √ Monthly management of cash flow 
forecasting; capital governance 
arrangements;  strategic plan; 
process for disposal of assets 

Financial reporting to the Board 
Monitor financial risk rating 
Capital scheme monitoring from 
scheme Project Board to Financial 
and Investment Committee 
Internal Audit 

Non-delivery of Cost Improvement Plans (CIPs) 
could cause the Trust to fail in the delivery of it 
financial plan  

√ √ Approved cost improvement plan 
with effective arrangement for 
deliver; CIP governance 
arrangements reporting from 
Divisional level up to Board of 
Directors 

Reports to Finance & Investment 
Committee and Board of Directors 
Internal Audit 
 Monitor financial risk rating 

Stated government intent in the Health and 
Social Care Bill 2011 to increase competition in 
the provision of healthcare services could lead 
to loss of existing core business and therefore a 
loss of contribution to overhead and fixed costs 
and loss of margin 

√ √ Development of customer relations 
function;  long term strategic 
planning process; demonstration of 
quality of services through 
comprehensive performance 
assessment framework including 
benchmarking 

Successful acquisitions 
 Internal Audit 
Performance monitoring 
Progress against strategy 
Monitor financial and governance risk 
ratings 

Services are acquired and integrated where the 
contract value does not meet the full cost of 
delivering the required services  

√ √ Due diligence arrangements; 
governance process for 
acquisitions; Business Transfer 
agreement process to cover 
unexpected costs 

Due diligence reports 
Decision process notes 
Financial reporting 
Internal Audit 
Contract meetings 

The Trust does not achieve the required 
performance targets in year to gain the Contract 
CQUIN and Penalty Schemes income or 
attracts penalty payment. 

√ √ Agreement of operational priorities; 
contract agreement to include 
excusing clauses; internal 
monitoring and reporting 
arrangements 

Internal performance reporting 
Divisional Performance management 
meetings  
Contract monitoring meetings with 
commissioners 
 

The Trust is not prepared adequately for the 
implementation of PbR in mental health and 
community services  

 √ High quality data management; 
care pathway and cluster 
development; patient level costing 

Monitoring of Transformation 
programme 
Data quality monitoring 
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system Internal Audit 
Monitor financial risk rating 

With the integration of Community Service the 
Trust does not have sufficient resource to 
maintain the same level of testing of the Trust’s 
services, systems and procedures 

√  Trust wide clinical audit plan and 
internal audit plan based on 
national requirements, contract 
requirements and internal high risk 
areas; audit framework across all 
functions; monitoring and reporting 
framework 

Governance arrangements reporting 
to Integrated Governance Committee  
and Audit Committee  
Assurance Framework 
Internal Audit reports 
CQC registration 
 

With the integration of Community Services the 
Trust does not yet have sufficient assurance 
that practice is based on NICE guidelines 

√  Trust wide clinical audit plan based 
on national requirements, contract 
requirements and internal high risk 
areas; processes for assessing 
compliance against NICE 
guidelines and HTAs; Contract 
negotiations on CQUIN targets; 
Learning & Development strategy 
including clinical skills develop 

Governance arrangements reporting 
to Integrated Governance Committee  
and Audit Committee including 
training uptake, adherence to NICE 
guidelines, outcomes of audits and 
action, and Assurance Framework 
Internal Audit reports 
CQC registration 
Contract meetings 
 

With the integration of Community Services the 
Trust does not have sufficient resource to 
maintain the same level of service for patients 
and their carer or advocates to raise concerns 
and complaints in a confidential and non-
discriminatory manner 

√  Training of staff; policy framework; 
patient awareness raising of 
procedures; systems for learning 
from complaints 

Governance arrangements reporting 
to Integrated Governance Committee 
Internal Audit 
Patient survey 
CQC registration 
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The table below identifies some areas of continued development of the system of internal 
control that will be addressed in 2011/12: 
 

Strengthening Controls 

New Electronic Care Record fully rolled out by September 2011 
Integrated system for management of health records in the integrated organisation 
Strengthening of the annual appraisal process for doctors and implementation of 
systems to support the professional revalidation of doctors by October 2012 
Trust-wide Operating Framework 
Integrated system for management of risk in the integrated organisation 
Developing the commercial strategy for the integrated Trust 
Patient level costing system in preparation for Payment  by Results 
Strengthening of controls in payroll systems and internal Trust feeder systems 

 
 

Assurances Required on Effectiveness 

Compliance with Care Programme Approach policy 
Implementation of the new clinical patient information system (RiO) 
Effective implementation of the integration of CHO 
Satisfactory progress with significant Capital projects (Manor House and Highfield 
redevelopments) 
Testing of business continuity management processes 

 
As a Foundation Trust the Trust has a Members’ Council with 31 governors of which 24 are 
elected from staff, public, patient and carer constituencies. The Council meets quarterly and 
the Trust consults with it on future strategy. 
The Trust meets regularly with both statutory and non-statutory partners to brief them, 
identify areas of concern and facilitate involvement in the development of strategies to 
address key risk areas. Meetings, or attendance at public meetings, with LINkS, Voluntary 
Organisations and the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, allow the Trust to raise issues, 
engage stakeholders in better understanding of concerns and invite debate on potential 
ways forward.  The Trust also holds community “Wellbeing” events. Further involvement is 
facilitated through the appointment of representatives of such organisations to project 
boards, responsible for steering projects and recommending future action. Wider 
engagement in developing solutions to specific risk areas is achieved through the 
involvement of service users and carers in audit and through consultation on policy and 
strategy. 
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control 
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme 
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, 
employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme 
rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with 
the timescales detailed in the Regulations.  
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality, 
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.  
The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery 
Plans are in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency 
requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this organisation’s 
obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are 
complied with. 
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5. Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 
Financial and non-financial performance is reported through a framework which generates 
‘dashboards’ at Board, Executive Team and Directorate level. These include local authority 
indicators in respect of services managed under NHS Act 2006 Section 75 agreements. The 
Trust reports separately on its performance against Care Quality Commission standards 
through the Quality Improvement Committees reporting to the Integrated Governance 
Committee, which is a sub-committee of the Board of Directors. 
The Trust has an agreed strategic approach to promote economy, efficiency and 
productivity. 
In association with the Audit Commission the Trust participates in a comprehensive 
benchmarking club for providers of mental health services. This assists the Trust to focus 
improvement plans and resources to optimise benefit. 
The Trust’s Internal Audit plan, which is agreed by the Audit Committee, sets out the full 
range of audits across the Trust which reviews the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of 
the use of resources.  The Audit Committee routinely reviews the outcomes and 
recommendations of the Internal Audit reports, and the management response and action 
plans. 
 

6. Annual Quality Accounts 
The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service 
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.  
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of 
annual Quality Reports which incorporate the above legal requirements in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.  
The Directors of Oxford Health NHS FT are required to satisfy themselves that the Trust’s 
annual Quality Accounts are fairly stated. In doing so we are required to put in place a 
system of internal control to ensure that proper arrangements are in place based on criteria 
specified by Monitor, the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundations Trusts. 
The steps which have been put in place to assure the Board that the Quality Accounts are 
fairly stated are as follows: 

� Report specifications are written for each report and take account of any 
Department of Health rules/guidance on how activity should be counted. 

� Service capacity plans are agreed with each Directorate annually. These 
plans feed into the contracting process. 

� Monthly activity is monitored against agreed contract targets. Month on month 
activity is compared to identify any inconsistencies. 

� Quality in this sense is concerned with ensuring that systems are managed to 
support validity of data e.g. that all codes used are nationally recognised 
codes, or map to national values. Internal data quality also includes 
maintenance of changeable reference data.  

� The system support function identifies and corrects inconsistent data  
� Systems are also managed to enforce data quality where necessary  
� Production and maintenance of data quality reports that can be run by end 

users. 
� Specific data quality awareness, including the minimal use of default codes, is 

included with system training, and training support materials. 
� Monthly monitoring reports produced for the service delivery teams to monitor 

the quality of the data, raising issues if tolerances are exceeded. 
� Audits of records in the form of spot checks of paper records (where held), 

and validation of inpatient data entered electronically on a daily basis.   
 

7. Review of effectiveness 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control.  My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed 
by the work of the Internal Auditors, clinical audit and the Executive managers and clinical 
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leads within the Trust that have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework. I have drawn on the content of the Quality Report (Quality 
Account) attached to this Annual Report and other performance information available to me. 
My review is also informed by comments made by the External Auditors in their 
management letter and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of 
my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the board and  the Audit 
Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the 
system is in place. 
The Head of Internal Audit provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for 
gaining assurance through the Assurance Framework and on the controls reviewed as part 
of the internal audit work.  Executive Directors who have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the system of internal control provide me with assurance in a variety of 
ways, including through reports on the implementation of audit action plans and reports of 
the work of the Quality Improvement Committees.  The Assurance Framework itself provides 
me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage the risks to the organisation 
achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed.  My review is also informed by: 

� Work of the Trust’s Audit Committee 
� CQC Registration requirements 
� Assessment against the NHSLA Risk Management standard 
� Royal College of Psychiatrists accreditation 
� Patient and staff surveys 
� PEAT inspections 
� CQC (Mental Health Act Commission)  reports 
� Internal sources – such as clinical audit, internal management reviews, 

performance management reports, user and carer involvement activities, 
benchmarking and self-assessment reports 

� RoSPA gold award for Health and Safety 
� Monitor quarterly assessment process 
� Assessment against key findings of external enquiries 

The Board has monitored progress against the top risks facing the Trust and assured itself 
that the strategic intent of the Trust appropriately addresses the risks facing the Trust and 
the continual improvement of the totality of its business. The Audit Committee has sought 
assurance from the Trust’s Internal and External Auditors from the agreed audit programmes 
which have been developed through consideration of the gaps in assurance as identified by 
the Assurance Framework. The Integrated Governance Committee and its executive sub-
committees have ensured that programmes of work, and the development of policy and 
strategy, address identified risk areas. These committees have also considered the sources 
of assurance and incorporated the findings of these assurances in future work programmes.  
 

8. Conclusion 
No significant strategic internal control issues have been identified by the Trust in 2010/11 
and the Trust’s Annual Governance Statement is a balanced reflection of the actual control 
position.   
 

 
Julie Waldron, Chief Executive 
Oxford Health NHS FT 
02 June 2011 
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Summary Financial Statements 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 March 2011 

2010/11 2009/10 

 
£000 

 
£000 

     
Operating income 

 
175,897 

  
156,028 

     
Operating expenses 

 
(166,422) 

  
(152,455) 

 
  

  
  

Operating surplus 
 

9,475 
  

3,573 

     
Finance costs 

     

     
Finance income 70 

  
38 

 
     

Financial expense - financial liabilities (1,290) 
  

(1,038) 
 

     
Public Dividend Capital dividends payable (3,566) 

  
(4,118) 

 
     

Net finance costs 
 

(4,786) 
  

(5,118) 

     
Surplus from continuing operations 

 
4,689 

  
(1,545) 

     
Surplus from discontinued operations 

 
0 

  
0 

     
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)  FOR THE FINANCIAL 
YEAR  

4,689 
  

(1,545) 

     

Other comprehensive income :      

     
Revaluation gains/(losses) on property, 
plant and equipment  

0 
  

(31,072) 

     
Revaluation gains/(losses) on intangible 
assets  

0 
  

0 

     
Revaluation gains/(losses) on non current 
assets held for sale  

0 
  (1,166) 

     
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit 
pension schemes  

(28) 
  

0 

     
Reduction in donated asset reserve in 
respect of depreciation, impairment, and/or 
disposal of donated assets 

 
(25) 

  
(44) 

 
     

Other recognised gains/ (losses) 
 

0 
  

0 

     
Movement in "other reserves" 

 
0 

  
0 

     
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND 
EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR  

4,636 
  

(33,827) 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 

31 March 2011 

  

31 March 
2011 

 

31 March 
2010 

£000 
 

£000 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS  

  Intangible assets 161 97 
Property, plant and equipment 112,449 112,254 
Trade and other receivables 30 30 

Total Non-Current Assets 112,640 112,381 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Inventories 1,909 1,885 
Trade and other receivables 7,065 7,886 
Non-current assets held for sale 6,400 6,400 
Cash and cash equivalents 17,295 11,745 

    

Total Current Assets 32,669 27,916 

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Trade and other payables (13,434) (13,718) 
Borrowings (97) (692) 
Other financial liabilities (1,366) (1,197) 
Provisions (798) (869) 
Other liabilities (2,816) (1,758) 

    

Total Current Liabilities (18,511) (18,234) 

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES  
    

Trade and other payables (97) (100) 
Borrowings (13,712) (13,733) 
Other financial liabilities 0 0 
Provisions (1,451) (1,328) 
Other liabilities 0 0 

    

Total Non Current Liabilities 
 

(15,260) 
 

(15,161) 

TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED 
 

111,538 
 

106,902 

TAXPAYERS' EQUITY 
    Public dividend capital 88,380 88,380 

Revaluation reserve 12,869 13,206 
Donated asset reserve 978 1,003 
Available for sale financial assets reserve 0 0 
Other reserves 8,076 8,076 
Merger reserve 0 0 
Income and expenditure reserve 1,235 (3,763) 

  TOTAL TAXPAYERS' EQUITY 
 

111,538 
 

106,902 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY 2010/11 

 

 
Total 

Public 
Dividend 
Capital 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Donated 
Assets 

Reserve 

Other 
Reserves 

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
      Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 

2010 
106,902 88,380 13,206 1,003 8,076 (3,763) 

       
Total comprehensive income 
for the year 

4,689 
    

4,689 

       
Revaluation gains/(losses) 
and impairment losses on 
property plant and equipment 

0 
     

       
Revaluation gains/(losses) 
and impairment losses on 
non current assets held for 
sale 

0 
     

       
Reduction in the donated 
asset reserve in respect of 
depreciation, impairment, 
and/or disposal of donated 
assets 

(25) 
  

(25) 
  

       
Actuarial gains/(losses) on 
defined benefit pension 
schemes 

(28) 
    

(28) 

       
Transfer of the excess of 
current cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to 
the income and expenditure 
reserve 

0 
 

(337) 
  

337 

       
Movements on other reserves 0 

     

       
Taxpayers' Equity at 31 
March 2011 

111,538 88,380 12,869 978 8,076 1,235 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY 2009/10 

 

 
Total 

Public 
Dividend 
Capital 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Donated 
Assets 

Reserve 

Other 
Reserves 

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
      Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 

2009 
140,726 88,380 41,880 1,043 11,814 (2,391) 

       
Total comprehensive income 
for the year 

(1,545) 
    

(1,545) 

       
Revaluation gains/(losses) 
and impairment losses on 
property plant and equipment 

(31,072) 
 

(27,334) 
 

(3,738) 
 

       
Revaluation gains/(losses) 
and impairment losses on 
non current assets held for 
sale 

(1,166) 
 

(1,166) 
   

       
Reduction in the donated 
asset reserve in respect of 
depreciation, impairment, 
and/or disposal of donated 
assets 

(44) 
  

(44) 
  

       
Transfer of the excess of 
current cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to 
the income and expenditure 
reserve 

0 
 

(174) 
  

174 

       
Movements on other reserves 3 

  
4 

 
(1) 

       
Taxpayers' Equity at 31 
March 2010 

106,902 88,380 13,206 1,003 8,076 (3,763) 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 March 2011 

2010-11 
 

2009-10 

 £000 
 

£000 

 Cash flows from operating activities 
    Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations 9,475 3,573 

 Operating surplus/(deficit) of discontinued operations  0 0 

 Operating surplus/(deficit) 9,475 
 

3,573 

 Non-cash income and expense: 
  Depreciation and amortisation 3,100 3,548 

 Impairments 0 3,517 

 Reversals of impairments 0 0 

 Transfer from the donated asset reserve (25) (44) 

 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 178 95 

(Increase)/decrease in other assets 0 0 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (24) (599) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 1,295 816 

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 1,227 1,223 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 52 391 

Tax (paid) / received 0 0 

Movements in operating cash flow of discontinued operations 0 0 

Other movements in operating cash flows (28) 588 

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS 15,250 
 

13,108 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Interest received 70 38 

Purchase of intangible assets (87) (27) 

Sales of intangible assets 0 0 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,834) (9,012) 

Sales of property, plant and equipment 0 0 

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (4,851) 
 

(9,001) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Loans received  86 8,800 

Loans repaid (644) (638) 

Capital element of finance lease rental payments  0 0 

Capital element of private finance initiative obligations (58) (70) 

Interest paid (381) (164) 

Interest element of finance lease 0 0 

Financing element of private finance initiative obligations (909) (874) 

PDC dividend paid (2,943) (4,760) 

Cash flows from (used in) other financing activities 0 0 

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (4,849) 
 

2,294 

 
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,550 

 
6,401 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 2010 11,745 
 

5,344 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2011 17,295 
 

11,745 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Members’ Council (Board of Governors) of Oxford 
Health NHS Foundation Trust 

Opinion on the summary financial statements 

I have examined the summary financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2011 which 
comprises: the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, 
the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, and the Statement of Cash Flows. 

This report is made solely to the Board of Governors of Oxford Health NHS FT in 
accordance with paragraph 24(5) of Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006. My 
audit work has been undertaken so that I might state to the Board of Governors those 
matters I am required to state to it in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, I do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Foundation Trust as a body, for my audit work, for this report or for the opinions I have 
formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report.   

My responsibility is to report to you my opinion on the consistency of the summary financial 
statement within the Annual Report with the statutory financial statements.   

I also read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider the 
implications for my report if I become aware of any misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with the summary financial statement. 

I conducted my work in accordance with Bulletin 2008/03 “The auditor's statement on the 
summary financial statement in the United Kingdom” issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
My report on the statutory financial statements describes the basis of my opinion on those 
financial statements. 

Opinion 

In my opinion the summary financial statement is consistent with the statutory financial 
statements of the Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2011.  
 

 

Phil Sharman 
Officer of the Audit Commission 
 
Audit Commission 
Unit 5 ISIS Business Centre  
Horspath Road 
Oxford OX4 2RD 
 
6 June 2011 
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Renumeration report 
The renumeration report includes the table of salaries and allowance of senior managers 
and the table of pension benefits of senior managers. 
These tables together with the narrative notes are required to be audited. 

 

The Remuneration Committee is a sub committee of the Trust Board, made up of Non-
executive Directors, and set up to recommend the remuneration levels for Executive Director 
and other top managers in line with Department of Health guidelines. 
 
Janet Godden retired as Chair on 31 March 2010. 
Martin Howell was appointed as the new Chairman from 1 April 2010. 
Duncan Smith was seconded to Milton Keynes Hospital NHS Foundation Trust from 1 

August 2010 and subsequently was appointed on a permanent basis from 1 February 2011. 
Gareth Kenworthy was appointed as Acting Director of Finance effective from 1 August  
2010. 

Salaries and Allowances 
      2010-11     2009-10   

Name Title 

Salary  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Other 
Remuneratio
n (bands of 
£5,000) 

Benefits in 
Kind 
(rounded to 
the nearest 
£00) 

Salary  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Other 
Remuner
ation 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Benefits 
in Kind 
(rounded 
to the 
nearest 
£00) 

Julie Waldron Chief Executive 160-165 0 0 160-165 0 0 

Duncan Smith Director of Finance 35-40 0 0 120-125 0 0 
Gareth 
Kenworthy 

Acting Director of 
Finance 60-65 0 0 0 0 0 

Caroline Birch 

Acting Director of 
Nursing and Clinical 
Governance 90-95 0 0 85-90 0 0 

Ros Alstead 

Director of Nursing 
and Clinical 
Governance 0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

Graeme 
Armitage 

Director of Human 
Resources 95-100 0 0 100-105 0 0 

David Bradley Chief Operating Officer 115-120 0 0 105-110 0 0 
Dr Mike Hobbs Medical Director 95-100 0 0 185-190 0 0 

Stephen Cass 

Director of Strategy 
and Commercial 
Development 0-5 0 0 0 0 0 

Janet Godden Chair 0 0 0 40-45 0 0 
Martin Howell Chair 40-45 0 0 0 0 0 

Cedric Scroggs 
Non-Executive 
Director 15-20 0 0 15-20 0 0 

Professor  
Tom Burns 

Non-Executive 
Director 10-15 0 0 10-15 0 0 

Dr Anne 
Grocock 

Non-Executive 
Director 10-15 0 0 10-15 0 0 

Roger Reed 
Non-Executive 
Director 10-15 0 0 10-15 0 0 

Elaine Whittaker 
Non-Executive 
Director 5-10 0 0 10-15 0 0 

Lyn Williams 
Non-Executive 
Director 15-20 0 0 15-20 0 0 

Mike Bellamy 
Non-Executive 
Director 10-15 0 0 10-15 0 0 
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Caroline Birch’s role as Acting Director of Nursing and Clinical Governance ended on 23 
March 2011. 
Ros Alstead has been appointed as Director of Nursing and Clinical Governance from 23 
March 2011. 
Mike Hobbs worked part time hours for 2010-11 and retired from his Medical Director role 
with effect from 31 March 2011. 
Clive Meux has been appointed as Medical Director with effect from 1 April 2011. 
Stephen Cass was appointed as Director of Strategy and Commercial Development with 
effect from 30 March 2011. 
Elaine Whittaker resigned as Non-executive Director on 31 December 2010. 
Alyson Coates has been appointed as Non-executive Director with effect from 1 April 2011. 
 

 
The Government Actuary Department factors for the calculation of Cash Equivalent Transfer 
Values assume that benefits are indexed in line with Consumer Price Index. This is expected 
to be lower than Retail Price Index which was used previously and hence will tend to 
produce lower transfer values. 
 
Mike Hobbs, Medical Director has not contributed to the Pension scheme this financial year 
and therefore no details provided here. 
 
Ros Alstead was appointed Director of Nursing and Clinical Governance from 23 March 
2011, Pension benefit information was not available to the Trust at the time of reporting. 

 
Graeme Armitage    
Acting Chief Executive 
 

PENSION BENEFITS                 

  

Real 
Increase/ 
(Decrease) 
in Pension 
at Age 60 
(Bands of 
£2,500) 

Real 
Increase/ 
(Decrease) 
in Pension 
Lump Sum 
at Aged 60 
(Bands of 
£2,500) 

Total 
Accrued 
Pension 
at Age 
60 at 31 
March 
2011 
(Bands 
of 
£5,000) 

Lump Sum 
at Age 60 
Related to 
Accrued 
Pension at 
31 March 
2011 
(Bands of 
£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 
2011 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 
2010 

Real 
Increase/ 
(Decrease) 
in Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value as 
at 31 
March 
2011 

Employer's 
Contribution 
to 
Stakeholder 
Pension 

Title £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Julie Waldron 
Chief Executive (0 - 2.5) (0 - 2.5) 70 - 75 215 - 220 1,684 1,719 (104) 0 

Duncan Smith 
Director of Finance (0 - 2.5) (0 - 2.5) 50 - 55 150 - 155 915 985 (77) 0 

Gareth Kenworthy  
Acting Director of Finance      15 - 20 45 - 50 167     0 

Graeme Armitage 
Director of Human Resources (0 - 2.5) (0 - 2.5) 35 - 40 105 - 110 549 605 (80) 0 

David Bradley 
Chief Operating Officer 2.5 – 5 7.5 - 10 30 -35 90 - 95 488 476 (5 - 10) 0 
Caroline Birch 
Director of Nursing and 
Clinical Governance (Acting) 
   2.5 – 5 7.5 - 10 45 - 50 140 - 145 853 846 (27) 0 

Stephen Cass 
Director of Infrastructure     25 - 30 85 - 90 438     0 
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Appendix 1: Committee Attendance between 1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 
  
The Chair of each Committee is identified in Bold in each table. 
 
Audit Committee 

The role of the Audit Committee is independently to monitor, review and report to the Board of 
Directors on the processes of governance and, where appropriate, to facilitate and support 
through its independence the attainment of effective processes. Its areas of responsibility 
include governance, internal control, risk management, internal and external audit and 
financial reporting. 
 
The work of the Audit Committee in the discharge of its areas of responsibility has included: 
review of the draft Annual Report; review of the draft annual accounts and financial 
statements; regular consideration of the Assurance Framework to gain ongoing assurance of 
risk and internal control processes; review and approval of the internal and external audit 
plans; regular review of internal audit reports on key systems of internal control including 
finance, clinical governance and risk management and of external audit reports on 
governance and quality assurance, amongst other matters; regular review of Counter Fraud 
reports with updates on investigations and awareness raising activities; and review of the 
work of other committees within the Trust whose work can provide relevant assurance to the 
Audit Committee’s own scope of work (for example, the Minutes of the Integrated Governance 
Committee are regularly presented for information). 
 
Given the skill and experience of the current Committee members, the Board of Directors is 
satisfied that the Committee has remained effective. 
 
Director 22 Apr 

10 

27 May 

10  

07 Sep 10 07 Dec 

10  

10 Feb 11 

Cedric Scroggs � � � � � 
Dr Anne Grocock X � � � � 
Roger Reed � � � � � 
Lyn Williams � � � X � 
 
Finance and Investment Committee 

The Finance and Investment Committee provides assurance to the Board of Directors on a 
number of key financial issues relevant to the Trust. In particular, it reviews investment 
decisions and policy, financial plans and reports, and approves the development of financial 
reporting, strategy and financial policies, consistent with the Foundation Trust regime. 
 

Director 14 Apr 

10 

(Ext) 

13 May 

10 

08 Jul 

10 

18 

Aug 

10 

(Ext) 

08 Sep 

10 

15 Oct 

10 

(Ext) 

09 Nov 

10 

08 Dec 

10 

(Ext) 

17 Jan 

11 

07 Mar 

11 

Lyn 

Williams 

� � � � � � � � � � 

Martin 
Howell 

� � � � � � � X X � 

Gareth 
Kenworthy 

N/A N/A N/A � � � � � � � 

Roger 
Reed 

� � X � � � � � � � 
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Duncan 
Smith 

� � � N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Julie 
Waldron 

� � � � X � � � � � 

 

Key: Ext – Extraordinary meeting 
        N/A – not a member of the Committee at this time 
 

Integrated Governance Committee 

The key function of the Integrated Governance Committee is to lead on the development and 
monitoring of quality and risk systems within the Trust to ensure that quality, patient safety 
and risk management are key components of all activities of the Trust. The Committee 
ensures that appropriate risk management processes are in place to assure the Board that 
action is taken to identify and manage risks within the Trust. It is also responsible for the 
development of systems and processes to ensure that the Trust implements and monitors 
compliance relevant standards and targets, and Care Quality Commission Registration.  The 
Committee makes sure that services provided are appropriate, reflect best practice, represent 
best value for money, are responsive to service user needs, and reflect the views and 
experiences of service users and carers in service delivery. 
 
Director 20 Apr 10 13 Jul 10 14 Oct 10 27 Jan 11 

Julie Waldron � � � � 
Graeme Armitage � � N/A N/A 
Jayne Halford* N/A N/A � � 
Mike Bellamy � � � � 
Caroline Birch � � � � 
David Bradley � X N/A N/A 
Professor Tom Burns � X X � 
Dr Mike Hobbs � � X � 
Martin Howell � � � � 
Helen Millar** N/A N/A � � 
Duncan Smith � � N/A N/A 
Elaine Whittaker � � � N/A 

 

* Jayne Halford, Acting Director of Human Resources, formally deputising for Graeme Armitage at 
Committee from 14 October 2010 
** Helen Millar, Assistant Chief Operating Officer, formally deputising for David Bradley at Committee 
from 14 October 2010 
 
Key: N/A – not a member of the Committee at this time 
 
Charitable Funds Committee 

The Charitable Funds Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Trust fulfils its duties as 
a trustee in the management of the charitable fund. 
 
Director 26 May 10 29 Sep 10 24 Nov 10 23 Feb 11 

Elaine Whittaker � � � N/A 
Dr Anne Grocock* � � � � 
Graeme Armitage � X X � 
Mike Bellamy � � � � 
Caroline Birch � � X � 
David Bradley X X � X 
Professor Tom Burns � X � � 
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Dr Mike Hobbs X X � � 
Gareth Kenworthy N/A � X � 
Roger Reed X X X X 
Cedric Scroggs � � � X 
Duncan Smith � N/A N/A N/A 
Julie Waldron � X � � 
Lyn Williams � � � � 

* Dr Anne Grocock, Non-Executive Director, took on the chair of the Committee from 23 February 2011 
 

Key: N/A – not a member of the Committee at this time 
 
Executive Directors’ Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee 

The Remuneration Committee is a sub committee of the Trust Board, made up of Non-
executive Directors and set up to recommend the remuneration levels for Executive 
Directors and other senior managers.  The committee takes account of Department of Health 
guidelines and also information available from Capita and IDS.  In the last year the 
committee has only met once in July to address the following:- 
 

• Agree the temporary increase to the Chief Operating Officers salary (due to 
integration with Community Health Oxfordshire) 

• Agree the arrangements for the appointment to the vacant Director of Nursing and 
Clinical Standards post 

• Agree the arrangements for the appointment to the Medical Director post pending 
retirement. 

 
Name Role 28 Jul 10 

Martin Howell Chairman of Trust � 
Roger Reed Chair of the Committee 

and Non-executive 
Director  

� 

Anne Grocock Non-executive Director � 
Mike Bellamy Non-executive Director  � 
Lyn Williams Non-executive Director  � 
Elaine Whittaker  � 
 
 
Nominations and Remuneration Committee 

This Committee is a sub committee of the Members’ Council and oversees the development, 
implementation and review of the composition of Non-executive Directors. The Committee 
makes recommendations to the Members’ Council on the appointment of the Chair and Non-
executive Directors. The Committee also makes recommendations to the Members’ Council 
on the terms and conditions, including remuneration and allowances, of the Chair and Non-
executive directors. 
 
 

Name Role 06 Jul 10* 03 Nov 10 

Martin Howell Chairman of Trust � � 
Chris Brearley Carer Governor � � 
Mark Hancock Staff Governor � � 
Mike Alexander Public Governor X � 
Jeanette Hocking Service User Governor X � 
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* Meeting on 6 July 2010 did not have a quorum of members therefore no formal decisions were taken. 
 
Through the Terms of Reference, the Chair of the Trust is a member of the Committee and 
chairs the meetings.  However, the Chair of the Trust does not chair or attend the Committee 
when it discusses matters specifically relating to the Chair. 
 
The remit of the Committee is to make recommendations to the full Members’ Council on 
such matters as appointments to Chair and Non-executive positions on the Board of 
Directors, Chair and Non-executive Directors remuneration, and the skills framework for the 
composition of the Non-executive Directors (including the Chair) on the Board of Directors. 
The full Members’ Council makes final decisions on such matters but is guided by the 
Committee.  
 
During 2010-11, the Members’ Council appointed a new Non-executive Director to take up 
post on 1 April 2010.  This appointment was to fill the vacancy created through the resignation 
of Elaine Whittaker on 31 December 2010. The Committee oversaw this appointment 
process, including the establishment of a Selection Panel, which included Committee 
members. The Selection Panel reported its recommendation to the full Members’ Council in 
February 2011, which was unanimously adopted. This appointment occurred through open 
advertisement and was supported by the Trust’s recruitment team. 
 
Following the Committee’s recommendation, in November 2010 the Members’ Council also 
re-appointed Cedric Scroggs and Lyn Williams for further three-year terms from 1 April 2011. 
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Appendix 2: Our Foundation Trust Membership 

Membership size and movement 

Public constituency Last Year 
At year start (April 1) 2,151 
New members 84 
Members leaving 38 
At year end (March 31) 2,197 
  
Staff constituency  
At year start (April 1) 2,998 
New members 503 
Members leaving 351 
At year end (March 31) 3,150 
  
Patient constituency  
At year start (April 1) 345 
New members 82 
Members leaving 7 
At year end (March 31) 420 

Analysis of current membership 

Public constituency Number of members Eligible members 
Age (years):   
0-16 0 11,141,985 
17-21 17 2,682,893 
22+ 1,661 38,217,039 
Unknown 519  
   
Ethnicity:   
White 1,738 47,520,866 
Mixed 20 661,036 
Asian or Asian British 45 2,273,736 
Black or Black British 29 1,139,575 
Other 8 446,704 
Unknown 357  
   
Socio-economic grouping   
ABC1 1557 20,999,815 
C2 147 6,149,928 
D 296 6,976,630 
E 179 6,540,173 
Unknown 18 11,375,371 
   
Gender   
Male 920 25,325,925 
Female 1,277 26,715,992 
Unknown 0  
   
Patient constituency Number of members Eligible members 
Age (years):   
0-16 3 5,379 
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17-21 5 2,315 
22+ 349 17,148 
Unknown 63  
 

• Eligible public data for; age, ethnicity and gender, was taken from the Office for 
National Statistics, 2001 Census analysis. 

• Eligible patient data provided by the Information Analysts department within Oxford 
Health NHS FT, on 1 April 2011. 

• Eligible social grade data was taken from the Office for National Statistics, 2001 
Census approximated social grade analysis. 

• Current Membership data was taken from the Oxford Health NHS FT Membership 
Relationship Management (MRM) database, on 1 April 2011. 

• Staff Constituency data provided by Oxford Health NHS FT Human Resources 
department, on 1 April 2011. 

• Socio-economic grouping data was analysed by CACI using its ACORN profiling in 
May 2011. 

 

Elections 

During 2010-11 one election round was held: 
 
Date of election Constituencies involved Election turnout % 
17 May 2010 Public: Buckinghamshire 15.7% 
 Carer: Oxfordshire 37.5% 
 Service User: Buckinghamshire Uncontested 
 
The Electoral Reform Services were appointed as the independent Returning Officer for the 
elections.  The elections were run in accordance with the Trust’s Rules for Elections as set 
out in the Constitution. 
 
During 2010-11, two appointed Governors resigned midway through their tenures. Suitable 
representatives were appointed to represent their organisations. On each occasion, each 
candidate took up the remaining tenure, as follows: 
 

• Cllr. Arash Fatemian was appointed as Governor to represent Oxfordshire 
County Council, replacing Cllr. Jim Couchman on 10 June 2010; and 

• Cllr. Martin Phillips was appointed as Governor to represent Buckinghamshire 
County Council, replacing Cllr. Patricia Birchley on 12 October 2010. 

  
In addition, Mr. Paul Cann was appointed as Governor to represent Age UK (Oxfordshire) 
filling the vacant seat. 
 
During the year there were two vacant seats – Service User: Buckinghamshire and 
Appointed: Buckinghamshire MIND.  Filling both vacancies was put on hold pending the 
changes to the Trust’s Membership Constituencies and Governor Representation.  The 
changes, which came into effect on 23 February 2011, abolished the Service User: 
Buckinghamshire seat.  The Appointed Buckinghamshire MIND seat was retained and the 
vacancy recruited to in April 2011. 

Membership commentary 

During 2010-11 the Trust amended its Membership Constituencies and corresponding 
Governor Representation.  These changes were made as part of the Trust’s work to 
integrate Community Health Oxfordshire (as part of the national Transforming Community 



 

98 
 

Services programme) and are designed to ensure that staff, patients, carers and members of 
the public interested in community services in Oxfordshire are able to join as Members.  The 
changes also took account of the Trust’s expanded provision of Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services, and specialist eating disorders services in Swindon, Wiltshire, and Bath & 
North East Somerset.  These changes were approved by the Independent Regulator and 
came into effect on 23 February 2011 and an updated Membership Strategy was produced. 
 
Members belong to one of three Constituencies, which are further sub-divided into classes 
or groups. 

Public 

There are three classes: Public: Oxfordshire; Public: Buckinghamshire; and Public: Rest of 
England & Wales.  This Constituency is open to people (excluding staff) who live in either of 
the counties of Buckinghamshire or Oxfordshire or live in the rest of England or Wales.  
Patients, service users and carers may also join this Constituency if they wish. 
 
There was a 4% increase in the public Membership as a result of ongoing face-to-face 
recruitment campaigns.  The Trust has maintained its ongoing campaigns to recruit public 
Members by attending community events and hosting “Health and Wellbeing” events in the 
counties’ market towns. 

Patient 

There are three classes: Patients: Community Services; Service Users: Mental Health; and 
Carers.  This Constituency is open to patients, service users, or carers who have had 
contact with the Trust in the previous five years on the date of application.   
 
There was a 24% increase in the patient Membership as a result of ongoing face-to-face 
recruitment campaigns.  The Trust invested a lot of energy to recruit and retain service 
user/patient and carer Members with a particular focus on inpatient ward visits, attending 
patient and carer support groups, and distributing questionnaire's to encourage people to 
join.  Staff were also provided with materials and skills to recruit service users and carers. 

Staff 

There are five classes: Staff: Specialist Secondary Mental Health (all disciplines); Staff: 
Integrated Community Services (all disciplines); Staff: Children, Young People & Families 
(all disciplines); Staff: Specialised Services (all disciplines); and Staff: Corporate Services 
(all disciplines). This Constituency is open to all employees of the Trust, including County 
Council staff employees seconded to the Trust under integrated management arrangements. 
 
There has been a 5% increase in staff Membership. 
 
Membership for Patient and Public Constituencies is under an ‘opt-in’ system. 
 
Membership for the Staff Constituency is under an ‘opt-out’ system. 
 

Membership activity 

Between April 2010 to February 2011, the Trust used its then current Membership Strategy 
to recruit, engage and manage its Membership.  During that time a range of recruitment 
activities took place to promote the benefits of NHS Foundation Trust Membership to the 
Trust’s communities. 
 
Attendance at public and Trust organised events included: 

•  Health and Wellbeing event, Buckingham, Buckinghamshire, July 2010; 
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•  Buckinghamshire County Show, Buckinghamshire, August 2010; 
•  Blackbird Leys Community Fair, Oxfordshire, September 2010; 
•  Carers Conference, Buckinghamshire, October 2010; and 
•  Health and Wellbeing event, Marlborough, Wiltshire, December 2010. 

 
The Trust also continued to publish its quarterly Members Update, a Members-only-
newsletter, to provide information about the Trust, allowing communication between 
Governors, Directors and Members, and to advertise opportunities for further engagement. 
 
Other recruitment and engagement activities held throughout the year have included: 

• Undertaking ward visits in key Trust sites to explain Membership to service users 
and recruit new Members; 

• Undertaking community ward meetings to explain Membership to groups of 
service users and recruit new Members; 

• Engaging front-line staff working on wards and out in the community to recruit 
new Members; 

• Paid-for advertising in local mental health charity newsletters; 
• Attending carer support groups to recruit new Members; and 
• Governors attending service user support groups to recruit new Members. 

  
Following the changes to the Trust’s Membership and Governor representation in February 
2011, an updated Membership Strategy was implemented.  Building on previous 
achievements, the updated Membership Strategy sets out the Trust’s Membership objectives 
and lists a series of actions to help the Trust achieve these over the next five years. It 
outlines how the Trust will evaluate its success in delivering this Strategy and how it will 
learn from this process to continue to develop and realise benefits from an active and 
participative Membership. 
 
Over the next five years (2011-2016) the Trust intends to: 

�  Develop a representative Membership, with a continued focus on recruiting more 
service user/patient and carer Members; 

�  Develop a more informed and engaged Membership; 
�  Develop a more influential Members’ Council which is closely informed by the Trust’s 

Membership; 
�  Ensuring Membership information is widely and easily accessible; and 
�  Empower Members to act as ambassadors for the Trust, to share information about 

the Trust’s services and promote the benefits of Membership. 
 
Membership growth has increased for year ending 31 March 2011 and exceeded the total 
Membership target set out in the Trust’s Annual Plan.  This has been achieved by focusing 
on increasing the patient Membership, and reducing the number of patient and public 
Members resigning from the Trust’s Membership through allowing Members more options to 
better manage their involvement (i.e. Members can choose how often they wish to be 
contacted). 
 
The Trust is pleased with the growing number of Members actively involved with the Trust.  
The Trust’s Members have participated in: 

�  project groups inputting into the design and rebuild of the Manor House Hospital, 
Aylesbury and the Highfield Unit, Oxford; 

�  the new name for the Trust; 
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�  carer and patient questionnaires; and 
�  contacting Governors to raise concerns or provide suggestions about the Trust’s 

services.  
 
The Trust continues to employ a Membership Officer whose role it is to support Governors, 
and assist the Trust in recruiting and engaging Members. 

Oxford Health NHS FT’s Membership criteria 

The Trust’s Membership is segmented into three Constituencies: 
�  Public Members 

To be a Public Member you must: 
o Live in Oxfordshire, Buckinghamshire or live in the rest of England or Wales; 
o Not be eligible to become a Member of the Staff Constituency and not be a 

Member of any other constituency; and 
o Be at least 12 years of age at the date of your application to become a 

Member. 
 

�  Patient Members 
To be a Patient Member you must: 

o Have attended any of the Trust’s services as a patient within the five years 
immediately preceding the date of an application by the patient; 

o Be the regular carer of a patient who has attended any of the Trust’s services 
within the five years immediately preceding the date of an application by the 
carer to become a member of the Trust, and does not provide care for that 
patient; 

o Not be a Member of any other constituency; and 
o Be at least 12 years of age at the date of your application. 

 
�  Staff Members 

To be a Staff Member you must: 
o Be employed by the Trust under a contract of employment which has no fixed 

term or has a fixed term of at least 12 months; 
o Have been continuously employed by the Trust under a contract of 

employment for at least 12 months 
o Exercise functions for the purposes of the Trust, otherwise than under a 

contract of employment or under an honorary contract with the Trust; 
o Be Members of the Staff Constituency provided they have exercised these 

functions continuously for a period of at least 12 months.  Such individuals 
may become or continue as members of the staff constituency provided they 
have exercised these functions continuously for a period of at least 12 
months; and 

o Have accepted an invitation to become a Member of the relevant Class of the 
Staff Constituency and whose name has been entered on the register of 
Members. 

 
Anyone wishing to contact a Governor should contact the Trust Secretary or Membership 
Officer by email ft@oxfordhealth.nhs.uk or call 01865 782180 or write to FREEPOST 
MENTAL HEALTH FOUNDATION TRUST. 
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FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS 

         Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust 

         

         

         
The accounts for the year ended 31 March 2011 are set out on the following pages 
and comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial 
Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the Statement of Cash 
Flows and the Notes to the Accounts. 

         

         

The accounts have been prepared by Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust in 
accordance with Schedule 7, Paragraph 24 and 25 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 in the form in which Monitor, the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation 
Trusts has, with the approval of HM Treasury, directed. The 2010/11 statutory 
accounts have also been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

         

         
With effect from 23rd February 2011 Oxfordshire & Buckinghamshire Mental Health 
NHS Foundation Trust, with approval from Monitor, changed its name to Oxford 
Health NHS Foundation Trust. 

         

         

         

 

 
 

 

       

         Signed: ……………………………………………….…(Chief Executive) 
  

         

         Date: …………………… 02-Jun-11 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 March 2011 

 
2010/11 2009/10 

NOT
E 

 
£000 

 
£000 

      
Operating income 4,5,6 

 
175,897 

  
156,028 

      

Operating expenses 
7 

 
(166,422

)   
(152,455 

  
  

  
  

Operating surplus   
9,475 

  
3,573 

      
Finance costs       

      
Finance income 16 70 

  
38 

 

 
     

Financial expense - financial liabilities 17 (1,290) 
  

(1,038) 
 

      
Public Dividend Capital dividends payable 37 (3,566) 

  
(4,118) 

 

      
Net finance costs   

(4,786) 
  

(5,118) 

      
Surplus from continuing operations   

4,689 
  

(1,545) 

      
Surplus from discontinued operations   

0 
  

0 

      
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)  FOR THE FINANCIAL 
YEAR   

4,689 
  

(1,545) 

      

Other comprehensive income :       

      
Revaluation gains/(losses) on property, 
plant and equipment 

19 
 

0 
  

(31,072) 

      
Revaluation gains/(losses) on intangible 
assets   

0 
  

0 

 
     

Revaluation gains/(losses) on non current 
assets held for sale 23  

0 
  (1,166) 

      
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit 
pension schemes   

(28) 
  

0 
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Reduction in donated asset reserve in 
respect of depreciation, impairment, and/or 
disposal of donated assets 

  
(25) 

  
(44) 

 
      

Other recognised gains/ (losses)   
0 

   

      
Movement in "other reserves"   

0 
  

0 

      

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND 
EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR   

4,636 
  

(33,827) 

 

 The notes on pages 5 to 44 form part of these accounts. 

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 

31 March 2011 
 

   
31 March 2011 

 
31 March 2010 

NOTE £000 
 

£000 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  
 

 Intangible assets 18 161 97 

Property, plant and equipment 19 112,449 112,254 

Trade and other receivables 22 30 30 

 Total Non-Current Assets 
 

112,640 112,381 

 CURRENT ASSETS 
 

 Inventories 21 1,909 1,885 

Trade and other receivables 22 7,065 7,886 
Non-current assets held for 
sale 23 6,400 6,400 

Cash and cash equivalents 30 17,295 11,745 

 
    

Total Current Assets 
 

32,669 27,916 

 CURRENT LIABILITIES  
 

 Trade and other payables 24 (13,434) (13,718) 

Borrowings 25 (97) (692) 

Other financial liabilities 26 (1,366) (1,197) 

Provisions 27 (798) (869) 

Other liabilities 28 (2,816) (1,758) 

 
    

Total Current Liabilities 
 

(18,511) (18,234) 

 NON CURRENT LIABILITIES  
     

 Trade and other payables 24 (97) (100) 

Borrowings 25 (13,712) (13,733) 

Other financial liabilities 26 0 0 

Provisions 27 (1,451) (1,328) 

Other liabilities 28 0 0 

 
    

Total Non Current Liabilities 
  

(15,260) 
 

(15,161) 
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 TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED 
  

111,538 
 

106,902 

 

 TAXPAYERS' EQUITY 
     Public dividend capital 
 

88,380 88,380 

Revaluation reserve 29 12,869 13,206 

Donated asset reserve 
 

978 1,003 
Available for sale financial 
assets reserve 

 
0 0 

Other reserves 
 

8,076 8,076 

Merger reserve 
 

0 0 
Income and expenditure 
reserve 

 
1,235 (3,763) 

   TOTAL TAXPAYERS' 
EQUITY 

  
111,538 

 
106,902 

 The notes on pages 5 to 44 form part of these 
accounts. 

 The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Board and signed on its 
behalf by: 

 Signed: Julie Waldron 
 

Date: 
 

 

 Julie Waldron (Chief Executive) 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY 2010/11 

           

Total 
Minority 
Interest 

Public 
Dividend 
Capital 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Donated 
Assets 

Reserve 

Available for 
Sale 

Investments 
Reserve 

Other 
Reserves 

Merger 
Reserves 

Pensions 
Reserve 

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 
2010 

106,902 0 88,380 13,206 1,003 0 8,076 0 0 (3,763) 

          
Total comprehensive income 
for the year 

4,689 
        

4,689 

Revaluation gains/(losses) and 
impairment losses on property 
plant and equipment 

0 
         

Revaluation gains/(losses) and 
impairment losses on non 
current assets held for sale 

0 
         

Reduction in the donated asset 
reserve in respect of 
depreciation, impairment, 
and/or disposal of donated 
assets 

(25) 
   

(25) 
     

Actuarial gains/(losses) on 
defined benefit pension 
schemes 

(28) 
        

(28) 

Transfer of the excess of 
current cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to 
the income and expenditure 
reserve 

0 
  

(337) 
     

337 

Movements on other reserves 0 
         

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 
March 2011 

111,538 0 88,380 12,869 978 0 8,076 0 0 1,235 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY 2009/10 

  

Total 
Minority 
Interest 

Public 
Dividend 
Capital 

Revaluatio
n Reserve 

Donated 
Assets 
Reserve 

Available for 
Sale 

Investments 
Reserve 

Other 
Reserves 

Merger 
Reserves 

Pensions 
Reserve 

Income and 
Expenditure 
Reserve 

Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2009 
under IFRS 140,726 0 88,380 41,880 1,043 0 11,814 0 0 (2,391) 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year (1,545) 

        
(1,545) 

          Revaluation gains/(losses) and 
impairment losses on property plant 
and equipment (31,072) 

  
(27,334) 

  
(3,738) 

   

          Revaluation gains/(losses) and 
impairment losses on non current 
assets held for sale (1,166) 

  
(1,166) 

      

Reduction in the donated asset 
reserve in respect of depreciation, 
impairment, and/or disposal of 
donated assets (44) 

   
(44) 

     

          Transfer of the excess of current 
cost depreciation over historical cost 
depreciation to the income and 
expenditure reserve 0 

  
(174) 

     
174 

 
          Movements on other reserves 3 

   
4 

    
(1) 

         Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 
2010 106,902 0 88,380 13,206 1,003 0 8,076 0 0 (3,763) 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 March 2011 

 2010/11 
 

2009/10 

NOTE £000 
 

£000 

Cash flows from operating activities  
    Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations  

9,475 3,573 

Operating surplus/(deficit) of discontinued operations   
0 0 

Operating surplus/(deficit)  9,475 
 

3,573 
 Non-cash income and expense:  

 Depreciation and amortisation 7 3,100 3,548 

Impairments 7 0 3,517 

Reversals of impairments  
0 0 

Transfer from the donated asset reserve  
(25) (44) 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  
178 95 

(Increase)/decrease in other assets  
0 0 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories  
(24) (599) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  
1,295 816 

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities  
1,227 1,223 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions  
52 391 

Tax (paid) / received  
0 0 

Movements in operating cash flow of discontinued operations  
0 0 

Other movements in operating cash flows  
(28) 588 

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS  15,250 
 

13,108 
 Cash flows from investing activities:  

 Interest received 16 70 38 

Purchase of intangible assets  
(87) (27) 

Sales of intangible assets  
0 0 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  
(4,834) (9,012) 

Sales of property, plant and equipment  
0 0 

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES  (4,851) 

 
(9,001) 

 Cash flows from financing activities:  
 Loans received  25 86 8,800 

Loans repaid  
(644) (638) 

Capital element of finance lease rental payments   
0 0 

Capital element of private finance initiative obligations  
(58) (70) 

Interest paid  
(381) (164) 

Interest element of finance lease  
0 0 

Financing element of private finance initiative obligations  
(909) (874) 

PDC dividend paid  
(2,943) (4,760) 

Cash flows from (used in) other financing activities  
0 0 

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES  (4,849) 

 
2,294 

 
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  5,550 

 
6,401 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April  11,745 

 
5,344 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March  17,295 

 
11,745 
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1 Accounting Policies 
 
Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting 
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM 
Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the 2010/11 NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual issued by Monitor. The accounting 
policies contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM 
Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS 
foundation trusts. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items 
considered material in relation to the accounts. 

 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the 
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial 
assets and financial liabilities. 
 
1.1 Income 
 
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance 
occurs and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income 
for the Trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services. 
 
Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial year, 
that income is deferred. 
 
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale 
have been met, and is measured as the s ums due under the sale contract. 
 
1.2 Expenditure on Employee Benefits 
 
Short Term Employee Benefits 
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service 
is received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees 
at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are 
permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period. 
 
Pension costs 
NHS Pension Scheme 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The 
scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and 
other bodies, allowed under the direction of Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It is not 
possible for the NHS foundation trust to identify its share of the underlying scheme liabilities. 
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. 
 
Employers pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become 
due. 
 
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except 
where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is 
charged to the operating expenses at the time the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of 
the method of payment. 
 

Local Government Pension Scheme 
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme which is a defined 
benefit pension scheme. Changes in the value of plan assets and obligations are shown on the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
 
1.3 Expenditure on other goods and services 
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been 
received, and is measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in 
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operating expenses except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, 
plant and equipment. 
 
1.4 Property, Plant and Equipment 
Recognition 
Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where: 

• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 
• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the 

Trust; 
• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; and 
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Assets are capitalised if they are capable of being used for a period which exceeds one year and they:  
• individually have a cost of at least £5,000; or 
• collectively have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where 

the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or 

• form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of 
their Individual or collective cost. 

 
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different 
asset lives e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 
 
Measurement 
Valuation 
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly 
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary 
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured 
subsequently at fair value. 
 
They are restated to current value each year.  The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed 
for impairment in periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be 
recoverable. Costs arising from financing the construction of the fixed assets are not capitalised but are 
charged to income & expenditure account in the year in which they relate. 
 
Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers in accordance with the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual.  The last asset valuations were undertaken 
in 2010 as at the valuation date of 31 March 2010. 
 
The Treasury has decided that the NHS should value its property assets in line with the Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Red Book standards. This means that specialised property, for which 
market value cannot be readily determined, should be valued at depreciated replacement cost (DRC) on 
a modern equivalent asset (MEA) basis. 
 
Assets in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers as part of 
the five or three-yearly valuation or when they are brought into use. 
 
Operational equipment is valued at depreciated replacement cost. Equipment surplus to requirements is 
valued at net recoverable amount. 
 
Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an 
increase in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits 
or service potential deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the 
enterprise and the cost of the item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is 
replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The 
carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate 
additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred. 
 
 
Depreciation 
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Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful economic lives in a 
manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is 
considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment which has been reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ ceases to be depreciated 
upon the reclassification. Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is 
brought into use or reverts to the Trust, respectively. 
 
Revaluation gains and losses 
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they 
reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case 
they are recognised in operating income. 
 
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance 
for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. 
 
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’. 
 
Impairments  
In accordance with the FT Annual Reporting Manual (ARM), impairments that are due to a loss of 
economic benefits or service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating 
transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal 
to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation 
reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment. 
 
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as 
revaluation gains. 
 
De-recognition  
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met:    
• the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual 
  and customary for such sales; 
  • the sale must be highly probable i.e.:  
      - management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;  
      - an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;  
      - the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;  
      - the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for Sale’; 
     - the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or 
       significant changes made to it. 
 
Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and 
their ‘fair value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, 
except where the ‘fair value less costs to sell’ falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised 
when all material sale contract conditions have been met. 
 
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as 
‘Held for Sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. 
The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs. 
 
Donated assets  
Donated fixed assets are capitalised at their current value on receipt and this value is credited to the 
donated asset reserve. Donated fixed assets are valued and depreciated as described above for 
purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations are also taken to the donated asset reserve and, 
each year, an amount equal to the depreciation charge on the asset is released from the donated asset 
reserve to the income and expenditure account. Similarly, any impairment on donated assets charged to 
the income and expenditure account is matched by a transfer from the donated asset reserve. On sale of 
donated assets, the net book value of the donated asset is transferred from the donated asset reserve to 
the Income and Expenditure Reserve. 
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Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions   
PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM 
Treasury’s FReM, are accounted for as ‘on-statement of financial position’ by the Trust. The underlying 
assets are recognised as Property, Plant and Equipment at their fair value. An equivalent financial liability 
is recognised in accordance with IAS 17. 
 
The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and 
the charges for services. The finance cost is calculated using the implicit interest rate for the scheme.  
The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to Finance Costs 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Lifecycle replacement costs are capitalised in line with the 
operator capital spend. 
 
1.5 Intangible Assets 
Recognition  
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They 
are recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be 
provided to, the Trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 
 
Internally generated intangible assets 
Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are 
not capitalised as intangible assets. 
 
Expenditure on research is not capitalised. 
Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be demonstrated:  
   • the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an intangible asset for 
sale or use; 
   • the Trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it; 
   • the Trust has the ability to sell or use the asset; 
   • how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery benefits e.g. the 
presence of a market for it or its output, or where it is to be used for internal use, the usefulness of the 
asset; 
   • adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the Trust to complete the 
development and sell or use the asset; and 
   • the Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development. 
 

Software 
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of 
the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of 
hardware e.g. application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. 
 
Measurement 
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to 
create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management. 
 
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Revaluations gains and losses and 
impairments are treated in the same manner as for Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs 
to sell’. 
 
Amortisation 
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. 
 
1.6  Government grants 
 
Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from primary care trusts or 
NHS trusts for the provision of services. Grants from the Department of Health, including those for 
achieving three star status, are accounted for as Government grants as are grants from the Big Lottery 
Fund. Where the Government grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of 
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Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure. Where the grant is used to fund capital expenditure 
the grant is held as deferred income and released to operating income over the life of the asset in a 
manner consistent with the depreciation charge for that asset. 
 
1.7 Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured 
using the weighted average cost method. 
 
1.8 Financial instruments and financial liabilities 
Recognition 
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-
financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal 
purchase, sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance 
occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made. 
 
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases 
are recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described below. 
 
De-recognition 
 All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired 
or the Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
Classification and Measurement 
Financial assets are classified as fair value through income & expenditure, loans & receivables. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as fair value through income & expenditure or as 'other financial 
liabilities'. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘Fair Value through Income and Expenditure’ 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ are financial assets 
or financial liabilities held for trading. A financial asset or financial liability is classified in this category if 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives are also categorised as held 
for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets and liabilities in this category are classified as 
current assets and current liabilities. 
 
These financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, with transaction costs 
expensed in the income and expenditure account. Subsequent movements in the fair value are 
recognised as gains or losses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are 
not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets. 
 
The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: cash at bank and in hand, NHS debtors, accrued income 
and ‘other debtors’. 
 
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured 
subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, 
when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
 
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets which are either designated in this 
category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in long-term assets unless the 
Trust intends to dispose of them within 12 months of the Statement of financial position date. 
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Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, including transaction costs, and 
measured subsequently at fair value, with gains or losses recognised in reserves and reported in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’. When items classified 
as ‘available-for-sale’ are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised are 
transferred from reserves and recognised in ‘Finance Costs’ in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Other financial liabilities  
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 
measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial 
liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. 
 
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the 
Statement of financial position date, which are classified as long-term liabilities. 
 
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method 
and charged to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and 
equipment or intangible assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. 
 
Determination of fair value 
For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value, the carrying amounts are determined from 
quoted market prices, independent appraisals and discounted cash flow analysis. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 

At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than 
those held at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and 
impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of 
one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the asset. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly. 
 
1.9  Leases 
Finance leases 
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the NHS 
foundation trust, the asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is 
recorded. The value at which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
 
The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is 
accounted for an item of property plant and equipment. 
 

The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a 
constant rate of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The lease liability, is de-recognised when the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
Operating leases 
Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating expenses on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease 
rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease. 
 
 
Leases of land and buildings 
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component 
and the classification for each is assessed separately. Leased land is treated as an operating lease. 
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1.10 Provisions  
The NHS foundation trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of 
uncertain timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other 
resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation. Where the 
effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted 
using HM Treasury’s discount rate of 2.2% in real terms, except for early retirement provisions and injury 
benefit provisions which both use the HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of 2.9% in real terms. 
 
Clinical negligence costs  
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an 
annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the 
NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the 
NHS foundation trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of 
the NHS foundation trust is disclosed at note 27. 
 

Non-clinical risk pooling  
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are 
risk pooling schemes under which the trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and in 
return receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any 
‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises. 
 
1.11 Contingencies 
 Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by 
one or more future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are 
disclosed in note 35 where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 35, unless the probability of a transfer 
of economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:   

• possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or 

• present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of 
economic benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with 
sufficient reliability. 

 
1.12 Public dividend capital 
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over 
liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust. HM Treasury has determined that 
PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32. 
 
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS foundation trust, is payable as public dividend 
capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average 
relevant net assets of the NHS foundation trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets are 
calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets, (ii) net 
cash balances held with the Government Banking Services and (iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable 
or payable. In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of 
PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the 
‘pre-audit’ version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any 
adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts. 
 
1.13 Value Added Tax 
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply 
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure 
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input 
VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 
 
1.14 Corporation Tax  
The Trust's activities relate to the provision of goods and services relating to healthcare authorised under 
Section 14(1) of the HSCA. On this basis the Trust is not liable for corporation tax. 
 
1.15 Foreign exchange 
The functional and presentational currencies of the Trust are sterling. 
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A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the 
spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction. 
 
Where the Trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of financial 
position date: 

• monetary items (other than financial instruments measured at ‘fair value through income and 
expenditure’) are translated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March; 

• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and 

• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange 
rate at the date the fair value was determined. 

 
Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation 
at the Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in income or expense in the period in which 
they arise. 
 
Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as 
other gains and losses on these items. 
 
1.16 Third party assets 
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the 
accounts since the NHS foundation trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed 
in a separate note to the accounts in accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s Financial 
Reporting Manual. 
 
1.17  Losses and special payments 
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed 
funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not 
arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. 
They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. 
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an 
accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS 
trusts not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue 
expenditure). 
 
However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations 
register which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses. 
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2 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from those 
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 
 
2.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies  
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that 
management has made in the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies and that have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  

• The Trust's PFI scheme has been assessed as an on Statement of Financial Position PFI 
under IFRIC 12 because the Trust has judged that it controls the services and the residual 
interest at the end of the service arrangement. 

• The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when 
there is an indication that the values of the assets might be impaired. 

• The Trust determines whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in 
relation to leased assets, if this is deemed to be the case the lease is treated as a finance 
lease, all other leases are classified as operating leases. 

2.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty  
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 
• Property Valuations 
The Trust has decided not to have a full District Valuers valuation of property values in 2010-11 due 
to the low value of capital expenditure in the year combined with stable market values. Valuations 
were carried out in March 2010 by the District Valuer to determine the value of property.  These 
valuations are based on Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors valuation standards insofar as 
these are consistent with the requirements of HM Treasury, the National Health Service and the 
Department of Health. 
 
• Estimation of replacement of components of the PFI asset during the contract - 'lifecycle 
replacement'. 
PFI lifecycle replacement costs are estimated to take place as planned and at the values included in 
the operator's financial model as adjusted for indexation. 
 
• Estimation of payments for the PFI asset, including finance costs.  
The assets and liabilities relating to the PFI scheme have been brought onto the Statement of 
Financial Position based on estimations from the Department of Health financial model as required 
by Department of Health guidance.  These estimations were reviewed by external audit as part of the 
2008/09 IFRS accounts restatement exercise. 
  
• Estimation of asset lives as the basis for depreciation calculations. 
 Depreciation of equipment is based on asset lives, which have been estimated upon recognition of 
the assets. 
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3 Operating Segments 

The following information segments the results of the NHS Foundation Trust by: 

 • Oxford Pharmacy Store - Shortline pharmacy store supplying pharmaceuticals 
to other NHS Trusts in England and Wales 

 • Mental Healthcare activities, being all the other activities of the NHS Foundation Trust 

  

Mental Healthcare 
 

Oxfordshire 
Pharmacy Store  

Total 

£000 £000 £000 

2010/11 2009/10 2010/11 2009/10 2010/11 2009/10 

   Income 161,018 141,511 14,879 14,517 175,897 156,028 

   Operating 
surplus/(deficit) 9,663 3,548 (188) 25 9,475 3,573 

In line with the HM Treasury, the Trust has chosen to adopt the amendment to IFRS 8. 
Consequently, the Trust does not need to disclose the total assets attributable to each 
operating segment as this information is not regularly provided to the Board. 
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4 Operating Income 
    

  
2010/11 

 
2009/10 

  £000 £000 

Income from activities 137,570 121,278 

Other operating income 38,327 34,750 

175,897 156,028 

5 Income from Activities 
    5.1 Income from Activities (by activity) 
    

  
2010/11 

 
2009/10 

  £000 £000 

Block contract income 104,632 115,403 

Cost and volume contract income 26,181 898 

Clinical partnerships providing mandatory services 0 0 

Clinical income for the secondary commissioning of 
mandatory services 3,152 964 

Other clinical income from mandatory services 3,604 3,997 

Private patient income 1 16 

137,570 121,278 

All income from activities arises from mandatory services. 
 5.2 Income from Activities (by source) 
    

  
2010/11 

 
2009/10 

  £000 £000 

Primary Care Trusts 126,364 110,038 

Local Authorities 9,879 8,135 

Foundation Trusts 226 3,026 

Strategic Health Authorities 0 0 

NHS Trusts 1,100 63 

NHS Other 0 0 

Non NHS: 
       - Private patients 1 16 

137,570 121,278 

5.3 Private Patient Income 

2010/11 
 

2002/03* 

£000 £000 

Private patient income 1 16 

Total patient related income 137,570 77,469 

Proportion (as a percentage) 0.00% 0.02% 
* The base year for calculating the proportion of total 
income 

The Health Act 2009 revised the Private Patient Cap per section 44 of the 2006 Act for 
Mental Health NHS Foundation Trusts. A Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust is one that 
provides goods or services only or mainly for the prevention, diagnosis or treatment of any 
disorder or disability of the mind or for the benefit in any other way of people suffering from a 
disorder or disability of the mind. The relevant provisions came into force on 19 January 
2010. For mental health NHS foundation trusts the PPI Cap will be the greater of: 

• The proportion of the total income derived from private patient charges in 2002/03; or 

• 1.5%. 
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6 Other Operating Income 

   2010/11 2009/10 
£000 

 
£000 

Pharmacy sales 14,954 14,659 

Education and training 11,071 11,196 

Non-patient care services to other bodies 5,108 4,611 

Other income 4,371 2,597 

Research and development 2,798 1,613 

Transfers from donated asset reserve  25 67 

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 0 7 

38,327 34,750 

     7 Operating Expenses 
   

 

2010/11 2009/10 

 

£000 
 

£000 

 

Services from Foundation Trusts 1,293 188 

 

Services from NHS Trusts 1,805 2,165 

 

Services from other NHS bodies 148 290 

 

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 2,567 1,484 

 

Directors' costs (executive and non-executive) 960 1,008 

 

Staff costs 113,209 101,403 

 

Drug costs 17,153 16,148 

 

Supplies and services - clinical 2,559 323 

 

Supplies and services - general 1,683 1,827 

 

Establishment 5,003 4,502 

 

Transport 280 288 

 

Premises 8,225 7,541 

 

Increase/ (decrease) in bad debt provision (67) 132 

 

Depreciation of property plant and equipment 3,077 3,528 

 

Amortisation on intangible assets 23 20 

 

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 0 588 

 

Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment 0 3,517 

 

Professional services 2,086 1,262 

 

Audit services - statutory audit 71 79 

 

Internal audit services 137 147 

 

Clinical negligence 332 318 

 

Other services 1,074 646 

 

Redundancy  16 685 

 

Legal fees 674 817 

 

Training, courses and conferences 1,181 845 

 

Other 2,933 2,704 

 

166,422 152,455 
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8 Leases 
       

 

Memorandum note - operating lease costs are included within operating 
expenses 

   

         8.
1 Operating Lease Payments recognised as an expense 

    

         

 

2010/1
1 

2009/1
0 

    

 

£000 
 

£000 
    

 

Minimum lease payments 3,472 2,553 
    

 

Contingent rents 0 0 
    

 

Sub-lease payments 0 0 
    

 

3,472 2,553 
    

         8.
2 

Total future minimum operating lease 
payments 

      

         

 

Land & Buildings 
 

Other Leases 

 

2010/1
1 

2009/1
0 

2010/1
1 

2009/1
0 

 

£000 
 

£000 £000 
 

£000 

 

Payable: 
  

 

Not later than one year 2,764 1,667 504 526 

 

Between one and five years 8,786 5,894 361 321 

 

After 5 years 16,754 14,250 0 0 

 

Total 28,304 21,811 865 847 

         

 

Total future sublease payments expected to be 
received: £Nil 

      

         8.
3 Finance Leases 

       

 

The Trust has no finance leases, either as lessor or lessee, other than the PFI scheme which is 
identified separately (see note 32). 
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9 Staff Costs and Numbers 

     

9.1 Employee expenses* 
     (excluding non-executive directors) 2010/11 2009/10 

Total 
Permanently 
Employed 

Other 
 

Total 

£000 £000 £000 
 

£000 

Salaries and wages 89,011 86,631 2,380 78,552 

Social Security costs 7,305 7,305 0 6,370 

Employer contributions to NHS Pension Scheme 11,239 11,239 0 10,009 

Other pension costs 0 0 0 0 

Termination benefits 190 190 0 685 

Bank and Agency Staff 5,073 0 5,073 5,898 

112,818 105,365 7,453 101,514 

* These figures are net of costs recovered from other organisations.  

9.2 Staff numbers 
     (excluding non-executive directors) 

2010/11 2009/10 

Total 
Permanently 
Employed 

Other 
 

Total 

WTE WTE WTE 
 

WTE 

Medical and dental 184 164 20 179 

Administration and estates 637 637 0 576 

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 162 161 1 156 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 1,115 1,115 0 1,041 

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 492 492 0 394 

Bank and Agency Staff 86 0 86 109 

2,676 2,569 107 2,455 

WTE - Whole Time Equivalent.  WTE shown is an average throughout the 
year 
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9.3 Directors' Remuneration and Other Benefits 

   2010/11 2009/10 
£000 £000 

Executive and non executive directors salaries 801 916 

Employers' contribution to executive directors' pensions 84 81 
(relates to 7 Directors accruing benefits under the NHS Pension 
Scheme, a defined benefit scheme) 

 885 997 

 

 9.4 Staff Exit Packages 
 

   

 

During 2010-11 exit packages were agreed in respect of 4 employees, details are as 
follows; 

   2010/11 2010/11 2010/11 
 

2009/10 

Exit Package Cost Band 

Number of 
Compulsory 

Redundancies 

Number of 
Other 

Departure
s Agreed 

Total 
Number 
of Exit 

Packages 
by Cost 
Band 

 

Total 
Number of 

Exit 
Packages 

by Cost 
Band 

£10,000 - £25,000 3 0 3 2 

£25,001 - £50,000 0 0 0 1 

£50,001 - £100,000 0 0 0 1 

£100,001 - £150,000 0 0 0 0 

£150,001 - £200,000 1 0 1 0 

Total Number of Exit 
Packages By Type 4 0 4 4 

Total Resource Cost £'000 210 0 210 139 

 

10 Employee Benefits 

     
       The Trust's employees received no material benefits in 2010/11 (none in 

2009/10). 

11 Retirements due to Ill-health 

    
       During 2010/11 there were 2 (2009/10, 3) early retirements from the NHS Foundation Trust 

agreed on the grounds of ill-health.  The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health 
retirements will be £51,943 (£329,108).  The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by 
the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division. 
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12 Pension Costs           

12.1 NHS Pension Scheme 
     

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The 
scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general 
practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of Secretary of State, in England and 
Wales. It is not possible for the NHS foundation trust to identify its share of the underlying 
scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme.  

Full Actuarial valuation 
The NHS Pension Scheme is subject to a full valuation every four years by the Government 
Actuary. The latest published valuation relates to the period 1 April 1999 to 31 March 2004 
which was published in December 2007 and is available on the NHS Pensions Agency 
website. 

The national deficit of the scheme was £3.3 billion as per the last scheme valuation by the 
Government Actuary for the period 1 April 1999 to 31 March 2004. The conclusion of the 
valuation was the scheme continues to operate on a sound financial basis. 

On 22 June 2010 the government announced in the Emergency Budget that in future the 
Consumer Prices Index (CPI) would be used to calculate the minimum pension increases for 
index-linked pensions rather than the Retail Prices Index (RPI) that has been used to date. 
This change will result in a reduction of any defined benefit pension liability, or where a net 
pension is recognised, an increase in that asset. 

Employer contribution rates are reviewed every four years following the scheme valuation, on 
advice from the actuary. At the last valuation it was recommended that employer contribution 
rates should continue at 14% on pensionable pay. From 1 April 2008, employees' pay 
contributions will be on a tiered scale from 5% to 8.5% of their pensionable pay. 

Employers pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they 
become due. Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the 
scheme except where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the 
additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the time the trust commits itself to 
the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

Details of the benefits under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk 

12.2 

Local Government 
Superannuation 
Scheme 

 
Buckinghamshire County Council Pension Scheme 
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In 2009-10 22 members of staff transferred employment from Buckinghamshire County 
Council. As at 31st March 2011 19 of these retain their membership of the Buckinghamshire 
County Council Pension Scheme. The County Council retains the assets and liabilities 
relating to this scheme. The Trust's obligations in respect of pension liabilities for these staff 
transferring is with effect from 1 April 2009 and not the period of employment before this date. 
 
The Trust's accounts in 2010-11 recognise a £28k movement in the net liability of the pension 
scheme attributable to these employees. This is shown on the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and included within provisions on the Statement of Financial Position.The total liability 
of the pension scheme in relation to these employees as at 31st March 2011 is £290k.   
 
The £28k comprises of an increase in the Fair Value of Pension Fund Scheme Assets to 
£1,097k (£1,007k as at 31st March 2010) less an increase in the Present Value of Funded 
Pension Obligation to £1,387k (£1,269k as at 31st March 2010).  
 
Full details of the scheme actuarial report are available on request.  
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13 Audit Remuneration 
       

13.1 Audit Fees 
       2010/11 2009/10 

£000 £000 
Audit services - statutory audit 71 79 

Audit services - audit-related regulatory reporting 0 0 

71 79 

13.2 Limitation on auditor's liability 
       2010/11 2009/10 

£000 £000 
Limitation on auditor's liability 0 0 

0 0 

14 Better Payment Practice Code 
       2010/11 2009/10 
Number £000 Number £000 

Measure of Compliance: 
   Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 33,697 

 
53,368 35,047 53,329 

Total Non NHS trade invoices paid within target* 30,700 
 

51,229 31,754 51,124 
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within 
target 91.1% 

 
96.0% 90.6% 95.9% 

   Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 1,796 
 

14,125 1,467 11,399 

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target* 1,699 
 

13,730 1,365 10,723 

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 94.6% 
 

97.2% 93.0% 94.1% 

*Target - The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all undisputed invoices by 
the due date or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later. 

15 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 
     

         2010/11 2009/10 
£000 £000 

Amounts included within Finance Costs (Note 17) 
arising from claims made under this legislation 

0 
 

0 

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs 
under this legislation 

0 
 

0 

0 0 
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16 Finance Income 

 

2010/11 2009/10 
 

 

£000 £000 
 

 

Finance Income: 
  

 

- Bank account interest 70 38 
 

 

70 38 
 

      17 Finance Expense 

 

2010/11 2009/10 
 

 

£000 £000 
 

 

Interest on loans 381 164 
 

 

Financing obligations under PFI contracts: 
  

 

 - main finance cost * 685 668 
 

 

 - contingent finance cost** 224 206 
 

 

1,290 
 

1,038 
 

      

      

 

* The interest on the PFI liability outstanding. 

    

 

** The additional amount payable on the liability due to uncertain factors (i.e. inflation) is 

treated as a 'contingent finance cost'. IAS17 requires this to be reported separately from 

the main lease finance cost.  
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18 Intangible Assets 
     

  2010/11 2009/10 
 £000  £000  
 Gross cost at 1 April 2010 380 353 
 Indexation  0 0 
 Impairments  0 0 
 Reclassifications 0 0 
 Revaluation  0 0 
 Additions purchased  87 27 
 Additions donated 0 0 
 Additions government granted  0 0 
 Disposals  0 0 
 Gross cost at 31 March 2011 467 380 
 

  Amortisation at 1 April 2010 283 
 

263 
 Indexation  0 

 
0 

 Impairments  0 
 

0 
 Reversal of impairments 0 

 
0 

 Reclassifications 0 
 

0 
 Revaluation  0 

 
0 

 Charged during the year  23 
 

20 
 Disposals  0 

 
0 

 Amortisation at 31 March 2011 306 
 

283 
 

   Net book value 
   Purchased at 31 March 2011 161 

 
97 

 Donated at 31 March 2011 0 
 

0 
 Government granted at 31 March 2011 0 

 
0 

 Total at 31 March 2011 161 
 

97 
 

   All Intangible Assets held by the Trust are software licences which are held at depreciated 
replacement cost.  The useful lives of software assets are finite.  The useful remaining life of 
software licences range from between 1 year and 5 years. 

  Revaluation reserve balance for intangible assets 

 2010/11 2009/10 
 £000  £000  
 At 1 April 2010 0 0 
 Changes 0 0 
 At 31 March 2011 0 0 
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19 Property, Plant and Equipment 
         19 Property, Plant and Equipment at the date of the Statement of Financial Position 2010 - 2011 comprise of the following elements: 

 

  
Land 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings 

Assets 
under 
construction 
and 
payments 
on account 

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment 

Information 
technology 

Furniture 
and 
fittings 

Total 

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

 
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2010 39,938 64,328 594 6,907 1,937 91 8,557 4,364 126,716 

Additions purchased  0 581 0 2,116 1 0 529 45 3,272 

Additions donated  
        

0 

Additions government granted  
        

0 

Reclassifications 
 

603 199 (1,002) 53 
 

18 129 0 

Reclassified as held for sale 
        

0 

Disposals other than by sale 
        

0 

Indexation  
        

0 

Revaluation  
        

0 

Impairments  
        

0 

Reversal of impairments 
        

0 

 
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2011 39,938 65,512 793 8,021 1,991 91 9,104 4,538 129,988 

 
Depreciation at 1 April 2010 0 5,674 30 0 1,278 79 5,765 1,636 14,462 

Reclassifications 
        

0 

Reclassified as held for sale 
        

0 

Disposals other than by sale 
        

0 

Revaluation  
        

0 

Impairments 
        

0 

Reversal of impairments 
        

0 

Charged during the year  0 1,670 22 0 88 8 880 409 3,077 

 
Depreciation at 31 March 2011 0 7,344 52 0 1,366 87 6,645 2,045 17,539 
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Net Book Value 

         Purchased at 1 April 2010 39,938 50,350 564 6,907 651 12 2,792 2,727 103,941 
Private finance initiatives at 1 April 

2010 0 7,310 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,310 
Donated at 1 April 2010 0 994 0 0 8 0 0 1 1,003 

 
Total at 1 April 2010 39,938 58,654 564 6,907 659 12 2,792 2,728 112,254 

 
Purchased at 31 March 2011 39,938 49,764 741 8,021 619 4 2,459 2,493 104,039 
Private finance initiatives at 31 March 

2011 7,432 7,432 
Donated at 31 March 2011 972 6 978 

 
Total at 31 March 2011 39,938 58,168 741 8,021 625 4 2,459 2,493 112,449 

 



 

132 
 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment at the date of the Statement of Financial Position 2009 - 2010 comprise of the following elements: 

 

 

Land  Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings  Assets under 
construction 
and payments 
on account  

Plant and 
machinery  

Transport 
equipment  

Information 
technology  

Furniture & 
fittings  

Total 

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2009 55,112 76,601 770 5,459 1,838 91 6,647 3,359 149,877 

Additions purchased  0 3,472 0 6,046 102 0 836 37 10,493 

Additions donated  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions government granted  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reclassifications (265)  2,664 0 (4,598)  2 0 1,074 1,123 0 

Reclassified as held for sale 1,645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,645 

Disposals other than by sale 0 (473)  (81)  0 (5)  0 0 (151)  (710)  

Indexation  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Revaluation  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairments  (16,554)  (17,936)  (95)  0 0 0 0 (4)  (34,589)  

Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2010 39,938 64,328 594 6,907 1,937 91 8,557 4,364 126,716 

Depreciation at 1 April 2009 0 3,548 15 0 1,192 72 4,939 1,292 11,058 

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reclassified as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals other than by sale 0 (55)  (5)  0 (5)  0 0 (58)  (123)  

Revaluation  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Charged during the year  0 2,181 20 0 91 7 826 402 3,527 

Depreciation at 31 March 2010 0 5,674 30 0 1,278 79 5,765 1,636 14,462 

Net book value  
         - Purchased at 1 April 2009 55,112 64,105 755 5,459 635 19 1,708 2,064 129,857 

- Private finance initiative at 1 April 2009 0 7,919 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,919 
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- Donated at 1 April 2009 0 1,029 0 0 11 0 0 3 1,043 

- Total at 1 April 2009 55,112 73,053 755 5,459 646 19 1,708 2,067 138,819 

- Purchased at 31 March 2010 39,938 50,350 564 6,907 651 12 2,792 2,727 103,941 

- Private finance initiative at 1 April 2009 0 7,310 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,310 

- Donated at 31 March 2010 0 994 0 0 8 0 0 1 1,003 

- Total at 31 March 2010 39,938 58,654 564 6,907 659 12 2,792 2,728 112,254 
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19.2 Analysis of Property, Plant and Equipment as at 2010 - 2011 
      

Land 

Building
s 

excludin
g 

dwelling
s 

Dwelling
s 

Assets under 
construction 

and 
payments on 

account 

Plant and 
machiner

y 

Transport 
equipment 

Informatio
n 

technolog
y 

Furnitur
e and 

fittings 
Total 

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

 
Net Book Value 

         Protected Assets at 1 April 2010 37,802 44,358 364 82,524 

Unprotected Assets at 1 April 2010 2,136 14,296 200 6,907 659 12 2,792 2,728 29,730 

Total as at 1 April 2010 39,938 58,654 564 6,907 659 12 2,792 2,728 
112,25

4 

Protected Assets at 31 March 2011 38,695 44,385 545 
     

83,625 
Unprotected Assets at 31 March 

2011 1,243 13,783 196 8,021 625 4 2,459 2,493 28,824 

Total as at 31 March 2011 39,938 58,168 741 8,021 625 4 2,459 2,493 
112,44

9 

19.3 Economic Life of Property, Plant and Equipment as at 2010 - 2011 
      

Land 

Building
s 

excludin
g 

dwelling
s 

Dwelling
s 

Assets 
under 

constructio
n and 

payments 
on account 

Plant and 
machiner

y 

Transport 
equipment 

Informatio
n 

technolog
y 

Furnitur
e and 

fittings 
 

Minimum Life Years 
 

10 16 
 

1 1 1 1 

Maximum Life Years 
 

55 31 
 

15 7 8 10 
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19.4 Further comments on Property, Plant and Equipment 
       

All land and buildings were revalued by the District Valuer using Modern Equivalent Asset valuation as at 1 April 2009 and revalued as at 31 March 2010. 

Plant and equipment is valued using depreciated replacement 
cost. 

19.5 Profit/(Loss) on Disposal of Fixed Assets 
        

Profit/(Loss) on the disposal of fixed assets is made up as 
follows: 

2010/1
1 2009/10 

£000 £000 
Profit on disposal of land and buildings 0 0 

(Loss) on disposal of land and buildings 0 (495) 
Profits on disposal of plant and 
equipment 0 0 
(Loss) on disposal of plant and 
equipment 0 (93) 

0 (588) 

All losses on disposal of fixed assets in 2009/10 related to unprotected assets. 
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20 Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment 

    
      

 

There were no impairments of Property, Plant and Equipment in the current financial year. 

      21 Inventories 
    

      21.1 Inventories 
    

 

31 March 
2011 

31 March 
2010 

 

 

£000 £000 
 

 

Drugs 1,834 
 

1,810 

 

 

Consumables 28 
 

33 

 

 

Energy 24 
 

19 

 

 

Work in progress 0 
 

0 

 

 

Other  23 
 

23 

 

 

1,909 
 

1,885 

 

      Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

      21.2 Inventories recognised in expenses 
    

 

31 March 
2011 

31 March 
2010 

 

 

£000 £000 
 

 

Inventories recognised as an expense in the period 15,914 

 

15,363 

 

 

Write-down of inventories (including losses) 57 

 

5 

 

 

Reversal of write-downs that reduced the expense (3) 

 

(2) 

 

 

15,968 15,366 
  

22 Trade and Other Receivables 
    

22.1 Trade and Other Receivables 
    

  
Current Non-current 

  

31 March 
2011 

31 March 
2010 

31 March 
2011 

31 March 
2010 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

NHS receivables 2,865 2,927 
 

0 

Non-NHS trade receivables 1,017 1,161 30 30 

VAT 344 288 
 

0 

Accrued income 1,343 2,282 
 

0 

PDC dividend receivable 19 642 
 

0 
Provision for the impairment of 
receivables (210) (277) 

 
0 

Prepayments other 1,687 863 
 

0 

7,065 7,886 30 30 

The majority of trade is with Primary Care Trusts, as commissioners for NHS patient care services.  As 
Primary Care Trusts are funded by Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them 
is considered necessary. 

The prior year figures remain the same in total value but have been reclassified in line with Monitor's 
reporting requirements. 
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22.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 
   31 March 

2011 
31 March 

2010 

£000 £000 

By up to three months 3,073 3,854 

By three to six months 37 100 

By more than six months 50 281 

3,160 4,235 

22.3 Ageing of impaired receivables 
    31 March 

2011 
31 March 

2010 

£000 £000 

By up to three months 131 147 

By three to six months 116 142 

By more than six months 162 265 

409 554 

22.4 Provision for impairment of receivables 
   31 March 

2011 
31 March 

2010 

£000 £000 

Balance at 1 April  277 145 

Amount written off during the year (74) 0 

Amount recovered during the year 4 0 
Increase/(decrease) in receivables 
impaired 3 132 

Balance at 31 March 210 277 

All individual receivables due have been reviewed to reflect fair value. 
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23 Disposal Groups 
       

23.1 Non-current assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups 2010/11 
     

  

Intangible 
assets 

Property, 
Plant and 

Equipment 
Financial 

Investments Other Total  
  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in 
disposal groups at 1 April 2010 

0 6,400 0 0 6,400 

Plus assets classified as available for sale in the year     
0 

Less assets sold in year     
0 

Less Impairment of assets held for sale     
0 

Plus Reversal of impairment of assets held for sale     
0 

Less assets no longer classified as held for sale, for 
reasons other than disposal by sale     

0 

NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in 
disposal groups at 31 March 2011 

0 6,400 0 0 6,400 

There was no gain or loss recognised for these non current assets on classification of held for sale 
23.2 Non-current assets for sale 2010/11 

       

  
Land 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwelling Dwellings 

Other 
property, 
plant and 

equipment 
Intangible 

assets 
Other 
assets Total 

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

 
Balance brought forward at 1 April 2010 4,600 1,638 0 162 0 0 6,400 

Plus assets classified as held for sale in the year 162 162 
Less assets sold in the year 0 
Less impairment of assets held for sale 0 
Plus reversal of impairment of assets held for sale 0 

Less assets no longer classified as held for sale, for 
reasons other than disposal by sale    

(162) 
  

(162) 

 
Balance brought forward at 31 March 2011 4,600 1,800 0 0 0 0 6,400 

 

The non current assets held for sale at 31 March 2011 relates to Boundary Brook House, formally Park Hospital (Oxford).  The Trust have accepted an offer on this property and expect the sale to 
be complete in 2011/12.  The terms of the offer include an operating lease arrangement back to the Trust.   
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24 Trade Payables 
         

  
Current 

 
Non-current 

  31 March 
2011 

31 March 
2010 

31 March 
2011 

31 March 
2010 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Interest payable 0 0 

 
0 

NHS payables 1,125 1,587 
 

0 

Other trade payables - revenue 4,180 3,087 97 100 

Other trade payables - capital 529 2,092 
 

0 

Tax and social security costs 2,330 2,050 
 

0 

Accruals 5,252 4,883 
 

0 

Other 18 19 
 

0 

13,434 13,718 97 100 

'Other trade payables - capital' relate primarily to Manor House (Aylesbury) which commenced in 2009/10, and IT Infrastructure development. 

'Other payables - revenue' include: £1,415,910 outstanding pensions contributions at 31 March 2011 (£1,271,678 at 31 March 2010). 

The prior year figures remain the same in total value but have been reclassified in line with Monitor's reporting requirements.  
25 Borrowings 

         Current 
 

Non-current 
31 March 

2011 
31 March 

2010 
31 March 

2011 
31 March 

2010 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Loans from: 

Department of Health 0 622 8,800 8,800 

Other entities 34 12 83 41 

PFI liabilities: 

Main liability 63 58 4,829 4,892 

Lifecycle replacement received in advance 0 0 0 0 

97 692 13,712 13,733 

DH loan facility of £28.1m for the Manor House redevelopment has been approved, of which none has been received in 2010/11. This loan will be 
repaid in full by 2034. 

PFI liability will be repaid in full by 2024. The loan in respect of Nuffield Health Centre will be repaid in full by 2015. 
The Trust has received Salix Finance Ltd Energy Efficiency Loans totalling £86k which will repaid in full by 
2014.     
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26 Other Financial Liabilities 
       Current 

 
Non-current 

31 March 
2011 

31 March 
2010 

31 March 
2011 

31 March 
2010 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Financial liabilities carried at fair value through 
income and expenditure 

1,366 
 

1,197 
 

0 
 

0 

1,366 1,197 0 0 

The only other financial liability that the Trust has relates to the holiday pay accrual (IAS 19 - Employee 
benefits). 
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27 Provisions 
      

  
Current Non-current 

  31 March 2011 31 March 2010 31 March 2011 31 March 2010 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Pensions relating to former directors 0 0 0 0 

Pensions relating to other staff 95 101 745 685 

Legal claims 123 153 81 97 

Agenda for Change 0 0 0 0 

Other - Redundancy 368 573 0 0 

Other - Pensions to Death 14 14 125 138 

Other - Injury Benefit 28 28 500 408 

Other - Employment 170 0 0 0 

798 869 1,451 1,328 

  

Pensions 
relating to 

former 
directors 

Pensions 
relating to 
other staff Legal claims 

Agenda for 
Change Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
Provision at 1 April 2010 0 786 250 0 1,161 2,197 

Arising during the year 175 120 723 1,018 

Used during the year (95) (80) (232) (407) 

Change in discount  (26) (49) (75) 

Reversed unused (86) (398) (484) 

Unwinding of discount 0 

 
Provision at 31 March 2011 0 840 204 0 1,205 2,249 

 
Expected timing of cash flows: 

      

 
no later than one year 95 123 580 798 

 

later than one year and no later than five 
years 379 65 170 614 

 
later than five years 366 16 455 837 

 

£345k is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority at 31 March 2011 in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the Trust (£68k at 
31 March 2010). 
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28 Other Liabilities 
       

  
Current 

 
Non-current 

31 March 
2011 

31 March 
2010 

31 March 
2011 

31 March 
2010 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Lease incentives 0 0 0 0 

PFI asset – deferred credit 0 0 0 0 

Other - Deferred Income 2,816 1,758 0 0 

2,816 1,758 0 0 

The increase in deferred income compared to last year comprises increased deferrals for Research and 
Development £0.9m, HIEC £0.6m and other £0.1m. This is offset by reductions in deferrals on Improved 
Access to Psychological Therapies funding £0.3m and Flexibility and Sustainability funding £0.3m. 
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29 Revaluation Reserve 
      

  
2010/11 2009/10 

Total 
Revaluation 
Reserve 

Revaluation 
Reserve -
intangibles 

Revaluation 
Reserve -
Property, 
Plant and 
Equipment 

Total 
Revaluation 

Reserve 

Revaluation 
Reserve -
intangibles 

Revaluation 
Reserve -
Property, 
Plant and 
Equipment 

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

 
Revaluation Reserve at 1 April 2010 13,206 0 13,206 41,880 0 41,880 

Revaluation gains/(losses) and 
impairment losses on intangible assets 

0 0 0 0 0 
 

Revaluation gains/(losses) and 
impairment losses property, plant and 
equipment 

0 0 0 (27,334) 0 (27,334) 

Revaluation gains/(losses) and 
impairment losses arising from classifying 
non current assets as Assets Held for Sale 

0 0 0 (1,166) 0 (1,166) 

Fair Value gains/(losses) on 
Available-for-sale financial investments 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Recycling gains/(losses) on Available-
for-sale financial investments 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers to the income and 
expenditure account in respect of assets 
disposed of 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfer of the excess of current cost 
depreciation over historical cost 
depreciation to the Income and 
Expenditure Reserve 

(337) 0 (337) (174) 0 (174) 

Other transfers between reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Movements on other reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 

Revaluation Reserve at 31 March 
2011 12,869 0 12,869 13,206 0 13,206 
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30 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
    31 March 

2011 
31 March 

2010 
£000 £000 

 
Balance at 1 April 2010 

 
11,745 5,344 

Net change in year 5,550 6,401 

 
Balance at 31 March 2011 

 
17,295 11,745 

 Consists of: 
 Cash with Government Banking Service 5,976 6,618 

Commercial banks and cash in hand 11,319 5,127 

 

Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of 
Financial Position 

 
17,295 11,745 
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31 Pooled Budgets 
   

31.1 Oxfordshire County Council Pooled Budgets 
  

Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust has a pooled budget arrangement with Oxfordshire 
County Council. Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust is the host. 

 

Oxfordshire Adults of Working Age and Older Adults Pooled Budget 
Performance 

  
Plan Actual 

Overspend/ 
(Underspend) 

  
£000 £000 £000 

Oxford Health NHS FT 25,550 25,550 0 

OCC 2,693 2,693 0 

 
Total Delegated Budget 28,243 28,243 0 

OCC contribution to Trust overheads 111 111 0 

 
Total Pooled Budget 28,354 28,354 0 

 
Analysis of Income and Expenditure within the Pooled Budget 

  
Total 

Trust 
Contribution 

OCC 
Contribution 

  
£000 £000 £000 

Pay Expenditure 25,846 23,196 2,650 

Non-Pay Expenditure 2,681 2,625 56 

Income (284) (271) (13) 

Contribution to Overheads 111 111 

  
28,354 25,550 2,804 
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31.2 Buckinghamshire County Council Pooled Budgets 
 Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust has two pooled budget arrangements with 

Buckinghamshire County Council. Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust is the host. 

 
Buckinghamshire Adults of Working Age Pooled Budget Performance 

 
Plan Actual 

Overspend/ 
(Underspend) 

 
£000 £000 £000 

Oxford Health NHS FT 6,878 6,878 0 

BCC 2,606 2,606 0 

Total Delegated Budget 9,484 9,484 0 

BCC contribution to Trust overheads 101 101 0 

Total Pooled Budget 9,585 9,585 0 

Analysis of Income and Expenditure within the Pooled Budget 

 
Total 

Trust 
Contribution 

BCC 
Contribution 

 
£000 £000 £000 

Pay Expenditure 8,297 6,120 2,177 

Non-Pay Expenditure 1,255 808 447 

Income (68) (50) (18) 

Contribution to Overheads 101 0 101 

 
9,585 6,878 2,707 

Buckinghamshire Older Adults Pooled Budget Performance 

 
Plan Actual 

Overspend/ 
(Underspend) 

 
£000 £000 £000 

Oxford Health NHS FT 1,955 1,955 0 

BCC 1,092 1,092 0 

Total Delegated Budget 3,047 3,047 0 

BCC contribution to Trust overheads 42 42 0 

Total Pooled Budget 3,089 3,089 0 

Analysis of Income and Expenditure within the Pooled Budget 

 
Total 

Trust 
Contribution 

BCC 
Contribution 

 
£000 £000 £000 

Pay Expenditure 2,852 1,885 967 

Non-Pay Expenditure 208 74 134 

Income (13) (4) (9) 

Contribution to Overheads 42 0 42 

 
3,089 1,955 1,134 
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32.1 PFI schemes off-'Statement of Financial Position' 
     The Trust has no PFI schemes off-'Statement of Financial 

Position' 

32.2 PFI schemes on-'Statement of Financial Position' 
     

Description of the scheme 

The scheme provides a centre in Oxford for the secure care of 30 clients with mental health problems and 10 
clients with learning disabilities. Many of the clients are offenders who have been referred for treatment through 
the Courts. The scheme also provides a new staff accommodation block. 

Community Health Facilities (Oxford) Limited have designed, built, financed, maintained and operated the new 
facility. They are a special purpose company established through three main sponsors: 

The Miller Group Limited 

Interserve (Facilities Management) Ltd (formerly Building and Property Group Limited) 

British Linen Investments Limited 

Contract Start Date: 09 June 1999 

Contract End Date: 
05 September 
2049* 

* Contract break possible after 25 years, at 05 September 2024. In 2024, the Trust has legal ownership of the 
asset.  

The inflation of the PFI scheme is linked directly to RPI 

The contract involved the lease of Trust land to the operator for nil consideration. The substance of this 
transaction was that it would result in lower annual payments over the life of the contract, i.e. an implicit 
reduction in the unitary charge since the operator has not had to lease the land on the open market. 
Consequently the value of the land (£700K at 2010/11 value) is recorded within the Trust's total land value. 

Total obligations for on-'Statement of Financial Position' PFI contracts due**: 

31 March 
2011 31 March 2010 
£000 £000 

Not later than one year 757 734 

Later than one year, not later than five years 3,029 2,892 

Later than five years 8,237 8,718 

Subtotal 12,023 12,344 

 Less: interest element (7,131) (7,394) 

Total 4,892 4,950 
** This is the value of the capital liability and future interest 
liability. 

32.3 Charges to Expenditure 
      

The total charged in the year to expenditure in respect of the service element of on-'Statement of Financial 
Position' PFI contracts was £450k (prior year £430k)***. 

The Trust is committed to the following 
charges: 

31 March 
2011 31 March 2010 
£000 £000 
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PFI scheme expiry date: 
 Not later than one year 466 430 

Later than one year, not later than five years 1,984 1,887 

Later than five years 5,250 5,588 

Total 7,700 7,905 
***These are the values charged to operating expenses in respect of the service element of the 
contract.  
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33 
Contractual Capital 
Commitments 

     

Commitments under capital expenditure contracts at 31 March 2011 were £444k (31 March 2010 
£655k) 

The capital commitments include: 

Amount 

Time Scale 
(Completed 

by) 

£000 
 Scheme: 

Manor House 139 2011 

IT Infrastructure 148 2011 

34 
Events After the Reporting 
Period 

     

On the 29th March 2010 the Trust was notified it had been successful in its application to NHS 
Oxfordshire to become the preferred partner for the future provision of community health services in 
Oxfordshire.  These services were previously provided by an arm’s length body, Community Health 
Oxfordshire (CHO), within the overall legal entity of NHS Oxfordshire.  The value of these services is 
c. £93 million per annum.  On 31st March 2011, the Trust and NHS Oxfordshire entered into a legal 
contract for the Trust to provide these services for a period of three years from 1st April 2011.  This 
transaction has been approved by the Trust’s Board of Directors, the Board of NHS Oxfordshire, the 
Strategic Health Authority, the Department of Health Competition and Co-operation Panel and 
reviewed by Monitor (the independent regulator for Foundation Trusts).   

35 
Contingent Assets and 
Liabilities 

     

35.1 
Contingent 
Liabilities 

      2010/11 2009/10 
£000 £000 

Equal Pay cases 0 0 

Other 0 0 

0 0 

35.2 Contingent Assets 
      2010/11 2009/10 

£000 £000 
Contingent Assets 0 0 

0 0 
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36 Related Party Transactions 
        

Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust is a body corporately established by order of the Secretary of State for Health. 

During the year none of the Board Members or members of the key management staff or parties related to them has 
undertaken any material transactions with Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust 

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year, Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust has 
had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for which the 
Department is regarded as the parent Department. These entities are listed below: 

Income to the 
Trust 

Expenditure by the 
Trust 

2010/11 2009/10 2010/11 2009/10 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Related parties:        
Oxfordshire PCT 58,197 

 
56,465 

 
378 

 
1,635 

Buckinghamshire PCT 35,562 
 

32,567 
 

49 
 

566 

Hampshire PCT 24,708 
 

20,560 
 

112 
 

0 

South Central SHA 9,383 
 

8,759 
 

68 
 

10 

Wiltshire PCT 4,822  114  428  
0 

Bath & North East Somerset PCT 2,287  17  101  
0 

Oxford Radcliffe Hospital NHS Trust 2,269 
 

1,909 
 

1,484 
 

1,587 

Buckinghamshire Hospitals NHS Trust 1,871 
 

853 
 

1,245 
 

1,063 

Milton Keynes PCT 1,380 
 

1,273 
 

29 
 

9 

Cwm Taf Health Board 1,153 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 

Department of Health 1,058 
 

860 
 

0 
 

0 

The University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust 982 
 

853 
 

0 
 

0 
Heatherwood & Wexham Park Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust 

927 
 

894 
 

0 
 

0 

Oxford Learning Disabilities Trust 725 
 

686 
 

895 
 

295 

Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust 713 
 

543 
 

0 
 

0 

Gloucestershire PCT 662 
 

358 
 

0 
 

0 

Northampton General Hospital NHS Trust 651 
 

548 
 

0 
 

0 

Northamptonshire Teaching  PCT 627 
 

842 
 

0 
 

0 

Swindon PCT 608 
 

29 
 

1 
 

0 

Milton Keynes Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 570 
 

375 
 

205 
 

213 

South East Essex PCT 438 
 

545 
 

0 
 

0 

Bristol PCT 314 
 

614 
 

0 
 

0 

Great Western Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 200 
 

187 
 

835 
 

9 

South Central Ambulance Service NHS Trust 8 
 

22 
 

912 
 

882 

Swindon & Marlborough NHS Trust 0 
 

0 
 

776 
 

9 

South London & Maudsley NHS Trust 0 
 

0 
 

624 
 

3 

NHS Professionals 0 
 

0 
 

1,944 
 

3,542 

NHS Prescription Pricing Authority 0 
 

0 
 

1,280 
 

979 

Frimley Park Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 0 
 

0 
 

721 
 

739 

Other Health Bodies 10,937 
 

13,705 
 

12,981 
 

11,960 
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The Trust has also received revenue and capital payments from a number of charitable funds, the Trustees for which 
are also members of the Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust Board.  

The Trust manages the Oxfordshire Pharmacy Store, a shortline pharmaceutical supplier to other NHS organisations. 
The turnover for the year 2010/11 was £14,879k (£14,517K in 2009/10). 

Elaine Whittaker, who was a Non Executive Director of the Trust up to the 31st December 2010, is a shareholder of 
Smith's Medical (small number of shares) with which the Trust may have business. Elaine was also employed by the 
Picker Institute for part of the year, which is a not-for-profit organisation that makes patients' views count in 
healthcare. 

Cedric Scroggs, who is a Non Executive Director of the Trust, is a shareholder of sundry pharmaceutical companies 
with which the Trust may have business. 

Roger Reed, who is a Non Executive Director of the Trust, is a Buckinghamshire County Councillor. 
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37 Public Dividend Capital 
  

The Trust is required to deliver a public dividend capital dividend at a rate of 3.5% of average 
relevant net assets (the average of the opening and closing 2010/11 balance sheet positions). 
For Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust in 2010/11 this rate is calculated as follows: 

  £000 

Opening Relevant Net Assets 99,281 

Closing Relevant Net Assets 104,480 

Average Relevant Net Assets 101,881 

2010/11 PDC dividend 3,566 

Rate of Dividend (%) 3.50% 

38 Performance Against the Prudential Borrowing Limit 
 

The NHS Foundation Trust is required to comply and remain within a Prudential Borrowing 
Limit. This is made up of 2 elements :   

(1) The maximum cumulative amount of long term borrowing. This is set by reference to the 4 
ratio tests set out in Monitors PBC. The financial risk rating set under Monitor's Compliance 
Framework determines one of the ratios and therefore can impact on the long term borrowing 
limit. 

(2) The amount of any working capital facility approved by Monitor 

Further information on the Prudential Borrowing Code and the Compliance Framework for 
NHS Foundation Trust’s can be found on the website of (or on request from) Monitor, the 
independent regulator of foundation trusts. 

The Trust had a Prudential Borrowing Limit of £40.7m in 2010/11, against which the Trust had 
total long term borrowing commitments of £21.4m. 

Performance against the Prudential Borrowing Limit (PBL) ratios is shown below: 

Financial Ratios 2010/11 

Actual Ratios 
based on 

2010/11 financial 
performance and 

standing 

Approved PBL limits (to be 
read as the Trust must not 
exceed     ‘<’ or go below ‘ >’ 

the stated value) 

Minimum dividend cover 3.2 >1 

Minimum interest cover 9.8 >3 

Minimum debt service cover 6.4 >2 

Maximum debt service to revenue 1.1% <2.5% 

Note that the Trust Prudential Borrowing Code compliance is monitored by Monitor based 
upon the Trust's annual plan and quarterly monitoring submissions.  These submissions 
include pooled budget (Section 75) income and expenditure and as a result the ratios quoted 
here are based on different I&E figures to the Trust's annual accounts, which exclude Section 
75 balances. 

The Trust had Monitor approval for a Working Capital Facility of £15.0m as at 31st March 
2011, and a Working Capital Facility in place for £14.0m. 
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39 Financial Instruments 
    39.1 Financial Assets 
    

  

At fair value 
through 

Income and 
Expenditure 

Loans and 
Receivables 

Available 
for sale Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Embedded derivatives 0 0 0 0 

Receivables 0 5,014 0 5,014 

Cash at bank and in hand 0 17,295 0 17,295 

Other financial assets 0 0 6,400 6,400 

 
Total at 31 March 2011 0 22,309 6,400 28,709 

Embedded derivatives 0 0 0 0 

Receivables 0 6,147 0 6,147 

Cash at bank and in hand 0 11,745 0 11,745 

Other financial assets 0 0 6,400 6,400 

 
Total at 31 March 2010 0 17,892 6,400 24,292 

The majority of receivables relate to agreed debt owing from other NHS bodies. Non NHS 
receivables have been impaired in accordance with Trust policy.  

39.2 Financial Liabilities 
    
At fair value 

through 
Income and 
Expenditure Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 

Embedded derivatives 0 0 0 

Payables 0               9,684         9,684  
PFI and finance lease 
obligations 0               4,892         4,892  

Other borrowings 0               8,916         8,916  

Provisions 0 0  0  

Other financial liabilities 0               1,366         1,366  

 
Total at 31 March 2011 0             24,858       24,858  

 

      Embedded derivatives 0 0 0 

Payables 0             10,371       10,371  
PFI and finance lease 
obligations 0               4,950         4,950  

Other borrowings 0               9,475         9,475  

Provisions 0 0  0  

Other financial liabilities 0               1,197         1,197  

 
Total at 31 March 2010 0             25,993       25,993  

 All financial assets and liabilities are held at fair value. 

39.3 Financial Risk Management 
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Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have 
had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. 
Because of the continuing service provider relationship that the NHS Trust has with primary care 
trusts and the way those primary care trusts are financed, the NHS Trust is not exposed to the 
degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial instruments play a much more 
limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the 
financial reporting standards mainly apply.  

The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within 
parameters defined formally within the Trust’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by 
the Board of Directors. Trust treasury activity is subject to review by the Trust’s internal auditors. 

Currency risk 

The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and 
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based.  The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust 
therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations. 

Interest rate risk 

The Trust borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by 
the Prudential Borrowing Code and Regulator review. The borrowings are for 1 – 25 years, in line 
with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed 
for the life of the loan. The Trust therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

Credit risk 

Because the majority of the Trust’s income comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the 
Trust has low exposure to credit risk.   

Liquidity risk 
The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with Primary Care Trusts, which are 
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital expenditure from 
funds obtained within its prudential borrowing limit. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant 
liquidity risks. 

To mitigate short term liquidity risk the Trust also has a Working Capital Facility of £14.0m which was 
not utilised throughout 2010/11. 
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40 Third Party Assets 
    

The Trust held £314,193.89 cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 2011 (£327,767.94 at 31 March 2010) which 
relates to monies held by the NHS Foundation Trust on behalf of patients.  This has been excluded from cash at 
bank and in hand figure reported in the accounts. 

41 Intra-Government and Other Balances 

    

  

Receivables: 
amounts 
falling due 
within one 

year 

Receivables: 
amounts 
falling due 
after more 
than one 
year 

Payables: 
amounts 
falling 
due 
within 
one year 

Payables: 
amounts 
falling 

due after 
more 

than one 
year 

  

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Balances with other Central Government Bodies 405 0 2,356 0 

Balances with Local Authorities 326 0 970 0 

Balances with NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 4,016 0 1,661 0 
Balances with Public Corporations and Trading 
Funds 0 0 0 0 

Balances with bodies external to government 2,318 30 8,447 97 

 
Total at 31 March 2011 7,065 30 13,434 97 

      Balances with other Central Government Bodies 1,193 0 2,393 0 

Balances with Local Authorities 289 0 273 0 

Balances with NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 4,872 0 1,720 0 
Balances with Public Corporations and Trading 
Funds 0 0 636 0 

Balances with bodies external to government 1,532 30 8,696 100 

 
Total at 31 March 2010 7,886 30 13,718 100 

42 Losses and Special Payments 

    

There were 23 cases of losses and special payments totalling £46k paid during 2010/11 (2009/10: 35 
payments totalling £38k). 

These amounts are reported on an accruals basis , excluding provisions for future losses.  
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